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CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited has provided a range of insurance services for over 50 years. The company’s
origins trace back to 1976 when Norwich Union Fire Insurance Society and The Legal and General Insurance Company
merged to form Heritage Insurance. Heritage Insurance Kenya holds 60% of the shares in Heritage Insurance Tanzania.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Kenya Holdings Plc which is listed at the Nairobi Securities Exchange.

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited is proud to be associated with Liberty Life Assurance Kenya Limited; also a
wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Kenya Holdings Plc. Liberty Kenya Holdings Plc’s parent is South African based Liberty
Holdings Limited, which is part of Standard Bank Group Limited.

Our Mission

To be the trusted provider of customer experiences through own and partner solutions to enable the financial freedom of our
customers and employees.

Our Purpose
Improving people’s lives by making their financial freedom possible.

Our Company Values

Involvement: Our humanity and empathy.

Innovation: Our ingenuity and curiosity to do things better

Integrity: Our fairness and honouring our word

Insight: Our knowledge and understanding

Action: We roll up our sleeves and always find a way to make things happen

Directors

First

appointed
Peter Gethi - Chairman 2009
Godfrey Kioi - Managing Director 2014
Michael du Toit - Non-Executive* 2009
Stuart Wenman - Non-Executive* (Resigned 31 August 2022) 2009
Rachel Mbai - Non-Executive (Resigned 31 December 2022) 2017
Catherine Mitchem - Non-Executive 2017
Rajesh Shah - Non-Executive (Resigned 31 December 2022) 2018
Andrew Lonmon-Davis - Non-Executive* 2019
*South African
Secretary

Doreen Onwong'a
Qwasha Corporate Services

5th Floor, The Pavilion Westland
Lower Kabete Road
P.O. Box 27547 - 00100 Nairobi

Independent auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Certified public accountants
PwC Tower

Waiyaki way, Westlands
P.0O. Box 48963 - 00100 Nairobi




The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Registered office and principal place of business
Liberty House

P.O. Box 30390 - 00100

Mamlaka Road

Nairobi

Bankers

Stanbic Bank Kenya Limited
Stanbic Centre, Chiromo Road
P.O. Box 72833 - 00200
Nairobi

Actuaries
Kenbright Actuarial & Financial Services
Ack Garden House

1st Ngong Avenue
Nairobi, Kenya.

Tax consultants

Ernst & Young LLP
Kenya Re Towers Off
Ragati Road

P.O. Box 44286 - 00100
Nairobi, Kenya

Lawyers

Wamae and Allen Advocates
3rd floor

Top plaza

P.O. Box 4132-00200
Nairobi, Kenya

Walker Kontos Advocates
Hakika House, Bishops Road
P.O. Box 60680-00200
Nairobi, Kenya
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Statement on Corporate Governance

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited is committed to a transparent governance process that provides stakeholders
with a high degree of confidence that the company is being managed ethically, within prudent risk parameters and in
compliance with international best practice. The Board of Directors considers sound corporate governance as pivotal to
delivering responsible and sustainable growth in the interests of all stakeholders.

At The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited we believe that good corporate governance is integral to the structures and
processes that the Board has put in place to inform, advise, manage and supervise the activities of the company towards the
achievement of its strategic objectives. The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited constantly monitors developments
and trends in corporate governance. We are subject to various jurisdictional requirements, and therefore we conduct our
operations in accordance with nationally accepted principles of good corporate governance and best practices, ensuring
compliance with the highest of each of those standards. The Board prescribes fo the Commonwealth Association of Corporate
Governance principles and has adopted the 15 recommended guidelines and associated best practice codes.

The Directors exercise stewardship of the Company’s total portfolio of assets and resources with the objective of maintaining
and increasing shareholder value and satisfying other stakeholders in the context of its corporate mission. They are concerned
with creating a balance between economic and social goals and between individual and communal goals while encouraging the
efficient use of resources, accountability in the use of power and stewardship and, as far as possible, the alignment of interests
of individuals, corporations and society as a whole.

The following section of the report includes descriptions of our company’s corporate governance structures and procedures,
along with an explanation of the work of the various Boards and how they have applied the principles of leadership,
effectiveness, accountability and relations with shareholders.

1. Board of Directors

The Board of Directors consists of one executive and six non-executive Directors who have been chosen for their business
acumen and wide range of skills and experience. The Board has an appropriate mix of proficient Directors, approved by the
Insurance Regulatory Authority, who are able to add value through independent judgement in the decision-making process.

2. Board responsibilities

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the management, general affairs, direction, performance and long-term success of the
business as a whole. The responsibility of the Directors is collective, taking into account their combined roles as executives and
non-executives.

The Board has delegated the operational running of the Company to the Managing Director who, although is responsible to the
Board, is able to sub-delegate some of his powers at his discretion.

Matters reserved for the Board include structural and constitutional issues, corporate governance, approval of dividends,
approval of overall strategy for the Company and approva! of significant transactions or arrangements in relation to mergers,
acquisitions, joint ventures and disposals, capital expenditure, contracts and financing.

The Board has also established Board Committees whose actions are regularly reported to and monitored by the Board.

3. Board meetings and attendance

The Board meets at least four times during the year to review the financial performance and operations of the company. Other
Board meetings are held periodically to discuss topical matters and strategic issues. The Chairman presides over all meetings.

The following table reflects the atiendance of Directors at five Board meetings held in the year 2022. A director, if unable to
attend a Board meeting, has the opportunity beforehand to discuss any agenda item with the Chairman. Attendance is
expressed as the number of meetings attended out of the number eligible to attend.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

3. Board meetings and attendance (Continued)

Director Directorship status Attendance at meetings
Peter Gethi (Chairman) Non - Executive Director 5/5
Godfrey Kioi (Managing Director) Executive Director 5/5
Michael du Tott Non - Executive Director 5/5
Stuart Wenman (Resigned 31 August 2022) Non - Executive Director 3/3
Catherine Mitchem Non - Executive Director 5/5
Rachel Mbai (Resigned 31 December 2022) Non - Executive Director 5/5
Rajesh Shah (Resigned 31 December 2022) Non - Executive Director 5/5
Andrew Lonmon-Davis Non - Executive Director 5/5

4. Appointment of directors

Upon consideration and recommendation for a candidate to be nominated as an independent Director, suitable candidates are
appointed by the Board to fill the casual vacancies.

They are thereafter elected as directors by the shareholders at an Annual General Meeting. The Directors, unless they are
retiring, submit themselves for re-election after every three years of their tenure, and shareholders vote to re-appoint them by a
simple majority vote.

5. Board evaluation

The Board remains focused on the need for continued improvements in its effectiveness and corporate governance
performance and annually conducts a Board self-assessment evaluation along the lines of structure, process and
effectiveness.

6. Board Induction, training and support

All newly appointed Directors are taken through a comprehensive induction programme organised by the Company Secretary
immediately upon appointment. The Board undertakes an annual Board enhancement seminar, with sessions covering
corporate governance principles, best practices and updates on legislation in relation to the duties of directors amongst others.

Any specific training needs or areas of Board improvement identified from the Board's self-evaluation process are also
addressed regularly.

7. Remuneration

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited has a clear policy on remuneration of Executive and Non-Executive directors
at levels that are fair and reasonable in a competitive market for the skill, knowledge, experience, nature and size of the Board

8. Conflict of interests

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited attaches special importance to avoiding conflict of interest between the
company and its Directors. The Board is responsible for ensuring that there are rules in place to avoid conflicts of interest by
Board members and a Register of Interest/ Conflicts is maintained by the Company Secretary. Declarations of such interests or
conflicts are a standing agenda item at each board meeting. Confiict of interest is understood not to include transactions and
other activities between companies in the Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited and Liberty as a group.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

8. Conflict of interests (Continued)

Authorisation of situational conflicts is given by the Board to the relevant Director. The authorisation includes conditions relating
to keeping The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited information confidential and to their exclusion from receiving and
discussing relevant information at Board meetings.

A Director may not vote on, or be counted in a quorum in relation to, any resolution of the Board in respect of any contract in
which he or she has a material interest. The procedures that Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited has put in place to
deal with conflicts of interest continue to operate effectively.

9. Role of the Chairman vs the Managing Director

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director are clearly defined and are not vested in the same person. The day-to-
day executive management of the Company is delegated to the Managing Director whereas the running of the Board is the
responsibility of the Chairman, The Managing Director directs the implementation of the Board decisions and instructions on
the general management of the Company with the assistance of the Executive Management.

The roles of the Board and those of the Executive Management are separate and except for the office of the Managing Director
who acts both as a director and as a member of the Executive Management, the offices are not vested in the same persons.
The Board Is responsible for the fong-term strategic direction and profitable growth of the Company, while the Executive
Management is responsible for the operational day to day running of the Company

10. Business ethics

The Board subscribes to the highest levels of professionalism and integrity in conducting The Heritage Insurance Company
Kenya Limited business and in dealing with stakeholders. All The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited employees and
representatives are expected to act in a manner that inspires trust and confidence from the general public.

All employees within the Company are required to sign the Company’s Code of Conduct. The Code sets out the Company’s
commitment to ethical behavior in the conduct of its business. Appropriate codes of conduct are driven by governance practice
(code of ethics, corporate citizenship code etc.), statutory and regulatory requirements, service objectives (service level
agreements, business protocols, business excellence models) and the corporate governance framework itself.

Management are required to ensure there is compliance with the code.

11. Strategic drive

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited Year 2022 - 2025 strategy refresh was developed by Staff and Management
in liaison with the Board and was approved in Year 2021.

The Company’s strategic objectives are reviewed annually and built into the budgeting process for the respective years. At
each quarterly Board meeting, the Board is briefed by Management of the progress made to achieve the various checkpoints
as detailed in the strategic plan.

The implementation of agreed deliverables started in 2022.

12. Board Committees

The Board has established three Board Committees, the Audit and Risk Committee, the Investment Committee and the Joint
Information communication Technology (JICT) committee and are formally set up by Board resolutions with defined mandates.
The Audit and Risk Committee has established a Joint Actuarial Committee as approved by Board resolution and with a
defined mandate.

These Committees are comprised of a balanced mix of non-executive directors, Executive management and Group
consultants, with experts and service providers invited to meetings on occasions to provide specific expertise. All Committees
are provided with sufficient resources to undertake their duties.

a) Audit and Risk Committee
The Committee is comprised of an independent non-executive Chairman and four non-executive Directors. It has an approved

mandate and is responsible for the monitoring of risk management, compliance and internal controls as established by the
Board and executed by the management of the Company.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

12. Board Committees (Continued)

It regularly reviews the internal systems controls and effectiveness of financial and operational reporting through the
establishment of an internal audit function. It ensures the function is independent, adequately resourced and proficient in its
duties. The committee also acts as a liaison with the external auditors approving their scope of work, recommending their
remuneration and reviewing their reports

The Audit and Risk Committee reports to the Board on a quarterly basis and constantly evaluates the ability of the Company to
continue as a going concern. The Managing Director, General Manager in charge of Finance and Administration, General
Manager in charge of Risk and Compliance and the Head of Internal Audit regularly attend the Committee meetings to respond
to issues raised by Committee members, The Company Secretary attends the Committee meetings and acts as Secretary to
the Committee.

The attendance of Committee members at the five meetings held in the year 2022 was as follows:

Name - Directorship status Attendance at meetings
Rajesh Shah (Resigned 31 December 2022) Non - Executive Director 5/5
Michael du Toit Non - Executive Director 5/5 o
| Stuart Wenman (Resigned 31 August 2022) Non - Executive Director 3/3
|Rachel Mbai (Resigned 31 December 2022) 'Non - Executive Director 5/5
Andrew Lonmon-Davis Non - Executive Director 15/5

b) Joint Actuarial Committee

This is a joint sub-committee of the ARCs. Its mandate is to consider the technical actuarial matters and reports that inform the
decisions of the ARCs and the boards.

Name . Directorship status Attendance at meetings
Andrew Lonmon-Davis (Chairman) Non-Executive Director _|5/5
| Stuart Wenman (Resigned 31 August 2022) Non-Executive Director 3/3
Godfrey Kioi Managing Director - Heritage|5/5
| Insurance
Abel Munda Managing Director - Liberty Life|5/5
Assurance

12. Board committees (Continued)
c) Investment committee

The primary function of the Investment Committee is to monitor performance of the Company’s investment portfolio and to
ensure that the appointed investment managers comply with the set benchmarks and performance standards. This Committee
consists of four non-executive Directors and the Managing Director.

The Committee determines the overall investment strategy for the Company and monitors the performance of the fund
managers in achieving the strategy. The company secretary attends the Committee meetings and acts as Secretary to the
Committee.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

12. Board committees (Continued)

The members of the Committee, and their attendance at the four meetings held in the year 2022 was as follows:

‘Name Directorship status _|Attendance at meetings

‘__Michael du Toit (Chairman) Non-Executive Director 4/4

Godfrey Kioi Executive Director 4/4

Stuart Wenman (Resigned 31 August 2022) | Non - Executive Director 212

Catherine Mitchem . Non - Executive Director 4/4 ]
Andrew Lonmon - Davis Non - Executive Director 4/4 —

d) Joint Information Technology Committee

The Joint Information Technology Committee (JITC) is constituted as a committee of The Heritage Insurance Kenya Limited
(HIK) and Liberty Life Assurance Kenya Limited (LLK) boards. Both Companies are wholly owned subsidiaries of Liberty Kenya
Holdings Plc listed on the Nairobi Securities Exchange (NSE). The commitiee was constituted to evaluate LLK and HIK’s
effectiveness, efficiency, and acceptable use of Information and Communications Technology (ICT) while serving the needs of
the business, approve policies and plans, monitor adherence to policies and performance against plans.

The members of the Committee, and their attendance at the four mestings held in the year 2022 was as follows:

Name Directorship status Attendance at meetings

Catherine Mitchem (Chairman) B Non-Executive Director |44

'Rajesh Shah (Resigned 31 December 2022) Non-Executive Director 4/4 B

l_Godfrey Kioi Executive Director N 4/4

:Abel Munda Executive Director 4/4 1

13. Management and operational committee

Five Management and Operations Committees have been constituted to facilitate effective implementation of the Strategic
Plan, efficient company operations and compliance with regulatory requirements. They include,

a) The Executive Committee (ExCo)

The mandate of ExCo is to oversee strategic and operational matters of the Company, as well as all its relations with the
Liberty Group. The objective of this committee is to enhance coordination and communication across the business units and
carry out reviews of company performance and implementation of the Strategic Plan. This committee meets weekly

The members of ExCo are;

+ Managing Director

* Director — Operations

» General Manager — Finance and Administration
* General Manager — Risk and Compliance

« General Manager — Marketing and Communications
* General Manager — Human Resources

» General Manager — Health

« Chief Information Officer

* Head of Retail Business

+ Head of Corporate Business

» Head of Actuarial services
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

13. Management and operational committee (Continued)
b) The Credit Oversight Committee

The mandate of the Credit Oversight Committee is to ensure full implementation of the Credit Policy, as well as providing policy
guidance and oversight in credit management. It is chaired by the General Manager — Finance and Administration and is
constituted by members whose functions have the greatest impact on debt management and credit control.

Its key objectives are:

+» To ensure compliance with the credit management policy.

» To ensure that all money owed to the company is promptly collected in accordance with credit terms.

* To take appropriate measures in dealing with defaulters.

» To recommend to the Board, through the Managing Director and Audit and Risk Committee, amounts to provide for
doubtful debts and write off of uncollectible debts.

The Credit Oversight Committee holds weekly meetings for continuous monitoring of the company’s debt level. The members
of the Credit Management Committee are;

» General Manager - Finance - Chairman

» Director - Operations - Alternate Chair
* Business Manager - Secretary

» Managing Director - Member

» Manager - Credit Control - Member

» General Manager - Health - Member
» Head of Corporate Business - Member
» Manager - Credit Control - Manager
» Head of Retail Business - Member

¢) The Human Resource Committee

The objectives of this committee are as follows
» To design and review the organisational structure in response to business needs, skills and skill development, staff
appointments, promotions and succession planning.
* To develop policies on terms and conditions of service, performance management and staff remuneration in line with best
market practice.
» To ensure compliance with legislation regarding human capital management.
» To develop and review the code of ethics and evaluate cases of unethical behaviour.

The members of this committee are the Managing Director (Chair), General Manager — Finance and Administration, General
Manager — Health, and the General Manager — Human Resources. The committee meets bi-monthly or as deemed necessary

d) The Operations Committee (OpCo)

The company has implemented an enterprise risk management framework, and upholds internal controls designed to enhance
compliance, integrity and reliability of financial data. This framework is also supported by policies, procedures and segregation
of duties, which ensure accountability and the safeguarding of company assets. The effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control environment is monitored regularly through the internal audit function and the annual review by external
auditors,

As part of risk governance, internal control and compliance oversight, the company has established an Operations Committee
(OpCo). The objective of this committee is to monitor key risk indicators, and to set the tone in management of operational,
market, insurance and compliance risks. This committee holds monthly meetings.

The members of the OpCo are:

*Managing Director - Chairman
*Director -Operations - Member
*General Manager - Finance - Member
*General Manager - Health - Member
*Head of Corporate Business - Member
*Head of Retail Business - Member
*General Manager — Risk and Compliance - Member
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13. Management and operational committee (Continued)
e) The Customer Fairness Committee (CFC)

Treating Customers Fairly (TCF) is the legislative and regulatory embodiment of a fair and more transparent consumer
environment and promotes efficient and equitable financial services. The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited seeks to
differentiate itself in the market by providing products that customers perceive to have value. It is our responsibility to balance
shareholder value and customer fairness in the creation of customer value. By adopting a customer centric approach, we seek
to internalise TCF as part of our culture. By using the TCF outcomes to inform our customer service principles, we have
embedded TCF across the organisation, elevating it beyond regulatory compliance.

The value created for customers includes the objective advice of agents and brokers, risk solutions that provide peace of mind
for families and protection to our businesses.

The Customer Fairness Committee is also responsible for ensuring adherence to Anti-Money Laundering/Combating Terrorism
Financing (AML/CFT) & Sanctions controls within the Company.

In accordance with The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited's AML/CFT & Sanctions Business Operating Standards,
the CFC has the responsibility of ensuring adherence to AML / CFT & Sanctions controls within the Company. in order to
discharge this responsibility, the CFC must determine its appetite for establishing or continuing a business relationship with all
parties that it engages with. This includes client, employees and vendors

As part of the decision-making process, members of the CFC must consider both Financial Crime and Reputational Risks
which can be introduced by a relationship with such parties and/or a transaction(s) carried out by them. The CFC also has the
responsibility to ensure that potential reputational risks are considered within the Company’s financial crime risk appetite.

The members of the Customer Fairness Committee are:

+ Managing Director - Chairman
+ Director - Operations - Convener
» General Manager - Finance - Member
» General Manager - Health - Member
» Head of Corporate Business - Member
» Head of Retail Business - Member
» Manager Customer Experience - Member
» Claims Manager -Legal - Secretary
» General Manager - Risk and Compliance - Member

* General Manager - Marketing and Communications - Member
f) The Claims Committee

The Claims Committee is constituted as a management committee and is responsible to the Executive Committee. The Claims
Committee is responsible for the application of governance with specific emphasis to;

- Conforming to existing group and Liberty Holdings Limited standards and procedures as is practically possible.

» Formal committee processes and procedures.

- Appropriate setting of mandates and accountabilities where required.

The committee meets on a quarterly basis and its responsibilities include;
« Review of both large Initial Opening Claim reserve and large reserves revisions in the month.
» Review and approval of ex-gratia claims above the stipulated limit.
*» Review of Quality Assurance reports.
* Review of Legal Claims Reports.

The chairperson of the Claims Committee reports to the Executive Committee on the activities of the committee. The
chairperson also ensures that the committee always remains compliant with any regulations and policies

The members of the Claims Committee are:

« Managing Director - Chairman
» General Manager - Finance - Member
* Director - Operations - Member
» General Manager - Health - Member
* Claims Manager - Legal - Secretary
» General Manager - Risk and Compliance - Member

10
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

14. Internal control and risk management

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited is committed to increasing shareholder value through the prudent
management of risks inherent in the production, distribution and maintenance of products and services. The Heritage
Insurance Company Kenya Limited is mindful of achieving this objective in the interests of all stakeholders.

The company continues to explore opportunities to develop and grow its business sustainably, with strategic plans being
subject to careful consideration of the trade-off between risk and reward, taking into account the risk appetite limits.

Ultimate responsibility for risk management resides with the Board which ensures that the Business executive is responsible
and is held accountable for risk management. The Business executive is supported by risk specialists who instill risk
management best practice among all staff.

The Company’s governance structures and processes are aligned with enterprise-wide value and risk management principles.
in particular these structures and processes provide clarity of accountability for the management of risk.

Governance and the 'three lines of defence' model

The Company has adopted the ‘three lines of defense’ model for managing risk. This model defines the roles, responsibilities
and accountabilities for managing, reporting and escalating risks and issues.

The model incorporates the oversight, management and assurance of risk management, essentially giving three independent
views of risk in the organisation. The implementation of this model helps ensure that risk management is embedded in the
culture of the organisation and provides assurance to the Board and senior management that risk management is effective.

Within this structure the Company relies on the Board, its standing committees and the company executive committee to
provide oversight of the operation of the Company’s enterprise-wide value and risk management.

Roles and responsibilities within the governance model

The roles, responsibilities and accountabilities for managing, reporting and escalating risks and issues have been defined as
follows:

a) Oversight

The Board of directors and sub-committees of the Board provide an oversight function of the company’s risk management
activities. Their accountabilities, membership and related information are described in the following commentary.

b) Management committees

The Managing Director utilises the company executive committee and key management committees to manage the
components of risk

c) First line of defence - business unit management

Business unit management is accountable for:

- Managing day-to-day risk exposures by applying appropriate procedures, internal controls and company policies;

- The effectiveness of risk management and risk outcomes, and for allocating resources to execute risk management activities;
- Tracking risk events and losses, identifying issues and implementing remedial actions to address these issues; and

- Reporting and escalating material risks and issues to the relevant governance bodies as deemed appropriate.

d) Second line of defence - Head of risk and compliance, statutory actuaries, policy and oversight functions

The individuals responsible for these positions are primarily responsible for verification and identification of key risks and
provide the day-to-day interface between the Boards’s sub-committees and management. Their objective is to assist in the

effective management of the risks identified within the Company. Various assurances are also provided by these functions and
reported to the Board, regulators and other authorised stakeholder representatives.

11
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued)

14. Internal control and risk management (Continued)
e) Third line of defence - assurance

This comprises the company’s assurance functions that are intended to provide an independent and balanced view of all
aspects of risk management (both first and second line of defence) across the company to the various governance bodies
within the organisation

The company’s key risk management objectives are to:
- Grow shareholder value by generating a long-term sustainable return on capital;
- Ensure the protection of policyholder and investor interests by maintaining adequate solvency levels;
- Meet the statutory requirements regulated and monitored by the Insurance Regulatory Authority and other regulators; and
- Ensure that capital and resources are strategically focused on activities that generate the greatest value on a risk adjusted
basis.

The management of risks is currently focused on managing shareholder exposures within strategic limits, whilst ensuring
sufficient allocation of capital on both a regulatory and economic capital basis.

The framework is based upon the following principies:
- Identification of risks;
- Clarity of accountability and ownership of risks;
- Risk appetite needs to be set making use of limits and controls and the risks need to be managed accordingly;
- Risk quantification and measurement;
- Risk monitoring and reporting; and
- Assessment of value creation on a risk adjusted basis

The Company enhances the risk management framework designed to achieve enterprise-wide value optimisation (value
creation, value realisation and value protection) through the following six business capabilities:

- Capital funding and risk transfer

- Strategic planning and capital allocation

- Asset-liability and investment management

- Product development and pricing

- Performance management and incentivisation

- External communication and reporting risk management and mitigation

AT L
~Pater Gethi = ——
Chairman
16 March 2023
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements of The
Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited set out on pages 26 to 117 which comprise of the Group and Company
statements of financial position at 31 December 2022, and the Group and Company statements of profit or loss, Group and
Company other comprehensive income, the Group and Company statements of changes in equity and the Group and
Company statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements
including, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The directors’ responsibilities include: determining that the basis of accounting described in Note 1 of the accounting policies

is an acceptable basis for preparing and fairly presenting the financial statements in the circumstances, preparation and
presentation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the manner required
by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, and for such internai control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

The directors are required to prepare financial statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and Company as at the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss of the Group and
Company for that period. It also requires the directors to ensure the Group and Company keep proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group and Company

The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared using appropriate accounting
policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards, and the manner required by the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015. The directors are of the opinion that the financial
statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and Company as at 31st December 2022 and of the
Group's and the Company'’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

The directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of accounting records which may be relied upon in the
preparation of financial statements, as well as adequate systems of internal financial control.

The directors have made an assessment of the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no

reason to believe the Group and the Company will not be a going concern for at least the next 12 months from the date of this
statement.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements, as indicated above, were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
16 March 2023.

By Order of the Board

'/:‘_‘.___ L ) P
'-/TE-_(%-%\"“ ' P e G
Péfér:%fhi o ([ GodfreyKioi __—
Chairman . Managing Director

16 March 2023 '

Nairobi

Lo
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, which
disclose the state of affairs of The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited (the 'Company’) and its subsidiary, Heritage
Insurance Company Tanzania Limited (together the 'Group').

1. Incorporation

The Company was incorporated in Kenya in the year 1975 It is incorporated as a private company limited by shares under the
Companies Act, 2015. The address of the registered office is set out on page 3.

2. Principal activities

The Group underwrites all classes of non-life insurance risks as defined by the Insurance Act except Micro Insurance.
There have been no material changes to the nature of the group's business from the prior year.

3. Company results and dividend

Profit after tax for the year ended 31 December 2022 of KShs 511 million (2021: KShs 424 million) has been added to retained
earnings.

During the year, the Company paid KShs 350 million (2021: KShs 200 million) as an interim dividend. The directors do not
propose payment of a final dividend (2021: nil).

4. Share capital

2022 2021 2022 2021
issued KShs '000 KShs '000 Number of shares
Ordinary shares 1 000 000 1 000 000 50 000 000 50 000 000

Refer to note 13 of the financial statements for detail of the movement in authorised and issued share capital
5. Directors

The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report are as shown on page 2.

6. Relevant Audit information

The directors in office at the date of this report confirm that:

e There is no relevant information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and

o Each director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director so as o be aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

7. Employees
The number of persons employed by the Company at the end of the year was 175 (2021: 170)

Out of the 175 members of staff employed by Heritage Kenya as at 31 December 2022, 105 are male and 70 are female (2021:
102 are male and 68 are female).

8. Terms of appointment of the auditor

The Company's auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, continues in office in accordance with Section 159 (2) of the
Companies Act.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)

9. Business Overview

The group profit went up by 29% in the year mainly driven by premium growth, improved investment income and expenses
containment in both Kenya and Tanzania. The combined premium written grew by 9% while the investment and other income
improved by 7% in the year. Management expenses were contained below budget and at same level as last year on account of
increased efficiency in service delivery. Kenya business profit before tax grew by 10% compared to prior year.

The premium volume in Kenya, increased by 11% showing great resilience amidst the high inflation rates experienced for the
better part of 2022. Despite the economic hardships in the country, the business profit before tax increased by 10%.

Tanzania business earnings improved significantly against the previous year. The Company moved to actuarial methodology of
estimating incurred but not reported claims (IBNR) in the previous year resulting in a spike in claim reserves then. The
business has now stabilized hence the improved performance over the prior year

Further description and analysis of the key risks facing the Group and Company is set out in the risk management section of
these annual financial statements.

10. Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report

11. Going concern

The directors believe that the group has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and
accordingly the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have satisfied themselves
that the group is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its foreseeable
cash requirements. The directors are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the group. The
directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any pending
changes to legislation which may materially affect the group.

12. Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements set out on pages 26 to 117, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16 March 2023.

By Order of the Board

M ‘QV,L =

Doredn Onwong'a

Qwasha Corporate Services LLP
Company Secretary

16 March 2023
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of The
Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya
Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together, the Group) set out on pages 21 to 22 and 33 to
118, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2022 and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
together with the Company statement of financial position at 31 December 2022, and the Company
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and the Company as at 31 December 2022 and of their financial performance and their cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act, 2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in Kenya. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed
in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. PwC Tower, Waiyaki Way,/Chiromo Road, Westlands
P O Box 43963 — 00100 Nairobt, Kenya
T: +254 (20)285 5000 F: +254 (20)285 5001 www.pwc.com/ke

Partners: E Kerich B Kimacia M Mugasa A Murage F Muriu P Ngahu B Ngunjiri R Njoroge S O Norbert’s B Okundi K Saiti
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of The

Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

 Key audit matter

Determination insurance

contract Liabilities

of

Insurance contract liabilities comprises
outstanding claims and incurred but not
reported (“IBNR”) claims.

Short term business

For the short-term business, insurance
contract liabilities comprise reported
claims and incurred but not reported
(“IBNR”) claims. We considered claims
provisions as a significant area of focus
due to:

e The estimation of the provisions
involves significant judgement given
the inherent uncertainty in estimating
expected future outflows in relation to
claims incurred.

e The valuation of these liabilities relies
on the accuracy of claims data and the
assumption that future claims
development will follow a similar
pattern to past claims development
experience and involve engagement of

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Statutory Actuary.

We validated, on a sample basis, the claims paid to
supporting documentation and comparing the claim
payments in 2022 to the reserves previously held.

We tested the reasonableness of claims outstanding by
comparing the recorded amounts to the latest available
information on source documents.

We reviewed the methodology and assumptions used
by the Statutory Actuary to compute the liabilities
against generally accepted actuarial practice
approaches, in relation to the business written and
expected risks.

We assessed the reasonableness of the reserves by
comparing actual outcomes against reserve estimates
in the prior years.

We independently recalculated the IBNR reserves for a
sample of classes and compared this to the values

internal and external actuarial ;
experts. estimated by management.
Other information

The other information comprises the information inciuded in the annual report other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other
information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of The
Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies
Act 2015, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of The
Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited (continued)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the Group’s financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act, 2015

Report of the directors

In our opinion the information given in the report of the directors on pages 14-15 is consistent with the
financial statements.

Q)ov\uub GG o

CPA Bernice Kimacia, Practicing Certificate Number 1457.
Engagement partner responsible for the audit

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Certified Public Accountants
Nairobi

16 March 2023
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The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
KEY JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ASSUMPTIONS ON APPLICATION OF
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Key assumptions can materially affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. The assumptions require complex
management judgements and are therefore continually evaluated, They are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The following
key assumptions are considered material assumptions applied in preparing these annual financial statements.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

IFRS 9 requires an entity to assess its business model to determine the classification of financial assets. A business model
refers to how an entity manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. Management applies judgement to
determine the level at which the business model assessment is applied.

Fair value of unlisted financial instruments disclosed in level 3 in the fair value hierarchy

The fair value of financial instruments significantly affects the measurement of profit and loss and disclosures of financial risks
in the financial statements. Fair value calculations are dependent on various sources of external and internal observable data
and on sophisticated modelling techniques used to value financial instruments. Financial instruments disclosed as level 3 have
more unobservable inputs and the valuation requires greater judgement and estimation in determining appropriate valuation
techniques and obtaining relevant and reliable inputs,

The judgement as to whether a market is active may include, for example, consideration of factors such as the magnitude and
frequency of trading activity, the availability of prices and the size of bid/offer spreads. In inactive markets, obtaining assurance
that the transaction price provides evidence of fair value or determining the adjustments to transaction prices that are
necessary to measure the fair value of the asset or liability requires additional work during the valuation process

Insurance contract liabilities

Estimates are made for short-term business claims and claims Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) as at the period end based
on the historical claims’ development statistics and evaluation of the current, past and future assumptions. Using the
Bonehuetter Fergusson model, the Group and Company has developed estimates of expected claims outstanding

The table below summaries the impact a change to the value of claims would have on the financial position of the entity:

2022 2021
% change Impact on Impact on Impact on Impact on
outstanding profit before outstanding profit before
claims tax claims tax
reserves reserves
KShs 000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Group
Value of claims 1 11705 4 081 8137 3155
Company
Value of claims 1 7 941 3224 5547 2172

The principal assumption underlying the liability estimates is that the Group's future claims development will follow a similar
pattern to past claims development experience. This includes assumptions in respect of average claims costs, claims handling
costs, claims inflation factors and claim numbers for each accident year. Additional qualitative judgements are used to assess
the extent to which past trends may not apply in future, for instance; one-off occurrence, changes in market factors such as
public claims experience, economic conditions as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims
handling procedures.
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Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
KEY JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ASSUMPTIONS ON APPLICATION OF
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income taxes

The Group and Company is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the
Group and Company’s provision for income taxes, There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group and Company recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made

Impairment of receivables measured using amortised cost

The Group and Company recognizes expected credit losses (ECL) on debt financial assets classified as amortised cost. The
measurement basis of the ECL of a financial asset includes assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk (SICR) at the reporting date which includes forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. A significant change in credit
risk (SICR) is when there is a material change in the probability of default, since origination.

Cash flow statement

Management consider it appropriate for all cash flows relating to investment portfolios backing policyholder liabilities to be
reflected as cash flows from operating activities rather than cash flows from investing activities.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Performance Review

According to the October 2022 World Economic Outlook Report by the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the global economy
Is projected to grow at a slower rate of 3.2% in 2022, from the 6.0% growth recorded in 2021. The expected slowdown in the
Global economy’s growth is majorly attributable to the persistent inflationary pressures, unfavorable financial conditions
occasioned by high cost of borrowing and worsened liquidity in emerging economies, pre-existing supply chain disruptions
worsened by the ongoing conflict in Ukraine and the Covid 19 Pandemic.

Kenya macroeconomic environment
Kenya

In 2022, the Kenyan economy is projected to grow at an average of 5.1%, lower than the 7.5% growth recorded in 2021. The
slower growth is mainly attributable to a deteriorated business environment precipitated by the worst draught in 40 years,
depreciation of the currency against the US dollar due to disruption in global supply chains occasioned by continuing Russia-
Ukraine war. On a positive note, the country held peaceful elections in 2022 foliowed by smooth transition of power

The World Bank projects GDP to grow at 5.2% on average in 2023-24, supported by recovery in the agriculture sector, robust
private sector credit growth and high international prices for exports. The likely negative impact of the global economic
downturn and the large effect of drought conditions locally present risks to a stable macroeconomic outlook.

Tanzania

GDP growth is projected at 5.0% and 5.6% in 2022 and 2023 respectively, due to improved performance in tourism, the
reopening of trade corridors, and accelerated roliout of vaccines. Inflation was projected to increase to 4.4% in 2022 and to
3.8% in 2023 due to higher energy prices because of the Russia—Ukraine conflict. The fiscal deficit is expected to narrow to
2.7% and 2.8% of GDP in the same period due to better revenue performance and will be financed by domestic and external
borrowing. The current account deficit is expected to widen to 4.0% of GDP in 2022 due to higher oil prices before narrowing to
2.6% in 2023 as merchandise exports and tourism receipts stabilize and will be financed mainly by external borrowing. The
major downside risks relate to new COVID-19 variants and associated disruptions to economic activity but should be mitigated
by increased public awareness and uptake of vaccines.

Results

Both Businesses had solid performance in 2022. Group premium written increased by 9% to KShs.9.98 billion (2021:
KShs.9.17 billion). This demonstrates solid business fundamentals regarding the future of the business. Kenya business
benefitted from increased productivity where gross written premium exceeded the KShs.7 billion mark for the first time.
However, a combination of increase in inflation rates and depreciation of the currency against the US dollar translated directly
to increased motor vehicle repair costs since parts are imported. This increase in claims costs especially in the first half of the
year almost dented an otherwise great performance. Heritage Tanzania benefitted mostly from reduced claims cost and
strengthening of the Tanzania shilling against the Kenya Shilling by 8% in the year.

The company recorded improved profit after tax of KShs.511 million (2021: KShs.424 million), on account of increased
production, growth in investment income and management expenses that were contained within budget.

Similarly, Group profit after tax of KShs.623 million (2021: KShs.428 million) was further boosted by Tanzania business
earnings that grew by over 100% against prior year. The Tanzania Business Gross Written Premium grew by 3%. During the
year, the Company had a good experience with the ¢laims costs that came lower than prior year.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT (continued)

Business Environment

The environment under which the industry operates is quite complex as it consists of many players with differing orientation to
businesses practices. The sector players face real challenges in providing differentiated, value-adding products that speak to
customers anxieties and building trust of capital. High claims in the industry continue to pile pressure on the insurers in the
region, despite an improving business environment in post-pandemic era. The transformation and enabling technologies also
pose risks, such as those concerning data protection and the possibility of cybercrime and fraud. Regulatory changes are
complex and challenging as we are seeing with implementation of IFRS-17 and related data modelling and skill development
requirements.

The Company, in response to the above challenges, is tapping to the wider Liberty group capabilities especially in area of cyber
security, data privacy and IFRS 17 implementation. In addition, the successful implementation of key security tools planned for
the year, which includes the Privilege Access Management (PAM), Domain Name Service (DNS) Security, Data Loss
Prevention (DLP) and File Integrity Monitoring (FIM) security solutions are in response to global security threats.

Operationally, the Business has also established early warning triggers that enable us respond accurately to changes in claims
trends.

Appreciation

It is with great pleasure that | extend my sincere appreciation to all the business partners, busineseses and individuals who
have supported our organization throughout the year. My deep gratitude also goes to our hard working staff who made it
possible to achieve the success we had in the year.

Mr. Stuart Wenman who served as a director on our board for 12 years resigned in the year. He has been an invaluable asset
to our Board and contributed significantly over the years. He has been a source of wise counsel, sound judgement, and
unwavering support. It is with great appreciation that | acknowledge his contribution and wish him the best for his future
endeavors. M/s Rachel Mbai and Mr Rajesh Shah who also joined the Board in 2017 and 2018 respectively also resigned at
the end of 2022, to allow the Company align with Regulatory requirements. The collective impact of their contributions to the
Board has been immense and greatly valued. | wish to appreciate and acknowledge their invaluable services in this regard.

| also wish to inform you that | will be stepping down as Chairman of the Board during the 2023 AGM having served the Board
in this capacity for the last 11 years but will continue to serve as a non-executive director. | take this opportunity to appreciate
my fellow Board members for all their counsel, support and dedication throughout the year and for delivering a strong corporate
governance environment

2023 Outlook

Our businesses are in the middle of a three year strategy focus with a review expected in 2023. We will continue to
conscientiously focus on customer value proposition to enable our customers to achieve financial freedom.

‘Peter Gethi
Chairman
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Heritage believes and nurtures relationships with business supporters and staff members who work tirelessly each day to make
financial freedom possible for customers. In the year, we welcomed our staff back in the office after a long period of working
remotely. We have learnt valuable lessons through that process of serving and enabling remote working that makes us more
resilient than ever before. The milestones achieved will be the cornerstone of future work environment in one shape or another.
Technology has played a key part in enabling our business to sustainably meet the various goals and will be more prominent in
the future when it becomes the preferred medium of our customer interactions.

In the year, we resumed the suspended face to face business supporters and customer interactions. We quickly realized how
meaningful these interactions are and cannot be replaced. The feedback we are receiving back is helping us become more and
more relevant to our key stakeholders — the customer.

Business operations

The insurance industry has faced numerous challenges in the year 2022 and chief among them is persistently high claims
costs especially in the motor class. The vehicle repair costs shot-up as alluded in the chairman’s report, medical service
providers increased costs due to higher cost of purchasing drugs and other supplies as well as higher bed charges due to
rising cost of living. Incidences of fraudulent behavior was also on the rise. This is notwithstanding numerous post-covid
challenges that we have been helping our customers overcome

In 2023, IFRS 17 is coming into effect to replace the current IFRS 4 and sets out principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation, and disclosure of insurance contracts. The standard is complex and has required significant investment in terms
of building capability (systems), getting resources with requisite skills and investment in process re-engineering. Fortunately for
us, we have large competence pool at liberty group which have tapped into to help in project governance and policy elections.

Still on systems capability, we have started a journey to repiace our current medical administration system. This is borne out of
the need to equip our customers and medical health providers with modern tools. At the core of customer experience is the
continuous refinement of our internal processes to make them responsive to customer needs. In the immediate term, we are
investing in automation to create a leaner and a more efficient organization and in the process transform user experience when
consuming our services.

While acknowledging that the primary workplace is the office, we are also cognizant of changing global trends towards
workplace. Technology has made it possible to achieve what would have been considered futuristic in a very short space of
time. Our business is endowed with great young talent and robust technology to enable them work anytime and anywhere. In
2023, we will be announcing to our staff new changes to work environment consistent with the company’s commitment to
promote employee value proposition.

In the year, Standard Bank South Africa completed 100% acquisition of Liberty Holdings. The work of integration has begun
with urgency, and it is expected the merger will have significant benefits to the Kenya businesses.

In conclusion, | wish to recognize the contribution of each member of the Heritage family in enabling the company to continue
realising its purpose

J—""J’

o~ {
JorRler

| Godfréy Kioi
~.Managing Director
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

1. Directors

The Directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report were:

Peter Gethi | Chairman

| Godfrey Kioi N B Managing Director

Michael du Toit* I.Non-Exeoutive Director o B
Stuart Wenman* (Resigned 31 August 2022) Non - Executive Director

Rachel Mbai (Resigned 31 December 2022) . Non - Executive Director

Catherine Mitchem |Non - Executive Director N -
Rajesh Shah (Resigned 31 December 2022) | Non - Executive Director

Andrew Lonmon-Davis* Non - Executive Director

* - South African
2. Company Secretary

Doreen Onwong'a
Qwasha Corporate Services LLP

3. Senior Management

Godfrey Kioi |Managing Director

Luke Magambo - General Manager - Finance and Administration

| Beatrice Njeri Gitau Director — Operations

Tony Mwangi General Manager - Health o
Musili Kivuitu . General Manager - Risk and Compliance

Felix Ochieng General Manager - Human Resources

Mohamed Dalal N Chief Information Officer

|Lawrence Kairegi Head of Actuarial
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note KShs '000 KShs 000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Assets
interests in subsidiaries <) - - 146 557 146 557
Intangible assets 1 41108 33 941 28 195 19799
Equipment 2 119 246 113 677 103 246 102 032
Right-of-use assets 2 124 661 110 272 89 044 102 307
Deferred tax asset 9 159 089 187 820 90 547 125 310
Financial investments 5(a) 5255 160 5693 861 5134 215 5563 634
Staff loans receivable 5(b) 241 429 235682 241 429 235682
Deferred acquisition costs 4 124 582 99 799 106 381 87 964
Reinsurers' share of insurance liabilities 8 3812 511 3226 301 2 300 953 1 888 581
Current income tax recoverable 25 168 075 107 321 86 466 63 938
Prepayments, insurance and other receivables 6 447 670 321917 226 791 228 671
Receivable arising out of reinsurance arrangements 243 740 183 769 104 816 63 243
Agents, brokers and intermediaries balances 14 348 231 458 305 348 231 458 305
Cash and cash equivalents 7 4 319 490 3229024 2 905 868 1685 242
Total assets 15 404 992 14 001 689 11 912 739 10 771 265
Liabilities
Lease liabilities 10(a) 160 598 144 779 125 699 136 403
Insurance contracts 8 4 892 836 4277 873 3 760 897 3206 747
Creditors arising from reinsurance arrangements 591 327 618 514 210 566 189 130
Employee benefits 111 100 514 83 894 100 514 83 894
Other payables 12 329 571 341 445 225 508 126 636
Creditors arising from direct insurance arrangements 383 262 396 877 365 049 384 258
Unearned premium reserve 15 3805 321 3 337 586 2 798 357 2 478 976
Total liabilities 10 263 429 9 200 968 7 586 590 6 606 044
Equity
Ordinary shareholders’ equity 4540 511 4 322 496 4 326 149 4 165 221
Share capital 13 1 000 000 1 000 000 1 000 000 1 000 000
Retained surplus 26 3 540 511 3322 496 3326 149 3165 221
Other reserves 26 216 263 165 401 - -
Non-controlling interest 24 384 789 312 824 - -
Total equity 5 141 563 4800 721 4 326 149 4165 221
Total equity and liabilities 15 404 992 14 001 689 11 912739 10 771 265

The financial statements and the notes on pages 20 to 21 and 32 to 117, were app’rg\wbt_he board of directors on
16 March 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

- <_/—
P — 2 (/\/s M

e

“Peter Gethi Mike du Toit

By e
iy -:--f‘j&' PR =
N T

( Godfrey Kioi __—
(  PRley Dol

=

o’

7 The notes on pages 20 to 21 and 32 to 117 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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GROUP AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR ENDED31 DECEMBER 2022

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
Note KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Gross earned premium revenue 16 9 588 142 8751070 6729 486 6 082 882
Outward reinsurance 16 (4 708 950) (4 340 304) (2644 918) (2485 096)
Net insurance premium revenue 4879 192 4410766 4084 568 3597 786
Commissions earned 961 081 842 641 617 122 563 366
Investment income 17 3186 1648 - -
Interest income on financial assets using the effective 18 305 443 273 477 188 897 149 380
Fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value 19 452 082 416 946 445 524 410 821
through profit or loss
Other income 20 10 639 30439 3379 21706
1732431 1565 151 1254 922 1145 273
Total income 6 611 623 5975 917 5339 490 4743 059
Claims and policyholder benefits 21 (4187 169) (4 141208) (3554624) (2809 756)
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers 21 1616 812 1702639 1347 710 898 161
Net insurance benefits and claims (2 570 357) (2 438 569) (2 206 914) (1 911 595)
Commission expenses 22 (1208 862) (1 090 566) (854 112) (737 123)
Interest expense on lease liabilities 10(b) (19 643) (20 660) (18 224) (19 979)
General marketing and administration expenses 23 (1914 514) (1727 313) (1499 548) (1382 833)
Total expenses and commissions (3143 019) (2838539) (2371884) (2139935)
Profit before income tax 898 247 698 809 760 692 691 529
Income tax expense 25 (275 123) (270 886) (249 764) (267 781)
Total earnings 623 124 427 923 510 928 423748
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
Foreign currency translation 24(b) 67 718 27 900 - -
Total comprehensive income 690 842 455 823 510928 423 748
Total earnings attributable to:
Shareholders’ equity 578 246 426 253 510928 423 748
Non-controlling interest 24 44 878 1670 - -
623 124 427 923 510 928 423748
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Shareholders’ equity 645 964 454 153 510928 423748
Non-controlling interest 24 44 878 1670 - -
690 842 455 823 510928 423 748

The notes on pages 20 to 21 and 32 to 117 form an integral part of the financial statements.

27



8¢

‘sjusWalE)S [eloueul 8y} Jo Jed [esbs)ul Ue Wioy /|| 0} 2§ PuUE |z 0} 0z sebed uo sejou ay

12L 008 ¥ ¥Z8 Z1Le 168 L8V ¥ 96% 22¢ € $20 S1€ (cz9 6¥1) 000 000 | LZ0Z 12qwadaq L¢ je adueleq
(000 002) E (000 002) (000 002) B g g dnouo sy} JO S19UMO Y}im sSuoldeSUEl) [EJOL
(000 002) = (000 002) (000 002) = S S 1 Z0T 10} PUSPIAIP WLIBU|
dnouo ay) Jo SI9UMO YlIM suoljoesued |
6v9 SV LS. 2L 268 vy 891 2oV G680 T 6€£9 91 - awoou] aAIsuayasdwod 1aY3o |ejo|
- - . (580 ¥2) G80 ¥T e - aA1asal AJOINJEIS O] JSISUB. |
92l 1T 180 L1 6£9 91 = e 6£9 91 = {((9) ¥z s10N) eousiayip uone|suely Aousiino ublelod
JWodUu) dAISUdYaIdWOoI J8YI0
£¢C6 LCv 0491 £GC 9V £6C 9¢v - - - JeaA ay} Joy Jjoid
awoodul dAIsudyaldwod |ejoi
c1) e (€1) ¢ - - - (eluezue| abejssH) wawysnipe Jesk Jolid
680 S¥S ¥ 290 00€ 810 ST ¥ e ozl € 6£6 06T (Z9Z 991) 000 000 | 1202 Arenuer L0 Je aouejeg
000, SUYSH 000, SUSH 000, SUSH 000, SUSH 000. SYSH 000, SYSH 000, SYSH
1sa12)ul
funba jejo]  Buljonpuod  Auedwo) awoaul anjasal EYNELT-Y] |eydes aseys
-UoN 3Y) JO SIaumo paulelay Aioynyerg uoljejsues)
lejoyqng Aouaung

ALINDO3 NI S3ONVHD 40 INJNTLVLS dNO¥UO

2202 Jaquiana( ¢ papus Jeah papus Jeah sy} Joj SJUSWSIE]IS [BIOUBULH pue Hoday [enuuy
pajiwi eAudy] Auedwon asueinsu| abejliaq ayl



6¢

‘swniweid USPLIM 18U JO %05 Jo fendes dn-pred wnwiuiw Je padded st 8A19sa1 SIYL JYBIY SI JBARUDIUM SIOId 18U SU JO %0T 40 Wniwaid USHUM 38U JO %G
0} fenbe anesal sjesedss e aunbal suonejnBas eluezue “eluezue] ul suoienbal soueInsul Aq paiinbal se epise 19s aAlesal ejeledss e sosudwiod aniesal Alonels syl

‘sjUBIS)e]S jeIouUBUl BY) 10 Led [eiBajul e wioy /1| 0} Z€ pue Lz 01 0z sebed uo sejou ayL

€IS vl & 68. ¥8¢ VLLOSLY LLG O¥S € §6C §52¢ (z66 801) 000 000 | 2202 12quada( L je aduejeg
(000 05¢) - (000 05¢) (000 0S¢) - - - dnoutg 8y} JO SI2UMO UM Suoljoesuel) (B30 |
(000 05€) - {000 05€) (000 05€) - - - 2202 10} PUSpIAID WSy
dnous) ay} JO SISUMO UHM suoljoesuel ]
cv8 069 G596 LL 118 8L9 S10 895 LEZ 0L LE9 OF - awooul 9AIsuayaldwod 1aYyjo [ejoL
- - - (Lez ob) lec 0l - - 9A19Sa) AlO)N}e)s 0} Jajsuel |
8L /9 /80 LT LES OF = = LE9 OF = ((a) ¥Z @10N) eoualeyip uoie|sues} Aous.ind ubleiog
awooul anisuayasdwod 13y
cl €29 8.8 ¥v¥ ovc 8.5 9vC 8.5 - - - 1eak ay} I0j Joid
awodul anisuayasdwod |ejo]
LZL 008 ¥ vzg ZLe 168 L8V ¥ 96¥ Z2¢€ € 20 Sie (¢z9 6¥1) 000 000 1 220z Aenuer |0 Je aouejed
000. suUsy 000. SUSH 000, SUsSH 000. SUSH 000. SUsH 000. SUYSH 000, SUSHM
jsalayui Auedwog aAlasal
BuljjoJ}u0d  BY} JO SIBUMO 3WOIU| oAl9sal uoljejsue.}
Aynbo |ejo] -uoN |ejogng pauielay Aroynjerg Asuauny lepdeo ateys

ALINO3 NI SIONVHO 40 LNJW3LVLS dNOYHO

22027 lequisse( LE pepue Jeak papus Jeak au) Joj sjuswalels |eioueutd pue Hodey [enuuy
pajiwi] eAud)] Auedwo asueinsu| abejiaH ayl



0e

‘s)uswele)s |eloueul ay) Jo Led [eubsjul Ue wuoy /|| 0} ZE PUB | 0} 0z sebed uo ssjou syl

6vL 92E Vv 6Vl 9Z€ € 000 000 } 22027 12qwiedeq Lg Je aouejeg
(000 05¢) (000 05¢) - Aunba ur Apoadip pastubooas Auedwo) Jo sisumo 0) suonngLlsip pue Aq suouNquuo9 [€)o g
(000 05¢) (000 05¢€) = 2202 PUSPIAIP WLISU|
826 0LS 826 01 - leah ay} 1o} awooul aaIsusyasdwod |ejo
826 0LS 8¢6 0LS - Jeak 8y} 4o} 114014
LgZ 99l v 122 S9l € 000000 | 220z Aenuer Lo je 9ouejeg
122991 v 122 99l € 000 000 | 120Z JaquiadaQ LE Je aouejeg
(000 002) (000 002) - Ajinba ul Apoasip pasiubooal Auedwos ayj Jo siSUMO 0) suolNqLsip pue Agq suonNqIU09 [ejo ]
{000 002) (000 002) = 1207 PUSPIAID WIS
8v.L €Cy 8vL €TV - Jeak ay) 10} swoaul dAIsuayaldwios jejo|
8. €y 8¥. €C¥ - Jesh sy} Jo) Jord
€LV LY6 € elv Iv6 T 000 000 | 1z0z fenuep Lo Je 9suejeg
000. sUsM 000, SUsSM 000. SUSH

fynba [gj0) awosul lendes aleys

pauielay

ALIND3 NI SIONVHO 40 INJIN3LVLS ANVdINOD

Z202Z Jaquia0a(] LE papue Jeak papus Jesk au) Joj SusWe)e)s [eloueulq pue Lodey jenuuy

pajiwi eAudy| Aueduwion asueinsu| abejaq ayl



The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

GROUP AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash (utilised in)/generated from operations 27 1159 440 665 277 1376 711 728 2438
Cash receipts from policyholders 9 588 142 8751070 6 729 486 6 082 882
Cash paid to policyholders, intermediaries, suppliers (8 428 702) (8 085 793) (5352 775) (5354 634)
and employees
interest income on financial assets using the effective 18 305 443 273 477 188 897 149 380
interest method
Interest expense on lease liabilities 10(c) (19 643) (20 660) (18 224) (19 979)
Purchase of government securities and corporate 5(a) (2729567) (5133883) (2721000) (5073052)
bonds
Purchase of unquoted shares 5(a) (2 889) s - -
Proceeds from disposal of shares 5(a) 1002 7 008 1002 7 008
Proceeds from disposal of government securities and 5(a) 3109 859 4638 876 3 080 000 4 460 000
corporate bonds
Taxation paid 25 (301 761) (289 875) (237 491) (265 188)
Net cash from operating activities 1521 884 140 240 1669 895 (13 583)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of equipment 2 (47 141) (41 598) (32 789) (36 948)
Proceeds from sale of equipment and intangibles 600 3 605 600 3605
Purchase of intangible assets (28 319) (7 593) (20 981) (6 899)
Loans advanced 5(b) (71 065) (61 234) (71 065) (61 234)
Loans repaid 5(b) 60 949 78 835 60 949 78 835
Net cash used in investing activities (84 976) (27 985) (63 286) (22 641)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities 10(c) (50 852) (49 092) (35 983) (34 485)
Dividends paid 28 (350 000) (200 000) (350 000) (200 000)
Net cash used in financing activities (400 852) (249 092) (385 983) (234 485)
Total cash movement for the year 1 036 056 (136 837) 1220 626 (270 709)
Cash at the beginning of the year 3229024 3341 485 1685242 1955 951
Foreign currency translation 54 410 24 376 - -
Total cash at the end of the year 7 4319 490 3229024 2 905 868 1685 242

The notes on pages 20 to 21 and 32 to 117 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Intangible assets

Summary of net carrying value

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Cost at the beginning of the year 155 182 186 458 123 348 116 449
Additions 28 319 7 593 20 981 6 899
Derecognition (2674) (41 454) - -
Foreign currency translation 2722 2585 - -
Cost at the end of the year 183 549 155 182 144 329 123 348
Accumulated amortisation at the beginning of the year (121 241) (143 078) (103 549) (92 010)
Impairment - 41 454 - -
Amortisation (19 686) (17 731) (12 585) (11 539)
Foreign currency translation (1514) (1 886) - -
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at the end of
the year (142 441) (121 241) (116 134) (103 549)
Net carrying amount at the end of the year 41 108 33 941 28195 19 799
Amortisation period
Summary of net carrying value (years)
Computer software - purchased( 5 41108 33 941 28 195 19 799
Group
Balance at Derecognition Balance at
beginning of Currency of work in end
KShs '000 year Additions translation progress Amortisation of year
2022
Cost — movement
Computer software — purchased 155182 28 319 2722 (2 674) - 183 549
Total cost 155 182 28 319 2722 (2 674) 183 549
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment -« movement
Computer software — purchased(" (121 241) - (1514) - (19 686) (142 441)
Total accumulated amortisation and (121 241) - (1514) - {19 686) (142 441)
depreciation
Net carrying value at the end of the 33 941 - 1208 (2 674) (19 686) 41108

year
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The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

1. Intangible assets (continued)

Balance at Balance at
beginning of Currency end
KShs '000 year Additions translation Disposals Amortisation of year
2021
Cost — movement
Computer software ~ purchased® 186 458 7 593 2585 (41 454) - 155 182
Total cost 186 458 7 593 2 585 (41 454) 155 182
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment - movement
Computer software — purchased(" (143 078) - (1 886) 41 454 (17 731) (121 241)
Total accumulated amortisation (143 078) - (1 886) 41 454 (17 731) (121 241)
and depreciation
Net carrying value at the end of 43 380 7 593 699 - (17 731) 33941
the year
Company
Balance at Balance at
beginning of end
KShs '000 year Additions Amortisation of year
2022
Cost - movement
Computer software —~ purchased(") 123 349 20 981 - 144 330
Total cost 123 349 20 981 144 330
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment - movement
Computer software — purchased(" (103 550) - (12 585) (116 135)
Total accumulated amortisation and impairment (103 550) - (12 585) (116 135)
Net carrying value at the end of the year 19 799 20 981 (12 585) 28195

(M purchased computer software is not judged to be an integral part of the related hardware and has been recognised as

an intangible asset,

Company
Balance at Balance at

beginning of end
KShs '000 year Additions Amortisation of year
2021
Cost - movement
Computer software — purchased(" 116 450 6 899 - 123 349
Total cost 116 450 6 899 123 349
Accumulated amortisation and impairment — movement
Computer software — purchased( (92 011) - (11 539) (103 550)
Total accumulated amortisation and depreciation (92 011) - (11 539) (103 550)
Net carrying value at the end of the year 24 439 6 899 (11 539) 19 799

M pyrchased computer software is not judged to be an integral part of the related hardware and has been recognised as

an intangible asset.
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(continued)

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Equipment and right-of-use assets

2.1. Summary
Group Company
Note 2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Equipment 221 119 246 113 677 103 246 102 032
Right-of-use assets 222 124 661 110 272 89 044 102 307
Total equipment and right-of-use assets 243 907 223 949 192 290 204 339
2.2. Movement analysis of equipment and right-of-use assets
Summary of net carrying value Depreciation
period (years)
Equipment 5 119 246 113 677 103 246 102 032
IT equipment 5 74 458 57 489 70614 57 489
Furniture and fixtures 10 18 998 32 361 16 561 5102
Motor vehicles 5 22 679 18 725 12 960 16 842
Office equipment 10 3111 5102 3111 22 599
Right-of-use assets (refer note 2.2.2) 1-10 124 661 110 272 89 044 102 307
2.21. Equipment
Group
Balance
at the Balance
beginning Currency at the end
KShs '000 of the year  Additions translation Disposals Depreciation of the year
2022
Cost — movement
Furniture and fixtures 190 053 4134 4948 (228) - 198 907
Motor vehicles 32972 10218 626 (1426) - 42 390
Office equipment 115 684 110 - - - 115794
IT equipment 288 110 32679 - - - 320789
Total cost 626 819 47 141 5574 (1654) 677 880
Accumulated depreciation —
movement
Furniture and fixtures (161 061) - (4 113) 228 (13 076) (178 022)
Motor vehicles (14 246) - (467) 1426 (6 420) (19 707)
Office equipment (111 110) - - - (1573) (112 683)
IT equipment (226 725) - - - (21 497) (248 222)
Total accumulated depreciation (513 142) - (4 580) 1654 (42 566) (558 634)
Net carrying amount at the end 113 677 47141 994 - (42 566) 119 246

of the year
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The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

2. Equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)
2.2. Movement analysis of equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

2.2.1. Equipment (continued)

Group
Balance
at the Balance
beginning Currency at the end
KShs '000 of the year  Additions transiation Disposals Depreciation of the year
2021
Cost — movement
Furniture and fixtures 182 345 6732 976 - - 190 053
Motor vehicles 22 373 19 908 243 (9 552) - 32972
Office equipment 115 684 - - - - 115 684
IT equipment 272 215 14 958 937 - - 288 110
Total cost 592 617 41 598 2156 (9 552) 626 819
Accumulated depreciation -
movement
Furniture and fixtures (147 500) (7 516) (629) - (5 416) (161 061)
Motor vehicles (20 376) (690) (169) 9552 (2 564) (14 247)
Office equipment (109 394) - - - (1716) (111 110)
IT equipment (209 219) - (816) - (16 689) (226 724)
Total accumulated depreciation (486 489) (8 206) (1614) 9 552 (26 385) (513 142)
Net carrying amount at the end 106 128 33392 542 - (26 385) 113 677
of the year
Company
Balance
at the Balance
beginning at the end
KShs '000 of the year  Additions Disposals Depreciation of the year
2022
Cost — movement
Furniture and fixtures 138 305 - - - 138 305
Motor vehicles 21 492 - (1 320) - 20172
Office equipment 115 684 110 - - 115794
IT equipment 261754 32679 - - 294 433
Total cost 537 235 32789 (1320) 568 704
Accumulated depreciation — movement
Furniture and fixtures (115 704) - - (4 628) (120 332)
Motor vehicles (4 850) - 1320 (3877) (7 207)
Office equipment (111 110) - - (1573) (112 683)
IT equipment (203 739) - - (21 497) (225 236)
Total accumulated depreciation (435 203) - 1320 (31 575) (465 458)
Net carrying amount at the end of the year 102 032 32789 - (31 575) 103 246
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(continued)

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

2.2. Movement analysis of equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

2.2.1. Equipment (continued)

Company
Balance
at the Balance

beginning at the end
KShs '000 of the year  Additions Disposals Depreciation of the year
2021
Cost — movement
Furniture and fixtures 135721 2584 - - 138 305
Motor vehicles 11638 19 406 (9 552) - 21492
Office equipment 115 684 - - - 115 684
IT equipment 246 796 14 958 - - 261754
Total cost 509 839 36 948 (9 552) 537 235
Accumulated depreciation — movement
Furniture and fixtures (110 288) - - (5416) (115 704)
Motor vehicles (118638) - 9552 (2 564) (4 650)
Office equipment (109 394) - - (1716) (111 110)
IT equipment (187 050) - - (16 689) (203 739)
Total accumulated depreciation (418 370) - 9 552 (26 385) {435 203)
Net carrying amount at the end of the year 91 469 36 948 - (26 385) 102 032

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Included in Equipment as at 31 December 2022 are fully depreciated assets with a cost of
KShs 427 067 000 (2021: KShs 415 633 000). The notional annual depreciation charge on these assets would have been

KShs 74 540 000 (2021: KShs 64 766 000).

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method over the estimated usefu! lives of the asset.

2.2.2. Right-of-use assets
Group
Balance
at the Balance

beginning Currency at the end
KShs '000 of the year  Additions Modifications translation Terminations Depreciation of the year
2022
Cost — movement
Properties 243 615 78 927 (12 070) 3827 (48 973) - 265 326
Total cost 243 615 78 927 (12 070) 3827 (48 973) 265 326
Accumulated
depreciation -
movement
Properties (133 343) - (930) (3 145) 48 973 (52 220) (140 665)
Total accumutlated (133 343) - (930) (3 145) 48 973 (52 220) (140 665)
depreciation
Net carrying 110 272 78 927 (13 000) 682 - (52 220) 124 661
amount at the end
of the year

36



(continued)

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Equipment and right-of-use assets {continued)

2.2. Movement analysis of equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

2.2.2. Right-of-use assets (continued)

Group
Balance
at the Balance
beginning Currency at the end
KShs '000 of the year  Additions Modifications translation Disposals Depreciation of the year
2021
Cost - movement
Properties 252 678 13 004 - 1613 (23 680) - 243 615
Total cost 252 678 13004 1613 (23 680) 243 615
Accumulated
depreciation -
movement
Properties (102 766) - - (903) 22 605 (52 279) (133 343)
Total accumulated (102 766) - - (903) 22 605 (52 279) (133 343)
depreciation
Net carrying 149 912 13004 - 710 (1 075) (52 279) 110 272
amount at the end
of the year
Company
Balance
at the Balance
beginning at the end
KShs '000 ofthe year  Additions Modifications Disposals Depreciation of the year
2022
Cost — movement
Properties 196 744 38079 (12 070) (3 488) - 219 265
Total cost 196 744 38079 (12 070) (3 488) 219 265
Accumulated depreciation -
movement
Properties (94 437) - (930) 3488 (38 342) (130 221)
Total accumulated depreciation (94 437) - (930) 3488 (38 342) (130 221)
Net carrying amount at the end 102 307 38079 (13 000) - (38 342) 89 044

of the year
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The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

2. Equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)
2.2, Movement analysis of equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

2.2.2. Right-of-use assets (continued)

Company
Balance
at the Balance

beginning at the end
KShs '000 of the year  Additions Disposals Depreciation of the year
2021
Cost — movement
Properties 206 883 10 159 (20 298) - 196 744
Total cost 206 883 10 159 (20 298) 196 744
Accumulated depreciation -« movement
Properties (76 200) - 20298 (38 535) (94 437)
Total accumulated depreciation (76 200) - 20 298 (38 535) (94 437)
Net carrying amount at the end of the year 130 683 10159 - (38 535) 102 307

3. Interests in subsidiaries

The following table lists the entities which are controlled directly by the Company, and the carrying amounts of the
investments in the Company's separate financial statements

Company
Name of company Country of Beneficial Beneficial Carrying Carrying
incorporation ownershi ownership amount 2022 amount 2021
p 2022 2021
The Heritage Insurance Company Tanzania Limited Tanzania 60.00 % 60.00 % 146 557 146 557
4. Deferred acquisition costs
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
Balance at the beginning of the year 99 799 79 498 87 964 59 796
Cost of new business acquired 970 533 859 844 254 114 215 351
Amortisation realised through profit or loss (946 762) (840 271) (235 697) (187 183)
Foreign currency translation 1012 728 - -
Balance at the end of the year 124 582 99 799 106 381 87 964
Current 124 582 99 799 106 381 87 964
124 582 99 799 106 381 87 964

Deferred acquisition costs are amounts incurred on acquiring insurance contracts, which are amortised to income over the
contract period.
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The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

5. Financial investments

Group

Company

2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000

2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000

5(a) Financial investments

At fair value through profit or loss - designated

5255 160 5693 861

5134 215 5 563 634

Current
Non-current

2673078 1663 220
2582082 4 030 641

2673078 1663 220
2 461 137 3900 414

5 255 160 5693 861

5134 215 5563 634

At fair value through profit or loss - designated

Quoted shares
Unquoted shares
Government securities

- 1002
59479 52 131
5195 681 5640 728

- 1002

5134 215 5562 632

As at end of year

5 255 160 5 693 861

5134 215 5563 634

Quoted shares

As at start of year 1002 6768 1002 6 768
Disposals (1002) (7 008) (1 002) (7 008)
Net fair value gains/(losses) - 1242 - 1242
As at end of year - 1002 - 1002
Unquoted shares

As at start of year 52 131 49 231 - -
Additions 2 889 - - -
Net fair value gains - 1082 - -
Foreign currency translation 4 459 1818 - -
As at end of year 59 480 52131 - -

Government securities

As at start of year

Additions

Disposals

Fair value gains

Foreign currency translation

5640728 5127 287
2729 567 5132 951
(3109 859) (4 631023)
(69 379) 4 631
4624 6 882

5 562 632 4940 917
2721000 5073 052
(3080 000) (4460 000)

(69 417) 8 663

As at end of year

5195 681 5640728

5134 215 5562632

Corporate bonds
As at start of year
Additions

Maturity

Net fair value iosses
Currency translation

- 7 270
- 912
- (7 853)
- (597)
- 268

As at end of year
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The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

5. Financial investments (continued)
5 b) Staff loans (at amortised cost)

Movement of loans and receivables is as shown below:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs '000
As at start of year 235682 249 846 235 682 249 846
Loan advanced 71065 61233 71065 61 233
Loan repayment (60 949) (78 834) (60 949) (78 834)
Charge/release to income statement - IFRS 9 (4 369) 3437 (4 369) 3437
241 429 235 682 241 429 235 682
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs ‘000
The movement in ECL impairment for the loan is shown
below:
As at start of year 21089 24 526 21089 24 526
Write back to income statement - (3 693) - (3 693)
Charge to income statement - IFRS 9 4 371 256 4 371 256
25 460 21 089 25 460 21 089
Current 7 427 7 542 7 427 7 542
Non-current 234 002 228 140 234 002 228 140
241 429 235 682 241 429 235682

Mortgage loans are offered to staff members as a benefit which are collateralised. The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya
Limited has the first right to recover mortgage deductions from employment income.

The risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument has not increased significantly during the year
ended 31 December 2022. Any expected impairment losses would therefore be recognised under the 12 months expected
credit loss. The mortgage loans are assessed to have a low expected credit loss impairment as they have a low risk of
default. The borrower has a high probability of meeting cash flow obligations due to the loans being recovered directly from

staff salaries.

Fair value hierarchy of fair value through profit or loss financial assets

For financial assets recognised at fair value, disclosure is required of a fair value hierarchy which reflects the significance of

the inputs used to make the measurements.

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Level 1
Quoted equities and government securities 5195 681 5641730 5134 215 5 563 634
Level 3
Unguoted shares 59 479 52131 - -
5 255 160 5693 861 5134 215 5 563 634
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5. Financial investments (continued)

For Level 3 instruments, management exercises judgment on the selection of the valuation technigue. Key assumptions
include the discounting factors and observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

6. Prepayments, insurance and other receivables

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000

Prepayments 144 310 177 818 100 946 104 947
Due from related parties - 3616 - 3616
Accrued income 51 840 33181 51 840 33181
Other receivables at amortised cost 196 150 214 615 152 786 141 744
Other receivables 251 520 107 302 74 005 86 927
Total prepayments, insurance and other 447 670 321917 226 791 228 671
receivables

Split between non-current and current portions

Current assets 447 8670 321 917 226 791 228 671

7. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs 000

Bank balances : 207 921 311288 127 832 157 756
Short-term deposits 4 111 569 2917 736 2778 036 1527 486

4319 490 3229 024 2 905 868 1685 242

Impairments on cash and cash equivalents held at amortised cost are measured on a 12-month expected credit loss basis
and reflect the short-term maturities of the exposures. The Company considers that its cash and cash equivalents has a low
probability of default, based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties. Impairment losses for cash and cash
equivalents held at amortised cost were assessed and considered immaterial
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8. Insurance contracts

Group
2022 2021
Gross of Reinsurance Net of Gross of Reinsurance Net of
reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance
KShs '000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Short-term insurance
liabilities
Short-term insurance
liabilities comprise:
Outstanding reported 3722302 (1431180) 2291122 3464179 (1296 072) 2 168 107
claims
Claims incurred but not 1170534 (762 475) 408 059 813 694 (498 181) 315513
reported
Insurance contract 4892836 (2193655) 2699 181 4277 873 (1794 253) 2483 620
liabilities
Unearned premiums 3805321 (1618856) 2186465 3 337 586 (1432 048) 1905 538
(Note 15)
Total short-term 8698157 (3812511) 4885646 7 615 459 (3 226 301) 4 389 158
insurance liabilities
Current 4600602 (1804813) 2795789 4789 171 (2 302 293) 2 486 878
Non-current 4097555 (2007698) 2089857 2 826 288 (1578678) 1247 610

42



The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

8. Insurance contracts (continued)

Group
2022 2021
Gross of Reinsurance Net of Gross of  Reinsurance Net of
reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance

Movement analysis KShs '000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Outstanding reported
claims
Balance at the beginning 3464179 (1296072) 2168107 3527639 (1483 998) 2043 641
of the year
Cash-settled claims (3668537) 1280806 (2387731) (4062 526) 1864772 (2 197 754)
Claims provided for 3857213 (1364896) 2492317 3999 066 (1676 846) 2322 220
Foreign currency 69 447 (51 018) 18 429 - - -
translation
Balance at the end of 3722302 (1431180) 2291122 3464179 (1 296 072) 2168 107
the year
Claims incurred but not
reported
Balance at the beginning 813 694 (498 181) 315513 649 060 (447 839) 201 221
of the year
Movements for the year 329 956 (251 916) 78 040 164 634 (50 342) 114 292
Foreign currency 26 884 (12 378) 14 506 - S S
translation
Balance at the end of 1170 534 (762 475) 408 059 813 694 (498 181) 315 513
the year
Unearned premiums
Balance at the beginning 3337586 (1432048) 1905538 2934032 (1230 263) 1704 669
of the year
Premiums 9984192 (4846125) 51380687 9153724 (4 542 089) 4611635
received/(accrued)
Recognised to revenue (9588 142) 4708950 (4879192) (8751070) 4 340 304 (4410766)
Foreign currency 71685 (49 633) 22 052 - - -
translation
Balance at the end of 3805321 (1618856) 2186465 3337586 (1 432 048) 1905 538

the year
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8. Insurance contracts (continued)

Company
2022 2021
Gross of Reinsurance Net of Gross of  Reinsurance Net of
reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance
KShs '000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Short-term insurance
liabilities
Short-term insurance
liabilities comprise:
Outstanding reported 2 966 759 (895109) 2071650 2652079 (699 483) 1952 596
claims
Claims incurred but not 794 138 (471 740) 322 398 554 668 (337 446) 217 222
reported
Insurance contract 3760897 (1366849) 2394048 3 206 747 (1036 929) 2169 818
liabilities
Unearned premiums 2798 357 (934 104) 1864253 2478976 (851 652) 1627 324
Total short-term 6559254 (2300953) 4258 301 5685723 (1888 581) 3797 142
insurance liabilities
Current 3901592 (1257403) 2644189 3826926 (1375 055) 2 451 871
Non-current 2657662 (1043550) 1614112 1856 799 (513 524) 1343 275
Company
2022 2021
Gross of Reinsurance Net of Gross of  Reinsurance Net of
reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance
Movement analysis KShs '000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Outstanding reported
claims
Balance at the beginning 2652 079 (699 483) 1952 596 3119459 (1228 939) 1890 520
of the year
Cash-settled claims (3000474) 1017790 (1982684) (3289 891) 1486 999 (1802 892)
Claims provided for 3315154 (1213416) 2101738 2822511 (957 543) 1 864 968
Balance at the end of 2 966 759 (895109) 2071650 2652079 (699 483) 1952 596
the year
Claims incurred but not
reported
Balance at the beginning 554 668 (337 446) 217 222 567 424 (396 827) 170 597
of the year
Movements for the year 239470 (134 294) 105 176 (12 756) 59 381 46 625
Balance at the end of 794 138 (471 740) 322 398 554 668 (337 446) 217 222
the year
Unearned premiums
Balance at the beginning 2478 976 (851652) 1627324 2230392 (765 363) 1465 029
of the year
Premiums 7048867 (2727 370) 4321497 6331466 (2 571 385) 3 760 081
received/{accrued)
Recognised to revenue (6729486) 2644918 (4084568) (6082 882) 2 485 096 (3 597 786)
Balance at the end of 2798 357 (934 104) 1864253 2478 976 (851 652) 1627 324

the year
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NOTES TO THE GROUP AND COMPANY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

9. Deferred tax asset

The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability relate to income tax in the same jurisdiction, and the law allows net
settlement. Therefore, they have been offset in the statement of financial position as follows:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Deferred tax asset 159 089 187 820 90 547 125 310

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset

At beginning of year 187 820 219 764 125 310 182 812
Credit to profit/loss (34 078) (33 309) (34 763) (57 502)
Currency transiation 5347 1365 - -
159 089 187 820 90 547 125 310

Recognition of deferred tax asset

The Group and Company recognises deferred tax assets for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be
used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount
of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for individual subsidiaries in
the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable
profits improves. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.

Deferred tax movement analysis

Group
Asset/ Foreign (Provision)/ Asset/
(liability) at currencyrelease for the  (liability) at
the beginning  translation year the end of the
of the year year
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
2022
Deferred tax movement analysis 187 820 5347 (34 078) 159 089
Equipment 8208 93 3695 11 996
Fair value gains (336) - (64 100) (64 436)
Prepayments, provisions and unrealised fair value 179 948 5254 26 327 211 529
revaluation of shares and bonds
Total 187 820 5 347 (34 078) 159 089
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(continued)

9. Deferred tax asset (continued)

Asset/ Foreign (Provision)ire Asset/
(liability) at currency ease forthe  (liability) at
the beginning  translation year the end of the
of the year year
KShs '000 KShs 000 KShs '000 KShs '000
2021

Deferred tax movement analysis 219764 1 365 (33 309) 187 820
Equipment 5585 (29) 2652 8 208
Fair value gains 2 814 - (3 150) (336)
Prepayments, provisions and unrealised fair value 211 365 1394 (32 811) 179 948

revaluation of shares and bonds
Total 219 764 1365 (33 309) 187 820

Unused tax losses

The group recognises deferred tax assets on carried forward tax losses to the extent there are sufficient estimated future
taxable profits and/or taxable temporary differences against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax movement analysis

Company
Asset/ (Provision)/re Asset/
(liability) at ease forthe (liability) at
the beginning year the end of the
of the year year
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
2022
Deferred tax movement analysis 125 310 (34 763) 90 547
Equipment 7138 1858 8 996
Fair value gains (336) (79 351) (79 687)
Provisions and other temporary differences 118 508 42 730 161 238
Total 125 310 (34 763) 90 547
2021
Deferred tax movement analysis 182 812 (57 502) 125 310
Equipment 6 392 746 7138
Fair value gains 2814 (3 150) (336)
Provisions and other temporary differences 173 606 (55 098) 118 508
Total 182 812 (57 502) 125 310
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(continued)

10. Leases

The Company leases office premises for use in its branches and head office operations. The leases typically run for a
period of 4-6 years and are open for renewal. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on
estimated changes in local price indices. There are no restrictions on the use of the leased office premises. Some leases

include an option to renew the lease for an additional period after the end of the initial contract term.

The Company does not have any leases which have not yet commenced to which it has committed.

Information about leases for which the Company is a lessee is presented below:

a) Lease liabilities

The movement in lease liabilities during the year is as foliows:

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
Lease liability KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Balance at beginning of the year 144 779 181 203 136 403 160 728
Additions 79715 13 005 38 867 10 160
Modifications (13 588) - (13 588) -
Repayments (70 495) (69 752) (54 207) (54 464)
Finance costs 19 643 20 660 18 224 19 979
Terminations (183) (1 095) - -
Foreign currency translation 727 758 - -
Carrying amount at 31 December 160 598 144 779 125 699 136 403
Current 50 875 47 798 50 875 47 798
Non-current 109 723 96 981 74 824 88 605
Carrying amount at 31 December 160 598 144 779 125 699 136 403
Maturity analysis of lease liabilities based Group Company
on undiscounted cashflows
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Up to 1 year 50 875 47 798 50 875 47 798
Between 1 and 5 years 109 723 90 596 74 824 117 970
Over 5 years - 6 385 - 6 385
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at the 160 598 144779 125 699 172153
end of the year
b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs 000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Interest expensed on lease liabilities 19 643 20 660 18 224 19 979
Depreciation charge 52220 52 279 38 342 38 535
71 863 72 939 56 566 58 514
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10. Leases (continued)

c) Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Payment of lease liabilities 50 852 49 092 35983 34 485
Interest expense on lease liabilities 19 643 20 660 18 224 19979
70 495 69 752 54 207 54 464
11. Employee benefits
11.1. Short-term employee benefits
Group
Leave pay Short-term incentive Total
schemes
KShs '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Balance at the beginning of the 26 894 29 866 57 000 65 000 83 894 94 866
year
Additional liability raised 33514 26 894 67 000 57 000 100 514 83894
Utilised during the year (26 894) (29 866) (57 000) (65 000) (83 894) (94 866)
Foreign currency translation - - - - - -
Balance at the end of the year 33 514 26 894 67 000 §7 000 100 514 83 894
Company
Leave pay Short-term incentive Total
schemes
KShs '000 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Balance at the beginning of the 26 894 29 866 57 000 65 000 83 894 94 866
year
Additional liability raised 33514 26 894 67 000 57 000 100 514 83 894
Utilised during the year (26 894) (29 866) (57 000) (65 000) (83 894) (94 866)
Balance at the end of the year 33514 26 894 67 000 57 000 100 514 83 894

All outflows of economic benefits in respect of the short-term employee benefits are expected to occur within one year.
Leave pay

In terms of the Group and Company policy, employees are entitled to accumulate a maximum of 25 days compulsory leave,
Compulsory leave has to be taken within 18 months of earning it, failure to which it is forfeited.

Short-term incentive schemes (cash-settled)

In terms of the Group and Company remuneration policy, all permanent employees are eligible to receive a short-term
incentive bonus in terms of the various board approved short-term incentive schemes. These schemes recognise both
individual and financial performance (both of the respective business unit and group).

11.2. Details of funds

The Group and Company operates the following retirement and post-retirement medical schemes for the benefit of its
employees.
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11. Employee benefits (continued)

Defined contribution schemes:

Liberty Defined Contribution Pension Fund

The Heritage group operates a funded defined contribution pension scheme in terms of section 1 of the Income Tax Act,

1962. The Heritage Defined Contribution Pension Fund offers a benefit to Heritage employees based on the accumulated
contributions and investment returns at retirement.

11.3. Transactions between group companies and the funds

11.3.1. The contributions which the group companies have made on behalf of the employees during the year are
as follows:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000

Retirement
Defined contribution funds 68 425 67 926 51535 51 036

11.3.2. The following retirement benefit funds have insurance policies with Liberty Group Limited and its subsidiaries,
held as investment policies in the funds. A summary of the transactions for each policy with each fund follows

Liberty Defined Contribution Pension Fund

Balance at the beginning of the year 740 409 652 746 740 409 652 746
Premiums 102 323 101 951 102 323 101 951
Fair value adjustments 13494 48 443 13 494 48 443
Withdrawals (121 467) (62 731) (121 467) (62731)
Balance at the end of the year 734 759 740 409 734 759 740 409

12. Other payables

Accrued expenses 125 374 61 376 125 374 61 376
Sundry payables 164 572 256 236 60 937 41 823
Due to related parties (note 29(e)) 39625 23 833 39197 23 437

329 571 341 445 225 508 126 636

13. Share capital

Authorised

50 Million Ordinary shares of 20 each 1 000 000 1 000 000 1 000 000 1 000 000
Reconciliation of number of shares issued:

Reported as at 01 January 1 000 000 1 000 000 1 000 00O 1 000 000
Issued

50 Million ordinary shares of 20 each 1 000 000 1 000 000 1 000 000 1 000 000

All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
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(continued)

14. Agents, brokers and intermediaries balances

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the
use of lifetime expected loss provisions for all trade receivables at amortised cost.

ECL Rate Group and Impairment Net carrying
Company allowance amount
Gross
Carrying
amount
% KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Current - 126 397 - 126 397
31 - 60 days past due - 80 294 - 80 294
61 - 90 days past due - 92 951 - 92 951
91 - 365 days past due S 48 589 - 48 589
More than 365 days past due 100 27 406 (27 406) -
375 637 (27 406) 348 231
Group Company

Movement in impairment losses on Insurance 2022 2021 2022 2021
receivables KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Insurance contracts 375837 711 229 375637 711 229
Opening impairment loss allowance (252 924) (430 238) (252 924) (430 238)
Charge to profit or loss 27 662 14 498 27 662 14 498
Bad debts written-off 197 856 162 816 197 856 162 816
Provision for impairment loss aliowance - Closing (27 406) (252 924) (27 406) (252 924)
Receivables arising out of direct insurance 348 231 458 305 348 231 458 305

arrangements (Net)

Write off policy for balances from agents and brokers

Balances due from agents and brokers are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, Conditions for

write-off are that;

1) a debt shall be considered to have become bad if it is proved to the satisfaction of the board to have become
uncollectable after all reasonable steps have been taken to collect it and,

2) a debt shall only be considered uncoilectable where the creditor loses the contractual right through a court order, no form
of security or collateral is realisable whether partially or in full, the securities or collateral have been realised but the process
fail to cover the entire debt, the debtor is adjudged insolvent or bankrupt by a court of law and the cost of recovering the

debt exceeds the debt itself.

15. Unearned premium reserve

This reserve represents the liability for short term business contracts where the Group’s obligations are not expired as at

the year end. Movements in the reserve are shown below:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

KShs '000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs '000

As at 1 January 3337586 2934932 2478976 2230392
Currency adjustment 71685 26 017 - -
Adjusted balance as at 1 January 3 408 271 2960949 2478976 2230392
Premiums received 90984192 9127707 70488687 6331466
Recognised to revenue (9588142) (8751070) (6729486) (6082882)
Movement in unearned premium reserve (note 16) 396 050 376 637 319 381 248 584
As at 31 December 3 805 321 3 337 586 2798357 2478976
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(continued)

16. Insurance premiums

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Short-term insurance
Motor 2275021 1938 190 1785 437 1484 727
Fire 2399 120 2150 362 1017 666 812 227
Accident 2392 414 2 325 347 1641754 1 650 480
Medical 2237 703 2072784 2 152 156 2 007 331
Marine 283 884 264 387 132 473 128 117
Gross earned premium revenue 9 588 142 8 751 070 6 729 486 6 082 882
Reconciliation of gross earned premium
Group written premium 9984 192 9127 707 7 048 867 6 331 466
Movement in unearned premium reserves (Note 15) (396 050) (376 637) (319 381) (248 584)
Gross earned premium revenue 9 588 142 8 751 070 6 729 486 6 082 882
Short term insurance
Motor 150 201 149 091 79 526 87 468
Fire 2 009 362 1741670 734 190 532 501
Accident 1239919 1263 371 638 872 765 548
Medical 1152 330 1078 414 1152 330 1078 414
Marine 157 138 107 758 40 000 21165
Outward reinsurance 4708 950 4 340 304 2644 918 2 485 096
17. Investment income
Dividend income
Listed investments - Local 3186 1648 - -
18. Interest income on financial assets using the effective interest rate method
Interest income on financial assets using effective 285 329 252 610 168 783 128 513
interest method
Staff loans receivable 20 114 20 867 20 114 20 867
305 443 273 477 188 897 149 380
19. Fair value adjustments to assets held at fair value through profit or loss
Debt instruments
Fair value gains on financial investments 531 395 405 962 524 875 400 916
Fair value movement on assets measured through (79 313) 10 984 (79 351) 9 905
profit or loss
452 082 416 946 445 524 410 821

Included in the fair value adjustments for 2022 was KShs 165 million (2021: KShs 102 million) related to interest income.
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Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000

20. Otherincome

Profit on sale of property and equipment 600 3 605 600 3 605
Other sundry income 10 039 26 834 2779 18 101
10 639 30 439 3379 21 706

21. Insurance claims expense

Claims and policyholder benefits under insurance

contracts

Motor 1451534 1305 760 1264 059 1050 274
Fire 542 862 905 628 364 845 224 012
Marine 116 481 54 447 40 987 16 006
Medical 1487 954 1353 554 1406 541 1293 151
Accident 588 338 521819 478 192 226 313

4187 169 4141 208 3 554 624 2 809 756

Insurance claims recovered from reinsurers

Motor 102 270 81544 82 062 55 541
Fire 370 831 739 554 251 958 143 332
Marine 118 402 181 994 33 868 12 949
Medical 744 884 682 981 744 884 682 981
Accident 280 425 16 566 234 938 3358

1616 812 1702 639 1347710 898 161

22. Commission expenses

Commission expenses 1208 862 1 090 566 854 112 737123
Incurred during the year 1233645 1110 867 872 529 765 291

Deferred acquisition costs (Note4) (124 582) (99 799) (106 381) (87 964)
Amortisation of deferred acquisition costs 99 799 79498 87 964 59 796

Commission expense per class

Motor 230 056 191 749 175 540 141 181
Fire 403 742 379 802 203 581 174 857
Marine 34 125 38 403 18 354 23103
Medical 206 520 180 910 204 046 180 910
Accident 334 419 299 702 252 591 217 072
Commission expenses 1208 862 1 090 566 854 112 737123
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Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs 000
23. General marketing and administration expenses
Employee costs 1068 716 950 998 810230 735 807
Office costs 738 406 654 124 607 484 537724
Other 107 392 122 191 81834 109 302
Total general marketing and administration 1914 514 1727 313 1499 548 1382833
expenses
Office costs 738 406 654 124 607 484 537724
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (refer 19 686 17 731 12 585 11 539
note 1)
Audit fees — current year 24 085 18 843 10 837 8784
Consulting fees and outsource arrangements 329 860 289102 305 930 280518
Repairs and maintenance 101 316 86 631 101 278 86 519
Depreciation of equipment (refer note 2) 42 566 26 385 31375 26 385
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (refer note 2) 52220 52279 38 342 38 535
Other office costs 168 673 163 153 106 937 85 444
Other 107 392 122 191 81834 109 302
Directors' fees 21957 19 964 11 964 12 591
Other rental charges 25530 25 347 24 111 23 900
Bad debts (24 728) 3 005 (22 719) 12 590
Regulatory levies 84 633 73 875 68 478 60 221
Employee costs 1068716 950 998 810 230 735 807
Salaries and wages 794 179 739778 552 583 541 478
Medical aid contributions 46 265 44 392 46 265 44 392
Staff and management incentive schemes 72 551 58 041 72 551 58 041
Other retirement contributions 68 425 67 926 51835 51 036
Employee insurances 14 210 13930 14 210 13 930
Other 73 086 26 931 73 086 26 930
Number of staff
Permanent salaried staff 237 227 175 170
In Kenya 175 170 175 170
In Tanzania 62 57 - -
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24 a) Non controlling interest (NCI)

Heritage Heritage
Tanzania 2022 Tanzania 2021
NCI percentage 40 % 40 %
KShs '000 KShs '000
Non-current assets 64 530 139 644
Current assets 3688 727 3 300 546
Current liabilities (2 791 285) (2 658 131)
Net assets 961 972 782 059
Net assets attributable to NCI 384 789 312 824
Revenue 2 858 656 2 697 361
Profit for the year 112 196 4189
Profit allocated to NCI 44 878 1670
Foreign currency translation differences 27 087 11 087
Cashflow flows from operating activities (7 305) (60 714)
Cashflow flows from investing activities (7 606) 88 616
Cashflow flows from financing activities (6 515) (15 176)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (21 426) 12726

24 b) Foreign currency translation difference

The foreign currency translation difference comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations.

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000

At start of the year 27726 46 780 - -
Movement for the year 39992 (19 054) - -
67 718 27726 - -
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Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000

25. Income tax expense

Sources of taxation

Current tax 241 045 237 577 215 001 210279
Deferred tax 34 078 33 309 34 763 57 502
275123 270 886 249 764 267 781
Reconciliation of the tax expenses
Profit before income tax 898 247 698 808 760 692 691 527
Tax calculated at a rate of 30% (2021 - 30%) 269 474 209 642 228 208 207 458
Income not subject to tax (1 446) (1839) (1 4486) (1 345)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 24 140 64 479 23002 61668
Prior year tax over provision (17 045) (1396) - -
Income tax charge 275 123 270 886 249 764 267 781

Tax recoverable movement

As at 1 January 107 321 55 023 63 938 9029
Current tax charge for the year (241 045) (237 577) (215 001) (210 279)
Paid in the year 275 258 283 556 237 491 265 188
Tax withheld 26 541 6 319 38 -

168 075 107 321 86 466 63 938

Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate.

Profit before taxation per statement of comprehensive 898 247 698 809 760 692 691 529
income

Taxation per statement of comprehensive income 275123 270 886 249 764 267 781
Applicable tax rate 30.63 % 32.39 % 3283 % 28.70 %
Adjustments due to:

Income exempt from normal taxation 0.16 % 0.27 % 0.19 % 247 %
Tax effect of interest income -% 0.05 % -% 0.05 %
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (2.69)% (1.60)% (3.02)% (1.24)%
Prior year tax over provision 1.90 % (1.10)% -% -%
Combined rate of Kenya and Tanzania 30.00 % 30.00 % 30.00 % 30.00 %

(1) Al significant transactions that are accounted for in other comprehensive income (OCI) for both 2022 and 2021
attracted tax at the standard tax rates with the exception of the foreign currency translation reserve which does not
attract taxation as it emerges on consolidation of foreign subsidiaries. Income not subject to tax relates to exempt
dividends.

(2) Expenses not deductible for tax purposes includes expenses attributable to exempt income.
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Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000

26. Retained earnings and other reserves

Statutory reserve 325255 315024 - -
Foreign currency translation reserve (108 992) (149 623) - -
Total other reserves 216 263 165 401 - -
Retained earnings 3540 511 3 322 496 3326 149 3165 221
At 31 December 3756774 3 487 897 3 326 149 3165 221

. Movement in the statutory reserves are shown in the statement of changes in equity on pages 28 to 30.

. A statutory reserve is maintained by the Tanzania subsidiary as required by the Tanzania Insurance Act. The reserve
is calculated annually as the greater of 3% of net written premium or 20% of the net profit. This reserve shall
accumulate until it reaches the minimum paid-up share capital or 50% of the net premiums, whichever is greater

o The Currency translation reserve represents exchange rate differences arising on the translation of the foreign
subsidiary.

. The retained earnings balance represents the amount available for dividend distribution to the shareholders of the
Company.

27. Cash generated from operations

Profit before taxation 898 247 698 809 760 692 691 529
Adjustments for:
Interest income (Note18) (305 443) (273 477) (188 897) (149 380)
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 10(c)) 19643 20 660 18 224 19 979
Depreciation (Note 2) 42 566 26 385 31575 26 385
Amortisation of intangibles (Note 1) 19 686 17 731 12 585 11 539
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 2.2.2) 52 220 52 279 38 342 38 535
Profit on disposal of property, equipment and intangibles (Note 1) (600) (3 605) (600) (3 605)
Loss on lease modifications (588) - (588) -
Revaluation reserve of bonds and shares 69 379 (6 358) 70203 (9 904)
Staff loan impairment 4 369 (3437) 4 369 (3437)
Changes in working capital:
Prepayments, insurance and other receivables (125 791) 6732 1842 (7 257)
Deferred acquisition costs (24 783) (20 301) (18 417) (28 168)
Receivable arising out of reinsurance arrangements (59 971) (14 211) (41 572) (42 642)
Agents, brokers and intermediaries balances 110 074 91 804 110 074 91 804
Reinsurers' share of insurance liabilities (586 210) (64 201) (412 372) 502 548
Creditors arising from reinsurance arrangements (27 187) 156 367 21436 103 227
Employee benefits . 16 620 (11 745) 16 620 (10 972)
Other payables (11 874) (429 731) 98 873 (191 341)
Creditors arising from direct insurance arrangements (13 615) (82 251) (19 209) (79 039)
Insurance contract liabilities 614 963 101 173 554 150 (480 137)
Unearned premium reserve 467 735 402 854 319 381 248 584
1159 440 665 277 1376 711 728 248

28. Dividends paid

Dividends (350 000) (200 000) (350 000) (200 000)

Dividends are from profits generated by the Group and Company.

During the year, the Company paid KShs 350 million (2021: KShs 200 million) The directors do not propose payment of a
final dividend (2021: Nit)
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29. Related parties

The Group and Company is controlied by Liberty Kenya Holdings Plc, incorporated in the Republic of Kenya. The parent of
Liberty Kenya Holdings Plc is Liberty Holdings Limited incorporated in South Africa. The ultimate parent of Liberty Holdings
Limited is Standard Bank Group Limited, which is incorporated in South Africa.

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited and its subsidiaries is referred to as ‘group’; The Heritage Insurance
Company Kenya Limited is referred to as the ‘company’; Standard Bank Group Limited and its subsidiaries (excluding
Liberty) is referred to as ‘Stanbic’.

Key management personnel

Key management personnel have been defined as follows:
i Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited directors and directors of subsidiary companies.

To the extent that specific transactions have occurred between the group and these related parties (as defined in IAS 24)
the details are included in the aggregate disclosure contained below under key management and where significant full
details of all relationships and terms of the transaction are provided.

Post-employment benefit plans

Refer to note 11

A. Stanbic Bank Kenya Limited

A.1 Financial instrument investments

Stanbic term deposits and Corporate bonds

Group Company
Fair value Fair value
2022 2021 2022 2021

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000

Summary of holdings and movements

Holdings at the beginning of the year 138 760 213771 138 760 213771
Term deposits 138 760 213771 138 760 213771
Purchases 309 468 7 658 309 468 7 658
Term deposits 309 468 7 658 309 468 7 658
Sales (134 292) (82 669) (134 292) (82 669)
Term deposits (134 292) (82 669) (134 292) (82 669)
Holdings at the end of the year 313 936 138 760 313936 138 760
Term deposits 313 936 138 760 313 936 138 760
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29. Related parties (continued)
A.2 Financial instrument investments

Stanbic equity investments

Group Company
Fair value Fair value
2022 2021 2022 2021

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs "000 KShs '000

Summary of holdings and movements

Holdings at the beginning of the year 1002 6768 1002 6 768
STANLIB Fahari I-Reit 1002 6768 1002 6768
Sales (1 002) (7 009) (1002) (7 009)
STANLIB Fahari |-Reit (1 002) (7 009) (1 002) (7 009)
Fair value adjustments - 1243 - 1243
STANLIB Fahari I-Reit - 1243 - 1243
Holdings at the end of the year - 1002 - 1002
Stanbic Bank Kenya Limited - term deposits - 1002 - 1002

A.3 Banking arrangements

The Heritage Insurance Group and Company makes use of banking facilities provided by Standard Group Limited through
it's subsidiaries in Kenya and Tanzania.

Summary of cash balances, interest earned and bank charges

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs ‘000 KShs '000 KShs '000

Holdings at the beginning of the year 95 721 54 036 66 464 30740
Standard Bank Group Limited (SA) 95 721 54 036 66 464 30740
Net movements during the year (6 819) 41 685 23774 35724
Standard Bank Group Limited (SA) (6 819) 41685 23774 35724
Holdings at the end of the year 88 902 95721 90 238 66 464
Standard Bank Group Limited (SA) 88 902 95721 90 238 66 464
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A.4 Bancassurance

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited has a bancassurance business agreement with Stanbic Bank Kenya
Limited for the sale and promotion of Insurance and health products through the Stanbic Kenya's distribution capability.
Premium income in respect of this business in 2022 amounted to KShs 980 million (2021; KShs 743 million). In terms of
agreements, Heritage insurance group and company pays profit shares to Stanbic Bank. The amounts to be paid are in
most cases dependent on source and type of business. The total combined net profit share amounts accrued as payable to
the Stanbic Bank for the year to 31 December 2022 is KShs 42 million (2021 KShs 35 million).

The bancassurance business agreements are evergreen agreements with a 24-month notice period for termination - as at
the date of approval of these financial statements, neither party had given notice.

A.5 Asset management fees — The Standard Bank Group Retirement Fund (fund)

Custodial fees of KShs 5.9 million (2021: KShs 5.9 million) were paid to Stanbic Bank Kenya Limited for services rendered
during the year.

A.6 Health risk product

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited runs a Health risk product aimed at employer groups within Kenya. During
the year the Liberty Life Assurance and Stanbic Kenya had contracted to use this product as a benefit for their employees.
2022 premium income was KShs 569 million (2021: KShs 483 million).

A.7 Short term insurance

Stanbic Kenya and Liberty Life Assurance Kenya Limited contracted to insure with the Heritage Insurance Company Kenya
Limited various short term insurance risks. 2022 premium income was KShs 265 million (2021: KShs 136 million).

A.8 Commission paid to Stanbic

Heritage Insurance pays commission to Stanbic bank for insurance policies sold through the bank’s various distribution
channels. The commission paid for the year to 31 December 2022 is KShs 107 million (2021: KShs 80 million).

A.9 Operating lease income

Heritage Insurance leases a portion of a property from Liberty Life Assurance Kenya Limited in Nairobi, total lease
payments for 2022 was KShs 31million (2021: KShs 31 million).

B.1 Management services - Liberty Holdings Limited

Heritage Insurance contracts certain management and administration services from Liberty Holdings Limited. Fees paid for
these services were KShs 70 million (2021: KShs 75 million).

C. Key management personnel of Liberty, families of key management (as defined in IAS 24) and entities
significantly influenced or controlled by key management

C.1 Liberty and subsidiary directors’ aggregate compensation paid by the group or on behalf of the group for
services rendered to Liberty and its subsidiaries:

2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000

Executive management 52 224 48 917
Non-executive directors’ fees 21957 19 964
Total 74 181 68 881
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C.2 Entities significantly influenced or controlled by key management

(i) Aggregate details of insurance, annuity and investment transactions between Liberty and any subsidiary with
key management personnel, their families (as defined per IAS 24) and entities significantly influenced or controlled
by key management:

Insurance products

Aggregate insured cover Premiums received
2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000
Short term insurance 3464133 3299175 9090 8 657

D. STANLIB Fahari-Reit

Heritage Insurance had an investment in ICEA-Lion Fahari |-Reit of 160 000 units in 2021 at a fair value of KShs 1 202 000.
A related subsidiary, namely STANLIB Kenya Limited had the exclusive asset management mandate with STANLIB Fahari-
Reit. With effect from 1 January 2020 the mandate was sold to ICEA Lion Limited Asset Management (ILAM) and therefore
from that date there is no longer a related party relationship.

E. Outstanding balances with related parties

Amounts included in Other Receivable / (Other Payables) regarding related parties:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000

Liberty Holdings Limited SA (17 663) (16 572) (17 235) (16 145)
The Heritage Insurance Company Tanzania Limited - - - 2930
Liberty Kenya Holdings Plc (2 460) 3616 (2 460) 3616
Liberty Life Assurance Kenya Limited (19 104) (6 801) (19 104) (6 801)
Stanbic Bank Kenya Limited (398) (460) (398) (491)
Amounts included in other receivables - 3616 - 3616
Amounts included in other payables (39 625) (23 833) (39 197) (23 437)

The related party balances are assessed to have a low expected credit loss impairment as they have a low risk of default.
As such no provision has been made for impairment of related party balances.

30. Contingent liability

As a diverse financial services group operating in two East Africa jurisdictions in ever changing and highly regulated
environments, the group has identified certain possible obligations attributable primarily to potential liabilities arising from
matters relating to litigation, potential litigation and proceedings relating to customers' claims. The directors are of the
opinion that such litigation wiil not have a material effect on the financial position or profits of the Group and Company.

In common with the insurance industry in general, the Group and Company are subjected to litigation arising in the normal
course of insurance business. The directors are of the opinion that such litigation will not have a material effect on the
financial position or profits of the Group and Company with the exception of our Tanzania subsidiary which has tax disputes
with Tanzania Revenue Authority.

The Company has filed an appeal in refation to all the disputed amounts. In the opinion of the directors, no additional
material liability is expected to arise from the disputed assessments.
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31. Subsequent events

There were no events after 31 December 2022 that would have a material effect, adjusting or non-adjusting, on the financial
statements.
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Enterprise risk management (ERM) at a glance

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited (the Group and Company) offers a comprehensive range of financial
products and services to the retail and corporate markets, distributing property, accident, liability and health products
through its network. The company is committed to increasing shareholder value through the prudent management of risks
inherent in the production, distribution and maintenance of these products and services. The company is mindful of
achieving this objective in the interests of all stakeholders, The company continues to explore opportunities to develop and
grow its business organically, with strategic plans being subject to careful consideration of the trade-off between risk and
reward, considering the risk appetite limits approved by the board, The board oversees all risk activities and has ultimate
responsibility.

Risk categories Risk governance

rigsraticn 300 manaeemeant

.‘.._..l-é'._l.

First line of defence
Business unit management

Second line of defence

Heads of compliance, risk
and actuarial functions and
statutory actuaries

Third line of defence

Independent assurance
providers - intemal
and external audit and
other independent

servica providers
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1. Enterprise risk management

(a) Overview

The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited has adopted an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) approach which
enables the company to consider the potential impact of risks on stakeholders. Liberty’s risk management framework is
substantially based on the ERM principles embodied in the Insurance Regulatory Authority's Risk Based Capital (RBC)
framework.

The company's risk processes consider both internal and external environments, and their impact on customers,
shareholders and other stakeholders.

The company’s significant risk categories are strategic and business, insurance, market, credit, liquidity, operational,
business conduct and compliance and legal risk. Risks are controlled at the level of individual exposures and at portfolio
level.

The company’s strategic plans are subject to consideration of the trade-off between risk and reward, taking into account the
risk appetite and risk target statements approved by the board.

Systems to quantify insurance, market, credit and liquidity risk are in place. Operational, business conduct and compliance
and legal risks are addressed through qualitative assessment and analysis of exposures, incidents and effectiveness of
mitigating controls. Information in respect of the management of each of these risk categories follows in sections 2 to 9.

The management of concentration risk is critical across many of the significant risk categories. Information on the key
concentration risks follows in section 10.

Section 11 provides information on the sensitivity of IFRS earnings to selected risk events, while section 1.7 (Capital
Management) indicates the company’s ability to cover its regulatory capital requirements.

The Group and Company’s capital requirements, as measured internally and in terms of regulatory requirements, are well
covered.

The board ensures that the business unit executive is responsible and held accountable for risk management within all
operations. The Group and Company’s risk management system is functioning effectively, and the company continues to
be managed within risk appetite.
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1. Enterprise risk management (continued)

(b) Risk strategy

The Group and Company’s approach to risk management places consideration of risk as a focal point in business activities
it enables the business to make informed risk- based decisions and manage expected returns by selecting the risks it is
willing to assume. The Group and Company’s risk strategy is integrally linked with the business strategy, with risk mitigating
actions designed to improve the prospects of achieving the business goals.

Risk strategy Business strategy link

The Group and Company and company risk philosophy is to ensure The Group and Company's strategy plan is based
the sustainable growth of its business, by encouraging profitable risk-  on strategic objectives and concentrates on the
taking and ensuring that it operates within risk appetite. growth of the core business.

The Group and Company'’s risk preferences are classified according The strategic objectives provide clear direction for
to: management, with detailed strategies being
. risks that the group actively seeks as a resuit of being in  constructed around each. Risk preferences are
the business of underwriting and managing risks (i.e considered in the formulation of these detailed
insurance, market, credit and liquidity risks), all of which  strategies, and in any supporting operational
are viewed as value-enhancing; and capabilities that are built.
. risks that are not actively sought but arise as a
consequence of being in business and will be managed to  Impacts of decisions taken during the formulation
an acceptable level to protect value (i.e. operational, and execution of these detailed strategies are
strategic and business, business conduct and compliance  considered against the planned risk profile, and

and legal risks). form part of the broader feedback loop of business
decision-making (with particular attention paid to
All other risks are avoided as far as possible. the extent that a decision may push the group

outside risk appetite).

(c) Risk appetite and risk target
Definition

Risk appetite is defined as the maximum amount of risk that the company is prepared to accept in pursuit of its business
objectives. As such, risk appetite defines the company’s willingness and capacity to accept high or low levels of exposure to
specific risks or groups of risks.

The Group and Company’s risk management system includes the setting of a risk target range, defined as the amount of
risk the Group and Company aims to take within which to optimise returns. The risk target range is set at a level within the
Group and Company’s risk appetite that allows for the achievement of long-term targeted returns and targeted enterprise
value while keeping the possibility of risk appetite breaches at acceptable levels.

Determining risk appetite

The setting of the level of risk appetite is based on stakeholder input and fundamentally driven by the requirement to deliver
very high levels of financial security for customers through appropriate maintenance of the Group and Company’s ongoing
solvency. The dual and at times conflicting objectives of creating shareholders’ equity and minimising risks are controlled
through these limits.

Consideration is also given to the strategic, working capital and regulatory capital requirements of the Group and Company
Management is tasked with conducting the Group and Company’s business at the targeted risk levels to ensure that the

planned optimisation of returns is achieved. Insufficient risk taking, where value enhancing opportunities exist, is also
considered {o be undesirable
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1. Enterprise risk management (continued)
(c) Risk appetite and risk target (continued)
Risk dimensions and measurement

The Group and Company’s risk appetite statement is regularly reviewed to ensure its appropriateness to business
objectives. Risk appetite is measured across the following risk dimensions:

O IFRS headline earnings at risk: This is a measure of the fall in IFRS headline earnings over the next year
expected in a moderate stress event (i.e. ‘1 in 10’ year event) relative to forecast IFRS headline earnings over
the next year.

° Regulatory capital coverage: This is a measure of the ratio of the available regulatory capital of the company to
the sum of the regulatory capital requirements across all entities within the company. This minimum multiple is
determined using a risk- based approach and is reviewed for its continued appropriateness annually.

. Economic value at risk: This is an internal risk measure assessing the loss in the economic value of in-force
business at a point in time as a result of an extreme stress event (i.e. ‘1 in 200 year event) expressed as a
proportion of the current economic value of the company. On the economic basis, assets and liabilities are
measured as the amounts for which they can be exchanged, transferred or settled between knowledgeable
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

The Group and Company’s risk profile is monitored continuously with full bottom up assessments being performed quarterly
and reported to management and to the subsidiary boards. Consideration is given to the risk profile relative to risk limits in
determining whether specific management actions are required
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(d) Risk management framework

Effective application of the ERM framework is achieved through processes and operational requirements which have been
translated into a comprehensive series of risk management policies, procedures and guidelines. These reflect the overall
commitment to risk management, stipulating the required direction and the parties responsible for implementation. Policies
with regulatory requirements for board approval, policies for each of the main risk categories as well as the overarching risk
management framework are all approved by the board. Other procedures, standards and guidelines are approved by the
appropriate management structure
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1.  Enterprise risk management (continued)

(e) Governance of the risk management system

The board is ultimately accountable for the effective governance of risk management. [t is the responsibility of the board to
ensure that clearly defined risk management roles and responsibilities are in place at the company's operational
committees. The board delegates its oversight and management responsibilities in terms of the three lines of defence
governance model. This requires operating management (first line) to operate with risk in mind, with risk professionals
overseeing all risk types and providing input from the corporate centre (second ling) and the third line providing assurance
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the ERM framework.

This model is illustrated in the diagram preceding section 1. It essentially gives three independent views of risk and its
implementation, ensures that risk management is embedded in the culture of the Group and Company and provides
assurance to the board and senior management that risk management is effective
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1. Enterprise risk management (continued)
(e) Governance of the risk management system (continued)

The following governance committees are involved in the control of the risk management system:

. The audit and risk committee (ARC) is responsible for providing the Boards with oversight relating to risk and
control matters, and reviews Liberty’s risk and control philosophy, strategy, frameworks, policies and processes
and effectiveness of the risk management system, The ARC is also responsible for reviewing compliance with
risk policies and for the overall risk profile of the Group and Company. The committee also has primary
responsibility for risks relating to the production of financial statements and for compliance and legal risks.

J The respective boards monitor and provides oversight on “people” risks (such as those that arise from major
business-wide change), customer fairness related risks, technology and information assets and processes,
including: infrastructure, applications, information security (including cyber security), disaster recovery, IT
investments and IT projects. The board ensures the integration of technology and information risks into the
company’s risk management system. Joint ICT commitiee are responsible for ensuring appropriate IT process
governance and ensuring prioritisation of project delivery.

i The investment committee is delegated authority by the Board to manage the company's financial position,
ensure optimal utilisation of the financial assets as well as Asset Liability Management (ALM). This committee is
also responsible for providing recommendations to the ARC regarding all risk and control related issues that
require escalation to the Board.

(f) Understanding Heritage’s risks
(f)(i) Risk identification and assessment process

The Group and Company has a clearly defined business strategy, making it possible to identify events that would hinder the
business from achieving its objectives as well as identifying opportunities that might assist the business in advancing
towards or achieving its objectives.

Current and emerging risks that could threaten the business model, strategy and sustainability are identified and assessed
through a top-down risk identification and assessment process. In addition, risks identified through the strategic planning
processes provide a bottom-up view.

Other regular risk identification exercises are conducted at an initiative/project, process or product level. These may be
based on the approved strategic objectives or on critical processes identified by the company.

Risks identified and assessed within the functions are aggregated at Group and Company level to ensure that the Group
and Company understands where to focus their time and attention. The risk function monitors the risk identification and
assessment process and reports on risk status and management’s response each quarter to the ARC.

(f)(ii) Stress testing

in support of risk identification, assessment and measurement, comprehensive scenario analysis is undertaken to identify
severe but plausible scenarios. Stress testing then assesses the company’s sensitivity to these scenarios which:
. alerts management of potential adverse unexpected outcomes related to a variety of risks;
o assesses the company’s ability to maintain minimum specified levels of capital based on the board approved risk
appetite;
° assesses the company’s resilience to adverse events by identifying areas of potential vulnerability e.g. business
continuity in the event of a severe pandemic;
o increases understanding of the company’s risk profile through a forward-looking assessment of the company's
risk exposure under stressed conditions;
. validates assumptions in respect of the company’s risk appetite;
o ensures adequate focus on the management actions that are appropriate to avoid undue risk, and to enable
faster reaction to a change in circumstances; and

A range of scenarios, covering different levels of severity and plausibility, are considered as part of the stress testing
system. Scenarios are forward-looking over the same period as the business planning horizon and focus on both macro-
economic and insurance-driven events.
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1. Enterprise risk management (continued)

(f) Understanding Heritage’s risks (continued)
(f)(iii) Risk mitigation

Where the Group and Company accepts a risk within its strategy, it may still want to limit its exposure to an acceptable level
via various mitigants such as underwriting, financial controls, and asset allocations

Once the level of risk the Group and Company is willing to take has been set by the board and the risks have been
assessed, management is better able to determine the mitigation strategy deemed to be the most effective. The risk
function considers risks both gross and net of risk mitigation in the oversight of the risk management system

Mitigants used depend on the risk type. The mitigants are subject to oversight by the second line of defense, and controls
are audited by the third fine. Risk specific mitigation methods for specific risks are covered in later sections.

(f)(iv) Risk response, monitoring and reporting

The monitoring of risk exposures and key controls is inherently part of the ERM process, as is the reporting of emerging and
significant risks for each function and the company as a whole. Where significant breaches are reported, progress made
against action plans is monitored.

Risk information is reported quarterly to the ARC to ensure that decision making is based on an understanding of the
potential impact on risk. The company’s risk exposure relative to risk appetite and risk target on each risk measure is
reported to the ARC,

If the company is operating outside the risk target range, appropriate actions to return to within the range are considered. If
the company is outside of risk appetite, immediate corrective action is taken. Risk response decisions are developed as
part of the ERM process and formal accountability is assigned to provide a greater level of assurance to the board.

(f)(v) The Group and Company top risks

The top risks process is a top-down risk identification and assessment process, which provides the business with another
lens with which to identify the risks that could prevent the organisation from achieving its business objectives. Top risks are
defined as elevated, material risks potentially materialising within a relatively short time frame and are currently on the
minds of the board of directors and executives. This spans all risks faced across the business and may include strategic as
well as operational risks.

The top risks listed below have not changed materially over the year. All the top risks and their related mitigation actions are
overseen by the board and the ARC.

Risk strategy Business strategy link
Non-compelling customer and adviser value proposition Management is focusing on:
« Strategic and business risk « enhancing the customer and adviser experience

at points of delivery;
* Insurance risk * enhancing intermediary
experience through
servicing and tools; and
» building loyalty and increasing customer
confidence in our brand.

* Insurance risk

Erosion of the group and company brand
Classification:
+ Strategic and business risk

Not identifying the right opportunities and executing on building
operations of value for Liberty’s chosen markets

Classification:

+ Strategic and business risk
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1. Enterprise risk management (continued)
(f} Understanding Heritage’s risks (continued)

(f)(v) The Group and Company top risks (continued)

Risk strategy

Business strategy link

Substantial complexity due to inadequate legacy management and
an inadequate control environment for new initiatives
Classification:

+ Strategic and business risk

» Operational risk

Compilexity reduction is included as a key
consideration for all initiatives from a strategic
perspective. Over time this will be embedded as a
culture across the business. Management has
rationalised several products and systems in
recent years reducing the associated operational
complexity and risk.

Disruption to the insurance business mode! and inability to adapt in
an agile manner
Classification:

» Strategic and business risk
* Operational risk

The Group and Company continues to drive
initiatives that will ensure it remains future fit and
operates effectively in the evolving external
operating environment.

Instability in the socio-political & economic environment aggravated
by the advent of the Covid-19 pandemic.

Classification:

* Insurance risk

* Market risk

» Credit risk

« Operational risk

The Group and Company maintains a strong
capital position and manages its asset/liability
matching position within risk limits. In addition, the
Group and Company performed stress tests
during the course of 2022 which included a
scenario of negative economic impact in Kenya as
well as a scenario involving distressed financial
markets to prepare for the potential impacts on the
business.

Changes in the operating environment as a result of the changing
regulatory landscape

Classification:

» Strategic and business risk

» Compliance and legal risk

The Group and Company continues to develop
strategic responses to new and emerging
regulation.

Data risk
Classification:

« Operational risk
» Compliance and legal risk

The Group and Company has established a robust
data and information management capability and
continues to enhance governance in this regard.

Inadequate cyber security and resilience
Classification:

» Operational risk
+ Compliance and legal risk

Investment continued to enhance the Group and
Company’s cyber security and update plans based
on changes to the threat landscape and
technology enhancements.

Weaknesses in operational, IT, financial and accounting processes
may lead to incorrect decision making and/or reporting
Classification:

» Operational risk

Simplification and automation initiatives as well as
enhancements which increased the granularity of
financial controls have contributed to mitigating
this risk. Management has driven a number of
initiatives in 2022 to enhance risk practices and
risk culture by embedding risk management in
business processes. Ongoing alignment to the
broader Group IT architecture.
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1. Enterprise risk management (continued)
(f) Understanding Heritage’s risks (continued)

(f)(v) The Group and Company top risks (continued)

Emerging risks Emerging risks involve a high degree of

uncertainty (i.e. timeframe and severity). Heritage
The following emerging risks have been identified as relevant to is in the process of investigating the potential risks
Heritage's business and pose both risks and present opportunities and opportunities

+ Climate change: The direct physical impact of climate change as
well as the second order impact of transitioning to a fow carbon
economy presents risks and opportunities to Heritage. Changing
stakeholder demands, including Environmental Social and
Governance (ESG) related issues, are considered as part of a group-
wide approach to managing climate change risk;

 De-globalisation: Geopolitical shifts and the COVID-19 pandemic
may result in a shift from globalisation to nationalism

and protectionism.

(g) Capital management
(g)(i) Capital management strategy

The capital management strategy seeks to ensure that the company is adequately capitalised to support the risks assumed
by the company in accordance with the company’s risk appetite. It further seeks to fund working capital and strategic
requirements, thereby protecting policyholder and customer interests while optimising shareholder risk adjusted returns and
delivering in accordance with the company’s dividend.

Due to varying requirements of different stakeholders, the company reports and manages capital on several different bases.
The capital management process ensures that the company’s available capital exceeds the capital required both currently
and going forward and to ensure that the company always has unfettered access to its capital to meet its requirements.

Company

The company’s objective in capital management is to safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the company may limit the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new
shares, raise loan funding or sell assets to reduce debt.

2022 2021
KShs '000 KShs 000
Due from group companies - 3616
Due to group companies (39197) (23 437)
Net borrowings (39 197) (19 821)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 2 905 868 1685242
Net Cash 2 866 671 1665 421
Total Equity 4 326 149 4165 221

The board of directors of the company is responsible for monitoring and ensuring compliance with the regulatory framework

as established by the Kenyan Insurance Regulatory Authority.

The Company is primarily regulated by the Kenyan Insurance Act, 1987, Companies Act, 2015, and the Kenya Retirement

Benefit Authority and Insurance Regulatory Authority Act, 1997 and guidelines issued by these regulators..

The objectives when managing capital are to:
o comply with the capital requirements as set out in the Kenyan Insurance Act, 1987;
° comply with reguiatory solvency requirements as set out in the Kenyan Insurance Act, 1987,

. safeguard the companies’ ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns to

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.
. provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products according to the level of risk
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1. Enterprise risk management (continued)
(g) Capital management (continued)
(g)(i) Capital management strategy (continued)

Available capital is the amount by which the value of the assets exceeds the value of liabilities, both measured on a
prescribed basis. The company ensures that available capital is of suitable quality and is accessible when required.

The capital buffer is the amount by which available capital exceeds the solvency capital requirement of the company. The
capital buffer is managed to support risk target levels, strategic initiative requirements and the dividend policy of the
company. The company’s dividend policy takes cognisance of capital requirements.

The company’s capital position is reported quarterly to the board. The board considers reports from the statutory actuary
and appointed actuary before dividends are declared.

(g)(ii) Available capital

The company is largely funded through ordinary share equity which is the highest quality of capital available to protect
policyholders

Available capital and solvency capital requirements.

The following table summarises the available capital (or “own funds”) and the solvency capital requirements (“SCR”) for
Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited and Heritage Insurance Company Tanzania Limited.

Short Term business

Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited 2022 2021

KShs'000 KShs'000
Available capital (or “own funds”) 3 684 522 3544 051
Risk-based capital requirement 820 345 1005 282
Solvency ratio (times) 4.49 3.53
Target SCR coverage ratio (times) 2.0-3.0 25-3.5

Short Term business

Heritage Insurance Company Tanzania Limited 2022 2021

KShs'000 KShs'000
Available capital (or “own funds”) 1 596 085 1730297
Risk-based capital requirement 1311912 1523 024
Solvency ratio (times) 1.39 1.28
Target SCR coverage ratio (times) 1.5-2.0 1.5-2.0
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2.  Strategic and business risk

Strategic risk is the possibility of adverse outcomes, including reputational damage, resulting from adopting a particular
strategy and/or having a weak competitive position. This may arise from errors in business structures, capital allocation,
government action and misunderstandings of economic growth and inflation.

Business risk is the risk that future experience will differ from expectations due to unanticipated concentrations of risk or
new business levels being different from expected (as measured by volume or mix).

Management regularly monitors strategic and business risks and seeks to respond appropriately and manage them against
the Group and Company appetite for risk.

The Group and Company has a clearly defined business strategy, making it possible to identify events that would hinder the
business from achieving its objectives as well as opportunities that might assist the business in advancing towards or
achieving its objectives,

Risks that impact the ability of the business to meet commercial goals are identified through analysis of the external and
internal environment

Current and emerging risks that could threaten the business model, strategy and sustainability are identified and assessed
through a top-down risk identification and assessment process. In addition, risks identified through the strategic planning
processes provide a bottom-up view.

The aggregated risk profile, which considers both risks identified via the top-down and bottom-up processes, is monitored
and reviewed by the Board with actions driven by management structures.

3. Insurance risk
3.1, Definition

Insurance risk arises due to uncertainty regarding the timing and amount of future cash flows from insurance contracts. This
could be due to variations in policyholder behaviour and claims incidence, claim frequency and severity or expense
experience in the case of short-term insurance products. These could have adverse impacts on the company’s earnings
and capital if different from those assumed.

The insurance risks with the greatest impact on the financial position and comprehensive income are covered in more detail
in sections 3.5t0 3.7

3.2. Ownership and accountability

The management and staff in the Group and Company accepting insurance risk are responsible for the day-to-day
identification, analysis, pricing, monitoring and management of insurance risk. It is also management’s responsibility to
report any material insurance risks, risk events and issues identified to senior management through pre-defined escalation
procedures.

The statutory actuaries, where applicable, and the head of risk provide independent oversight of compliance with the
company’s risk management policies and procedures and the effectiveness of the company’s insurance risk management
processes

There are committees in place responsible for managing all aspects of insurance risk. These committees are
° Audit and risk committee;
° Joint actuarial committee supporting the audit and risk committee.
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3. Insurance risk (continued)
3.2. Ownership and accountability (continued)

The functions of the various committees responsible for managing insurance risk include:

. recommending insurance risk related policies for approval and ensuring compliance therewith;

° ensuring that insurance risk is appropriately controlled by monitoring insurance risk triggers against agreed limits
and/or procedures;

. gaining assurance that material insurance risks are being monitored and that the level of risk taken is always in
line with the risk appetite statement;

. considering any new insurance risks introduced through new product development or strategic development and
how these risks should be managed,

o monitoring, ratifying and/or escalating to the company board all material insurance risk-related
breaches/excesses, highlighting the corrective action undertaken to resolve the issue;

° monitoring insurance risk capital requirements as they apply to the management of the company and its
subsidiaries’ balance sheets; and

o approving the reinsurance, underwriting and claims management strategies and overseeing the implementation
of those strategies.

The appointed actuaries, where applicable, provide oversight of the insurance risks undertaken by the company by:

° providing an opinion at least annually on the financial soundness of the company;

. overseeing the setting of assumptions used to provide best estimate liabilities plus compuisory and discretionary
margins (as described in the accounting policies) in accordance with the assumption setting and reserving
policies;

o providing an opinion on the actuarial soundness of premium rates in use for new business, and on the
profitability of the business, taking into consideration the reasonable benefit expectations of policyholders and
the associated insurance and market risks; and

. reviewing the appropriateness of risk mitigation measures in place and proposed such as in the reinsurance
arrangements, the investment strategy and in new products or product enhancements.

3.3. Risk identification, assessment, measurement and management

Risk management takes place prior to the acceptance of risks through the product development and pricing processes and
at the point of sale. Risks continue to be managed through the measurement, monitoring and treatment of risks once the
risks are contracted.

3.3.1. Risk management through product development, pricing and at the point of sale

The product development and pricing process defines the terms and conditions on which the company is willing to accept
risks. Once a policy has been sold, the company is placed on risk for the duration of the contract and the company cannot
unilaterally change the terms and conditions of the policy except where the policy aliows for rate reviews. It is for these
reasons that risks need to be carefully assessed and appropriately mitigated before a product is launched and before new
policies are accepted onto the company’s balance sheet. The product development and approval process ensure that:

. risks inherent in new products are identified and quantified;

. sensitivity tests are performed to enhance understanding of the risks and appropriateness of mitigating actions;

° pricing is adequate for the risk undertaken;

J product design takes account of various factors including size and timing of fees and charges, appropriate levels
of minimum premiums, commission structures (designed to avoid the creation of incentives for mis-selling) and
policy terms and conditions;
the company makes use of reinsurance to reduce its exposures to some insurance risks,
customers’ needs and expectations will be met by the product,
the controls required to provide the product within risk appetite are identified and established; and
post-implementation reviews are performed to ensure that intended outcomes are realised and to determine if
any further action is required.
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3. Insurance risk (continued)
3.4. Reporting

Each Company prepares quarterly reports that include information on insurance risk. The reports are presented to the
relevant risk committees for review and discussion. Major insurance risks are incorporated into a report by the CRO on the
company’s overall risk which is submitted to the ARC. In addition, the joint actuarial committee reviews actuarial
methodology and assumptions to support the ARC. Where it is deemed necessary, material insurance risk exposures are
escalated to the board.

In respect of insurance risks, the reports contain the results of experience investigations conducted along with other
indicators of actual experience, These reporis also raise any issues identified and track the effectiveness of any mitigation
plans put in place.

3.5. Underwriting risks

The primary purpose of underwriting is to ensure that an appropriate premium is charged for each risk and that cover is not
offered to uninsurable risks. Underwriting risks are the risks that future demographic or claims incidence experience will
exceed the allowance for expected demographic or claims incidence experience, as determined through provisions, pricing,
risk measures and vaiue measures.

The company views these underwriting risks as risks that are core to the business. The Group and Company uses its
specialist skills (with assistance from reinsurers where considered necessary) to enhance risk selection for the assessment,
pricing and management of these risks to generate favourable shareholder returns. These risks are diversified by exposure
across many different lives, geographies, and product types and will generally be retained if they are within risk appetite.
The Group and Company is exposed to the risk that its risk selection capabilities fall behind those of its competitors. The
Group and Company continues to acquire and retain specialist skills and to actively drive specific risk selection initiatives to
counteract this risk.

3.5.1. Short-term insurance

The Group has one subsidiary, namely Heritage Tanzania, which conducts short-term insurance business in the East Africa
region, including medical expense cover.

The following classes of short-term insurance business are covered:

Class of business definition

Motor Includes Motor private, Motor PSV and Motor commercial. Cover for losses arising out of the use of motor
vehicles, inclusive of third-party risks but exclusive of transit risks.

Fire Includes Fire Personal, Fire industrial and Terrorism risks .Cover against loss or damage to property due
to fire, explosion, storm and other occurrences arising out of loss of goods customarily included in a
property.

Accident These include Engineering, Liability, Workmen's compensation, Aviation, Theft, Agriculture and any other
risks of incidental nature not included under the categories specifically listed above and below.

Medical Cover for personal health risks and includes inpatient and outpatient cover, dental, optical and maternity
cover.

Marine Includes Marine cargo and Hull. Cover for losses arising out of haulage of cargo through the sea.
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3. Insurance risk (continued)
3.5. Underwriting risks (continued)
3.5.1. Short-term insurance (continued)

The following table summarises the premiums earned and claims loss ratios incurred for the classes of short-term
insurance business

2022 2021
Class of insurance business Gross Gross claims Gross Gross claims
premiums loss ratio premiums loss ratio
earned earned
KShs '000 % KShs '000 %
Motor 2275021 64 1938190 67
Fire 2399120 23 2 150 362 42
Accident 2392 414 25 2 325 347 25
Medical 2237703 66 2072784 65
Marine 283 884 41 264 387 197
Total 9588 142 44 8 751 070 47

(a). Underwriting risks associated with short-term insurance

The risks under any one insurance conftract are the frequency with which the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of
the amount of the resulting claim. For a pool of insurance contracts, the principal risks are that the actual claims and benefit
payments exceed the premiums charged for the risks assumed and that the reserve set aside for policyholders ‘liabilities
proves to be insufficient.

(b). Pricing risk

Pricing risks managed by carefully establishing criteria by which each potential customer is allocated to the appropriate risk
category, applying the underwriting rules, and by establishing prices appropriate to each risk category. Underwriting
performance is measured by monitoring the claims loss ratio which is the ratio of claims to premiums

(c). Reserving risk

For claims that have been reported by the financial position date, expert assessors estimate the expected cost of final
settlement. For expected claims that have not been reported by the financial position date and incurred but not reported
(IBNR) provision is calculated using appropriate techniques. Consideration is also given to any stipulated minimum IBNR
prescribed by regulations. These provisions for claims are discounted for the time value of money and in Heritage Kenya
the IBNR is increased by risk margin.

Using the experience of a range of specialist claims assessors, provisions are reviewed at least annually to ensure they are
sufficient.

(d). Catastrophic risk

Catastrophic risk has the potential to cause significant loss or Impact on current year earnings and capital through a single
event or a number of correlated events.

Reinsurance and the diversification of types of short-term insurance offered are used to reduce risks from single
catastrophic events or accumulations of risk. Various reinsurance arrangements are in place, with retention levels and
catastrophe cover levels varying by line of business.

The aggregate risk exposure to medical expenses is managed through claim limits by loss event within the terms of each
policy.
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4. Market risk
4.1. Definition

Market risk is the risk of adverse financial impact resulting, directly or indirectly, from fluctuations in equity prices, interest
rates, foreign currency exchange rates, property values and inflation as well as any changes in the implied volatility
assumptions associated with these variables.

4.2. Ownership and accountability

The Group and Company’s market risk policy establishes a set of governing principles for the identification, measurement,
monitoring, management and reporting of market risk across the company. It supports the overarching risk management
framework with respect to market risk.

The investment committee, which is a sub-committee of the Board, is charged with ensuring that market risk remains within
approved risk limits.

External asset managers are responsible for managing investment asset portfolios and must manage investment risks
within their mandates. Oversight of investment performance risk is provided by the investment committee through the
monitoring of asset managers and the setting of appropriate policyholder fund mandates.

The Head of Risk provides independent oversight of the adequacy and effectiveness of market risk management across the
company and reports material risks to the ARC.

4.3. Risk identification, assessment and measurement
Identification of market risk is fundamental to the company’s approach to managing market risk.

In the case of market risks which arise from an insurance/investment product, identification and measurement requires an
evaluation of the product's design, whether it is an existing product or a new product proposal, to ensure a thorough
understanding of the market risk implications of the product.

In the case of market risks which arise from shareholders’ equity, the risk may be identified and measured by considering
the market risks that apply to the assets in which these funds have been invested.

Once identified and measured, an assessment of the risk is performed. Risk assessment considers:

. The extent to which the company wishes to maintain the market risk exposure on a long-term strategic basis.
This includes market risks arising from assets supporting the shareholder capital;

. The extent to which the company does not wish to maintain exposure on a long-term strategic basis (as the risk
is not expected to provide an adequate return on capital over time) and the extent to which the risk may be
mitigated (either through improved product design or through open market activity); and

. The extent to which the company does not wish to maintain the exposure but, due to the nature of the risk, is
unable to adequately and/or economically mitigate these risks through hedging. Whilst these risks cannot
necessarily be hedged, they are identified, measured, monitored and managed as far as possible.

4.4. Risk management

The company’s shareholders are exposed to market risk arising predominantly from:

. The short-term policyholder asset/liability mismatch risk. This occurs if the company’s assets do not move in the
same direction or by the same magnitude as the obligations arising under its insurance and investment
contracts, despite the controls and hedging strategies employed;

° Financial assets forming the company’s capital base (also referred to as shareholders’ equity); and

° Financial assets held to back liabilities other than short-term policyholder liabilities.

4.4.1. Assets comprising Shareholder capital

A portfolio comprising shareholder assets and investment exposures expected to remain on the balance sheet over the
long-term in order to support solvency requirements are managed for the benefit of the shareholders, within a clearly
defined investment mandate.

The board through the investment committee, approve the long-term strategic asset allocation of the portfolio. The strategic
asset allocation is defined on a through-the-cycle basis and aims to maximise after-tax returns for a level of risk consistent
with the company’s risk appetite.
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4.  Market risk (continued)
4.4.2. Asset/liability management portfolio (ALM Portfolio)

The company monitors a number of market risk exposures, arising from asset/liability mismatches and reduces exposures
to which it does not wish to be exposed on a long-term strategic basis. This is done within the company risk appetite.

4.5, Alignment of market risk exposure to risk appetite statement
The maximum amount of risk assumed within the Company is defined by the Group and Company's risk appetite.

Market risk targets are set within risk appetite. These targets guide the setting of market risk limits for the ALM Portfolio.
During 2022, the company remained within market risk limits.

4.6. Risk reporting

On a quarterly basis, the investment committees review market risk reports and assesses the adequacy and effectiveness
of market risk management processes across the company, highlighting material exposures to the respective boards.

4.7. Summary of Group and Company assets subject to market risk

The following table summarises the Group and Company’s exposure to financial, property and insurance assets. This
exposure has been split into the relevant market risk categories and then attributed to the main effective “holders” of the risk
defined as follows:

. Other policyholder liabilities — liabilities where shareholders bear the market risk but have largely hedged the risk
via suitable matching assets.

J Non-controlling interest - this includes interests heid by non-Heritage shareholders in subsidiaries. See note 24
for details.

. Residual liabilities and shareholders interests this shows the residual assets left once assets have been
allocated to cover the liabilities mentioned above. Shareholders would be exposed to the market risk on these

assets
Attributable to
Total Residual
financial, liabilities and
property and shareholders’
Risk category insurance interests
KShs '000 assets
2022
Assets subject to market risk only 59 479 59 479
Equity price 59 479 50 479 |
Assets subject to market and credit risk 14 608 790 14 608 790
Interest rate 10 796 279 10796 279
Reinsurance assets(" 3812 511 3812 511
Other assets not included in the asset class table 736723 736 723
Total 15 404 992 15 404 992
Percentage (%) - 100

(1) Reinsurance assets are claims against reinsurers outstanding at the reporting date. They are not subject to market risk other than time value of money (interest rate) for the periods to

settlement.
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4. Market risk (continued)
4.7. Summary of Group and Company assets subject to market risk (continued)

Attributable to

Total Residual
financial, liabilities and
property and shareholders’

Risk category insurance interests
KShs '000 assets

2021

Assets subject to market risk only 53 134 52 051

Equity price | 53 134 52 051 |
Assets subject to market and credit risk 13 292 110 13 204 211

interest rate 10 065 809 10 019 325

Reinsurance assets(! 3226 301 3 184 886

Other assets not included in the asset class table 656 445 644 442

Total 14 001 689 13 900 704
Percentage (%) - 100

(1) Reinsurance assets are claims agamst reinsurers outstanding at the reporting date, They are not subject to market risk other than time value of money (interest rate) for the periods to
settlement.

A breakdown of the residual amount where group shareholders assume any market risk on the backing assets, except
where offset applies, follows:

Group 2022 2021
KShs '000

Lease liabilities 160 598 144 779
Insurance contract liabilities 4 892 836 4277 873
Creditors arising from reinsurance arrangements 591 327 618 514
Employee benefits 100 514 83 894
Other payables 329 571 341 445
Unearned premium reserve 3 805 321 3 337 586
Creditors arising from direct insurance arrangements 383 262 396 877
Total equity 5141 563 4 800 721

15 404 992 14 001 689
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4. Market risk (continued)

4.8. Market risk by asset or liability class for financial instruments

4.8.1. Interest rate risk

The tables below show financial instrument assets and liabilities directly and primarily exposed to interest rate risk.

Accounts receivable and accounts payable are not included in the analysis below as settlement is generally expected within
90 days. The effect of interest rate risk on these balances is considered insignificant given the short-term duration of the

underlying cash flows.

Financial instrument assets by term to maturity and type of interest.

(Debt instruments, collateral deposits receivable, cash and cash equivalents)

Group Company
Amount by maturity date Fixed Floating Total Fixed Floating Total
KShs '000
Within 1 year 7 923 993 - 7 923 993 6510 371 - 6510 371
1-5years 1666 730 - 1666 730 1605 264 - 1605 264
6 — 10 years 62 673 - 62 673 62 673 - 62673
11 - 20 years 86 440 - 86 440 86 440 - 86 440
Over 20 years 16 764 - 16 764 - S -
Variable 59 479 - 59 479 - - -
Total 9 816 079 - 9 816 079 8 264 748 - 8264 748
Financial instrument liabilities by term to maturity and type of interest

Group Company
Amount by maturity date Fixed Floating Total Fixed Floating Total
KShs '000
Within 1 year 430 085 - 430 085 326 022 - 326 022
Total 430 085 - 430 085 326 022 - 326 022
4.8.2. Currency risk
The following table shows a breakdown of Heritage's foreign assets by currency.
Foreign currency exposure 2022 2021
Tanzania Shillings
Assets
Financial investments 120 945 130 228
Reinsurance assets 1511 558 1337720
Prepayments, insurance and other receivables 359 805 213773
Cash and cash equivalents 1361 930 1381610
Total financial and insurance assets by currency 3 354 238 3063 331
Liabilities
Insurance and other payables (3 443 443) (2 586 547)
Net Assets by currency (89 205) 476 784
US Dollar
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 51 692 162173
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4. Market risk (continued)

4.8. Market risk by asset or liability class for financial instruments (continued)
4.8.2 Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the Kenya Shilling against the Tanzanian Shilling at 31 December 2022 would have decreased
profit and loss by KShs 0.62 million (2021: KShs 0.63 million)

A 10% strengthening of the Kenya Shilling against the US Dollar as at 31 December 2022 would have decreased profit and
loss by KShs 0.65 million (2021; KShs 1.83 million)

Diversification benefits

The Group and Company’s risk profile, and hence its capital requirements, benefits from the fact that various risks are not
100% correlated and as a result, it is unlikely that they crystalise simuitaneously. In measuring and monitoring the risk
profile, and associated capital requirements, allowance is made for this diversification benefit. Risk preferences may be
adjusted from time-to-time to optimise the diversification benefit. Despite this, individual risks and the appropriateness of
various models employed continue to be carefully monitored in recognition of the fact that correlations tend to converge to
100% in times of significant stress.

5. Credit risk
5.1. Definition

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss or of adverse change in the financial position resulting, directly or indirectly, from
fluctuations in the credit standing of counterparties and any debtors to which sharehoiders are exposed. Credit risk is
measured as a function of probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and the recovery rates (RR) post a default.

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert
credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

5.2. Taking of credit risk

The Group and Company has a strong credit risk sanctioning and monitoring capability, This capability enables the Group
and Company to accept the risks inherent in the credit book. These credit risks are partially a function of the Group and
Company core business activities, but also as part of a deliberate decision by the Group and Company to add credit risk
exposures to diversify the risks on the balance sheet and to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns for shareholders.
Looking forward, the consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic has increased the possibility of credit losses.

5.3. Management and measurement

The board has delegated credit nsk management to the Audit and Risk management committee.

Day-to-day management of credit risk has been mandated to external asset managers. The investment committee is made
up of professionals with experience from the banking sector as well as representatives from the company in order to ensure

a robust credit process and independent decision-making.

Credit risk is subject to a robust credit analysis, review and approval process. After origination, exposures are closely
monitored and steps taken to mitigate risks if a deterioration becomes probable.

The investment committees exercise oversight on the activities of the asset managers managing credit risk for the Group
and Company under mandate.
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5. Credit risk (continued)
5.3. Management and measurement {(continued)

Regardless of whether the credit risk taken is for the risk and reward of the shareholders, the Group and Company
recognises the need for credit to be originated and managed within a prudent and disciplined risk management framework

The company’s risk function is responsible for oversight of all material credit risk. It establishes and defines the overall
framework for the consistent governance, identification, measurement, monitoring, management and reporting of credit risk.
Group risk also tracks concentrations and trends that may arise in the credit portfolio.

Significant shareholder credit exposures are reported to the respective subsidiary boards.

5.4. Characteristics of credit risk exposures

Through the investment activities of mandated asset managers, the Group and Company largely constrains its credit risk
exposures to more liquid credit instruments, with considerable bias to sovereign debt instruments.

Overall, the credit risk exposures at 31 December 2022 remains heavily weighted towards Kenyan counterparties including
government and top tier Kenyan banks.

Rating methodology
For the purposes of this report, standard rating classifications used by external ratings agencies have been applied.
Rating scale

Where applicable, internal ratings are mapped to equivalent external rating agencies’ (Moody's, Standard and Poor's) rating
scales. These external, giobally recognisable rating categories are defined below.

Investment grade

A—and above  Strong to extremely strong capacity to meet financial commitments.
BBB Adequate capacity to meet financial commitments, but vulnerable to severe adverse economic conditions.

Non-investment grade

BB Less vulnerable in the near-term but faces major ongoing uncertainties to adverse business, financial and
economic conditions.
Below BB Vulnerable to adverse business, financial and economic conditions.

The above ratings may be modified by the addition of a plus or minus sign to show relative standing within the major rating
categories.

Not rated

The Group and Company is not restricted to investing purely in rated instruments, or where counterparties are rated, and
accordingly invests in assets that offer appropriate returns after an assessment of credit risk. For most material investments
in unrated instruments, or through unrated counterparties, internal ratings were undertaken. However, at any one time there
will always be some unrated exposures, generally entered into through asset managers, where the internal ratings
methodology has not been applied. This does not imply that the potential default risk is higher or lower than for rated
assets.

Exposure to prepayments, insurance and other receivables is predominantly not rated due to the large number of
counterparties and the short period of credit exposure. This credit exposure is managed by the respective subsidiary
management.

The loans reflected as not rated relate to loans granted by the Group and Company to, which are secured by a first charge
to the company.
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5. Credit risk (continued)

5.4. Characteristics of credit risk exposures (continued)

Insurance and other receivables

The Group and Company has formalised procedures in place to collect or recover amounts receivabie. In the event of
default, these procedures include industry supported lists that help to prevent rogue agents, brokers and intermediaries
from conducting further business. Full impairment is made for non-recoverability as soon as management is uncertain as to
the recovery.

Stages of impairment

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs 000 KShs '000

Gross 348 231 - 27 406 375637
Impairment - - (27 4086) (27 406)
Net 348 231 - - 348 231

The other financial assets have been assessed as low credit risk (stage 1) and the estimated ECL was immaterial to the
financial statements as at 31 December 2022. Consequently, no impairment loss has been carried in the Group and
Company financial statements,

Movement in impairment losses on Insurance receivables
Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
KShs 000 KShs '000 KShs '000 KShs '000

Opening impairment loss allowance (252 924) (430 238) (252 924) (430 238)
Charge to profit or loss 27 662 14 498 27 662 14 498
Bad debts write off 197 856 162 816 197 856 162 816
Provision for impairment loss allowance - Closing (27 406) (252 924) (27 406) (252 924)

Investment debtors are protected by the security of the underlying investment not being transferred to the purchaser prior to
payment. Established broker relationships and protection afforded through the rules and directives of the Nairobi Securities
Exchange further reduce credit risk.

Capital requirements

The capital requirements allow for credit risk by increasing the current risk spreads on the assets proportionally by a
specified amount assumed to occur in a severe credit risk event.

6. Liquidity risk
6.1. Definition

Liquidity risk is the risk that a legal entity cannot maintain, or generate, sufficient cash resources to meet its payment
obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so at an unsustainable cost or at materially disadvantageous terms,

The Group and Company is exposed to liquidity risk in the event of heightened risk claims where backing assets cannot be
readily converted into cash.

6.2. Ownership and accountability

The Group and Company’s liquidity risk policy establishes common principles of managing liquidity risk across the company
and is approved by the Board.
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6. Liquidity risk (continued)

6.3. Risk identification, assessment and measurement

The Group and Company’s approach to measuring liquidity risk is aligned to international best practice standards. Risk
identification applies to liquidity requirements that are known in advance as well as to unknown liquidity requirements that
are typically contingent on the occurrence of another event.

The Liquidity assessment at 31 December 2022 indicates a healthy surplus of sources of liquidity available to meet
stressed outflows across the Group and Company balance sheet.

6.4. Risk management

The Investment committee manage the company’s material liquidity risks in accordance with applicable regulations and the
Liguidity Risk Policy, as approved by the Board. The risk is managed within approved risk limits.

Liquidity risk arising from contractual agreements and policyholder behaviour is primarily managed by matching liabilities
with backing assets that are of similar maturity, cash flow profile and risk nature. A variety of tools are available to manage
remaining cash flow mismatches. These tools enable non-cash liguid assets, held in the liquid asset buffer, to be easily
converted into cash.

Where the Group and Company purchases backing assets that have predictable cash flow profiles, but which give rise fo
structural liquidity mismatches between projected cash inflows and outflows, the liquidity position is actively managed to
prevent any undue future liquidity strains.

6.5. Risk reporting

Liquidity risk reports are produced regularly and are used to help manage liquidity risk. Detailed reporting is provided to the
Investment committees with additional reporting being provided to the ARC on a quarterly basis.

6.6. Liquidity profile of assets
The majority of the Group and Company's assets match its liabilities from a liquid perspective.

The table below breaks down the company’s assets according to time to liquidate. It is worth noting that, in a stressed
environment, the market value of these assets is likely to be negatively affected.

2022 2021
Financial, property and insurance asset liquidity % KShs '000 % KShs '000
Liquid assets (realisable within one month) 64.9 9515171 66.5 8870753
Medium assets (realisable within six months) 0.4 59 479 04 52132
llliquid assets (realisable in excess of six months) 34.7 5093619 33.1 4 422 358
100.0 14 668 269 100.0 13 345 243

87



The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

6. Liquidity risk (continued)
6.7. Liability profile

The Group and Company projects both expected and stressed cash flow profiles of its liabilities and ensures that sufficient
high quality liguid assets are held to meet its liquidity requirements.

Maturity profile of financial instrument liabilities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the financial instrument liabilities of the company based on the

remaining undiscounted contractual obligations. These figures will be higher than amounts disclosed in the statement of
financial position (where the effect of discounting is taken into account) except for short duration liabilities.

Contractual cash flows

KShs '000 0 - 3 months(® 3 - 12 months 1-5years 5-10years Variable Total
2022

Lease liabilities - 50 875 74 824 34 899 - 160 598
Insurance and other payables 430 085 974 589 - - - 1404 674
Total 430 085 1 025 464 74 824 34 899 - 1565 272
Percentage portion (%) 27 66 5 2 - 100
2021

Lease liabilities - 31978 98 340 14 461 - 144 779
Insurance and other payables 425 338 1015 391 - - - 1440 729
Total 425 338 1 047 369 98 340 14 461 - 1 585 508
Percentage portion (%) 27 66 6 1 - 100

(1) 0 -3 months are either due within the time frame or are payable on demand

7. Operational risk
7.1. Definition

The Group and Company defines operational risk as the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems or from external events.

Whilst the definition includes business conduct, financial crime, compliance and legal risk, these receive additional focus
and are hence considered as separate risk categories within the Group and Company risk taxonomy. Operational risk
excludes risks arising from strategic decisions. Technology, cyber, third party, data and information risks are material
components of operational risk.

Operational risk is recognised as a distinct risk category which the company strives to manage within acceptable levels
through sound operational risk management practices which are regularly reviewed and enhanced.

The Group and Company also operates a robust business continuity capability which is considered a key component of
managing operational risk.

7.2. Approach to managing operational risk

Operational risk exists in the natural course of business activities. The approach to managing operational risk recognises
that it is neither possible nor commercially viable to eliminate ail operational risk and hence applies fit-for-purpose mitigation
practices to achieve an optimal operational risk profile. Operational risk is not typically taken in exchange for reward,
however, management seeks as far as possible to limit any negative financial, reputational, customer, staff and regulatory
impact.

The operational risk policy is aligned to the company’s risk management framework and sets out minimum requirements for
identification, assessment, management, monitoring and reporting of operational risk. This is achieved through developing
a robust understanding of the risks by conducting self-assessments, measuring and monitoring key indicators, managing
operational risk events (including near misses) and taking appropriate actions to mitigate risks.

Management of operational risk is the responsibility of senior management. They are guided and supported by various risk
specialists that are part of an operational risk function
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7. Operational risk (continued)
7.3. Insurance cover for operational risk
A comprehensive short-term insurance programme is in place which addresses the diversified requirements of the

company. The programme includes the following cover:
J Directors and officers liability

o Crime and professional indemnity
. Public liability

. All risks for assets

o Motor fleet

7.4. Capital requirements
An allowance for operational risk is made in the calculation of the regulatory capital amount.
7.5. Reporting

The preparation of quarterly risk reports forms an integral part of monitoring the company’s overall operational risk profile.
The content of reports is subject to robust review and challenge through the ARC

Operational risk reports include information relating to:
. Key operational risks
. Material operational risk incidents
»  Key indicators
. Control environment

Management of key operational risks

Operational risk management is a high priority for the Group and Company. Complexity is a key causal factor for
operational risks. A number of ongoing technology and process initiatives are in place and continue to make progress in
reducing complexity and streamline systems and processes.

People risk

People risk is defined as the risk of an adverse business impact arising from inadequate practices for the recruitment,
development, management and/ or retention of employees and contractors. It also includes the risk of business impact due
to insufficient people capacity, capabilities, skills and/or inappropriate behaviour.

The Group and Company continues to place significant focus on its people. There are processes in place to continuously
assess (through surveys, employee engagement and research) and enhance policies and practices employed to ensure
that suitable people are attached to roles and there is sufficient support for them to perform and grow. The availability of
appropriately qualified and skilled individuals in the market remains a challenge. The Group and Company has initiatives in
place to continue building this skills base internally by ensuring robust development plans and opportunities for individuals.

Information security risk (including cyber risk)

The Group and Company defines information security risk as the risk of intentional and/or unauthorised use, modification,
disclosure or destruction of information resources, which would compromise the confidentiality, integrity or availability of
information. The global cyber risk threat is dynamic and continuously changing.

The Group and Company information security teams monitor cyber threats, amongst others, through a well-equipped
operations support team. There is continuous engagement and collaboration between the information security team and the
operational risk team to ensure risks are considered more broadly than only from a technology perspective. The ARC
monitor and provide oversight on risks related to technology and information assets, including cyber security, ensuring
integration into the company’s broader risk management system.

The Group and Company information security and cyber program was intensified in 2022, particularly in the light of
increased remote working practices, and has been delivering according to plan over this period. The Group and Company
follows a risk-based approach to cybersecurity, being proactive whilst also ensuring a robust reactive capability. As result
the program has invested in detection, prevention, testing, threat intelligence and response which is regularly tested. The
goal of the risk-based cybersecurity program is appropriate risk reduction. The cybersecurity program aligns and leverages
Standard Bank’s extensive capability which forms an important part of the Group and Company cybersecurity strategy’s
collaboration pillar. This includes participation in initiatives, simulations and testing, leveraging of tools and sharing of threat
intelligence
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7. Operational risk (continued)

7.5. Reporting (continued)
Information Technology risk

Information Technology risk refers to the risk associated with the use, ownership, operation, involvement, influence and
adoption of information and technology infrastructure and applications within the company.

The Group and Company is highly dependent on and constantly increasing its use of information and technology to ensure
high quality of operations and customer service. Increasing legal and regulatory compliance requirements, and the
importance of IT in enabling such compliance, heightens the importance of managing information and technology
operations within an acceptable risk profile.

Risks are effectively managed through the three lines of defence approach, with a specific IT capability in place to ensure
adequate focus on this key risk. These risks are mitigated through various controls, which are implemented and closely
monitored by management. The company continuously invests in its systems and processes. Actions to reduce the
likelihood of risks materialising are identified and accountabilities for remediation are driven by management.

Third party risk

Third party risk is defined as the risk of the Group and Company engagements with third party suppliers resulting in
reputational damage, operational and legal risk. As organisations globally become more connected, there are relationships
and dependencies that become more critical to manage with third parties. These third parties include, amongst others,
business and technology partners, suppliers, cutsourcing partners, managed services vendors and other related business
partners. The Group and Company places appropriate focus on ensuring risks related to third parties continue to receive
attention through robust contracting and onboarding processes, and continuous relationship management, monitoring and
oversight processes.

Operational process risk

Operational process risk is the risk of operational processes failing or not being effectively executed resulting in errors,
incorrect payment or delays in processing of transactions. Operational process risk, specifically related to risk in operational
transaction processes that may impact service to customers, is an area of key focus and monitored continuously through
various risk and control practices. Operational process risk incidents are dealt with speedily to ensure limited customer
impact. Ensuring a strong risk culture exists across the organisation ensures that every individual is risk aware and takes
responsibility for mitigating risks associated with their operational processes.

Financial controtl risk

This is defined as the risk of inadequate or ineffective financial and accounting processes/controls; management and
oversight resulting in a loss and incorrect decision making and reporting. This includes financial, actuarial or tax controls
and balance sheet reconciliation and substantiation process. The Group and Company has a robust actuarial and financial
contro! capability to mitigate this risk. The adequacy and effectiveness of these controls are reviewed by the head of the
actuarial control function as well as internal and external audit.

We conduct regular tax health checks to identify any possibie tax exposures.
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8. Business conduct risk
8.1. Definition

The Group and Company defines business conduct risk as the risk of loss, whether qualitative or quantitative, caused by
the inappropriate behaviour of individuals, including financial advisers and third-party service providers, or of the Group and
Company itself, that results in poor customer outcomes, causes detriment to the financial institution, or has an adverse
impact on the market.

8.2. Approach to managing business conduct risk

The Group and Company places the customer at the heart of everything it does and operates in a manner where fair play
and ethical behaviour underpin all business activities and relationships. The Group and Company has no appetite for
deliberately or knowingly breaching legislative, regulatory and internal policy requirements.

Business conduct risk has evolved to not only include the risk of delivering poor outcomes to customers, but also the risk of
loss caused by the behaviour of employees, advisers, or third-party service providers. The Head of Risk is responsible for
embedding the board approved business conduct risk policy and providing second line assurance for this risk type. All risks
that may influence the customer outcome across the value chain are dealt with as part of this risk type, including aspects
such as product design, approval of marketing material, policyholder investment performance, customer complaints and
claims management.

The company customer fairness committee, supported by the executive committees, assists in achieving fair outcomes for
all the Group and Company’s customers.

The Group and Company supports the steps taken by the Insurance Regulatory Authority, Retirement Benefits Authority,
and the Association of Kenya Insurers to improve the outcomes for all customers and will continue to work with them to
achieve this.

8.3. Risk reporting

The preparation of quarterly business conduct risk reports forms an integral part of monitoring the company’s overall
business conduct risk. The content of reports is subject to robust review and challenge through the ARC. Reports include
information relating to key business conduct risks, including material incidents, as well as conduct risk themes which the
business is currently managing.

Key business conduct risks in 2022

The management of business conduct risk is a high priority for the Group and Company. Some of the key business conduct
risks themes which were a focus in 2021 and continued to be a focus in 2022 include:
. Advice Risk - the risk of providing inappropriate advice or not being able to demonstrate that advice was suitable
at the time it was provided, and:
. Complexity Management - complex products and the wide range of products sold over time result in elevated
conduct risk.
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9. Compliance and Legal risk

This is the risk of loss, including legal or regulatory sanctions or damage to reputation resulting from: the failure to comply
with relevant legal, statutory, supervisory or regulatory requirements; inadequacy, inaccuracy or absence of written
agreements; or any type of financial crime.

Compliance risk

Compliance exposure assessments are carried out with oversight from the company compliance function to provide the
board with independent assurance on the status of compliance within the organisation.

The Group and Company seeks positive and constructive engagement with its regulators and policymakers, both directly
and through appropriate participation in industry forums, to partner with them in ensuring optimal regulatory outcomes for
the industry and all its stakeholders.

Financial crime risk

This is defined as the risk of economic loss, reputational impact and regulatory sanction arising from any type of financial
crime against the company. Financial crime includes fraud, theft, money laundering, violent/cyber-crime, bribery, corruption,
collusion and misconduct by staff, customers, suppliers, business partners, stakeholders and third parties.

Financial crime risk is managed through forensics and compliance capabilities and by strengthening the risk culture to pro-
actively mitigate risks and manage incidents. Focus is placed on ensuring robust prevention and detection controls are in
place and are continuously enhanced based on internal and external trends.

10. Concentration risk

10.1. Introduction

Concentration risk is the risk that the company is exposed to financial loss which, if incurred, would be significant due to the
aggregate (concentration) exposure the company has to a particular asset, counterparty, customer or service provider

In addition to concentration risks detailed in previous sections, the company has identified the risks detailed below.
Asset manager allocation

The Company engages the services of the following asset managers who manage some of the financial assets on its
behalf:

2022 2021
% KShs '000 % KShs '000
Self managed 8 667 651 " 748 359
ILAM 92 7 244 600 89 6 342 760
Total Financial investments and short-term 100 7912 251 100 7 091 119

deposits

Internally managed assets include Bonds under lien required to be held under the provisions of the Kenyan Insurance Act.

Risks associated with asset managers are:

° poor fund performance resulting in the reduced ability of the company to retain and sell investment-linked
products;

. adoption of poor credit policies exposing the company to undue credit risk;

. inadequate ability to manage the relationship between the return on risk capital for the risk being taken at a
granular tevel, and

. illiquidity of instruments invested in which could result in value destruction should these investments need to be
realised in the short-term.
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1 Basis of preparation

The 2022 Group and Company financial statements of The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited have been prepared in
accordance with and containing information required by:

° International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and

J the Kenyan Companies Act of 2015.

For Companies Act, 2015 reporting purposes, the balance sheet is represented by the statement of financial position and the
profit and loss account by the statement of comprehensive income in these financial statements.

Where reference is made to accounting policies to Group or Company it should be interpreted as being applicable to
consolidated or separate financial statements as the context requires.

The financial statements are presented in the functional currency, Kenya Shillings (KShs '000), rounded to the nearest
thousand.,

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are in terms of IFRS and are consistent
with those applied in the prior year Group and Company annual financial statements

Accounting Policy Elections

Where permitted under IFRS, the Group and Company adopis accounting policy choices which increase the relevance of
reported profit in line with how the business is managed and to eliminate, as much as possibie, accounting mismatches within
profit or loss

The Group and Company has made the following accounting policy elections in terms of IFRS, with reference to the detailed
accounting policies shown in brackets:

J For all financial assets and financial fiabilities that are measured at fair value through profit or loss, all income
statement movements (including dividends, interest received and finance costs) are classified as fair value
adjustments. (accounting policy 5)

. Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (accounting policy 7.3)

o After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses (accounting policy 8.2)

. Although the application of the local actuarial valuation bases is not an accounting policy election as such, IFRS
refers the measurement of these assets and liabilities to existing local practice until the adoption of IFRS 17 effective
1 January 2023.

2 New IFRS standards and amendments

2.1 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2022 and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. The company does not plan to early adopt
these standards. These are summarised below:

a. Those expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of company.
Standard issued, not yet effective: IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17)

The effective date of IFRS 17 is for years commencing 1 January 2023. IFRS 4 /nsurance Contracts (IFRS 4), the existing
standard dealing with the accounting treatment for insurance contracts will be replaced by IFRS 17 for the group’s financial
year commencing 1 January 2023 (with 2022 comparative information restated as required by the standard). IFRS 17 provides
the basis of measurement for defined insurance contracts, inciuding reinsurance contracts held, which are scoped into IFRS 17
measurement from IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (which is no change from IFRS 4).

Whereas IFRS 4 required the use of local accounting practices in measuring insurance liabilities (which essentially referred to
the local actuarial guidance), IFRS 17 introduces defined accounting models which will increase the comparability of
information reported by all reporting entities that issue insurance contracts. Alignment to accounting principles applied to other
industries (besides insurance) that report under IFRS, was a key objective of the standard. In particular, revenue recognition
principles and disclosure comparisons between industries have specifically been enhanced. There are very closely aligned
recognition principles between IFRS 17 and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
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2. New IFRS standards and amendments (continued)

2.1 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 (continued)

a. Those expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of company (continued)
Standard issued, not yet effective: IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) (continued)

IFRS 17 needs to be retrospectively applied for the first date of adoption, being 1 January 2022, as if IFRS 17 had always been
in place. Due to the long contract boundaries of certain contracts in the scope of IFRS 17, the standard permitted once off
optional transition simplifications where it would be impracticable to apply components fully retrospectively. The standard
requires disclosure on the transition approaches applied. Transition to IFRS 17 is discussed in more detail below.

Project governance, status and process going forward

Heritage Insurance Company Limited being part of the Liberty holdings (group) receives support from the group in
implementing IFRS 17. The group set up an IFRS 17 steering committee, sponsored by the group’s Chief Financial Officer and
is responsible for providing overall strategic direction to the project and monitoring progress and interdependencies with other
group initiatives. The committee comprises representation from finance, risk, actuarial, IT (Information Technology) and internal
audit. The steering committee is also supported by several other working groups responsible for various work streams within
the project

Summaries of IFRS 17 progress to date and IFRS 17 methodologies, accounting policy elections and key judgements have

been noted or submitted for approval where appropriate to the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) for recommendation to the
board

The group's external auditors, PwC, have as part of their early audit preparation for IFRS 17 adoption, been involved in this
process. The implementation of IFRS 17 is significant for the company, specifically in areas such as revenue recognition,
presentation in the statement of comprehensive income and level of transparency of the components of measurement.
Comprehensive effort has been applied to the technical interpretation of the standard and the design decisions required. While
audit involvement and industry discussions have been critical to the project, management are mindful of the possibility of
interpretation differences. Management is also cognisant that it remains possible that certain interpretations may be further
clarified as additional information becomes available.

To meet the requirements of IFRS 17, the company has invested significant effort in data collection and storage, modelling
development, general ledger and supporting sub ledger configuration. Heritage Insurance will present the full restated IFRS 17
compliant resuits with the annual financial statements presented for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Overview of IFRS 17

IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which was issued as an interim standard and permitted entities to account for insurance contracts
(particularly the measurement thereof) using local accounting practices, resulting in a multitude of different approaches.

The main revenue recognition principle that IFRS 17 adopts is to recognise revenue (and consequently profit or loss) over the
duration of the applicable policyholder contracts in a manner that best reflects the delivery of insurance contract services in the
specific reporting period. This aligns closely to the principles applied in IFRS 15. The total recognised profit or loss outcome of
contracts (i.e. the actual cash flows that emerge over the total contract term) naturally remains unchanged. However, the year-
by-year reporting of profit or loss outcomes between IFRS 4 and IFRS 17 is often different. This is mainly due the accounting
policy measurement elections under the application of IFRS 4 being largely referenced to locally adopted actuarial standards or
guidance. This has led to significant divergence of profit recognition between jurisdictions, and in many cases within the
insurance industry in each jurisdiction.
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2. New IFRS standards and amendments (continued)

21 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 (continued)

a. Those expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of company (continued)
Standard issued, not yet effective: IFRS 17 insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) (continued)

One significant change for insurers, is that the standard does not allow for profits to emerge on “day one” (contract recognition
date), while still avoiding the deferral of anticipated contracted losses (onerous contracts). Losses for each applicable contract
are to be recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Some contracts include an amount that meets the definition of a 'non-distinct investment component' (NDIC) under IFRS 17.
The NDIC is the amount that an insurance contract requires the group to repay to a policyholder in all circumstances,
regardless of whether an insured event occurs. Under IFRS 17, the investment components that are highly inter-related with
the insurance contract are not unbundled on contract inception. Any such amounts are treated like deposits and excluded from
insurance revenue and insurance services expenses when they are paid to the policyholder or beneficiary, as they do not relate
to the provision of insurance services. This is a significant change to current disclosure treatments which includes these
amounts in insurance premiums and insurance claims respectively

Another change is that the IFRS 17 measurement principles are ambivalent to the type of insurance (i.e., life or non-life/
general), and the permitted measurement model depends on the terms and conditions of the underlying contracts, including
the related contract boundaries and coverage periods, rather than the insurance license type.

Portfolios are established for insurance contracts that have similar risks, however each portfolio is limited o a maximum of a
twelve-month duration between the first contract and the last contract recognised. At date of inception, the portfolios are further
divided into distinct and ring-fenced cohort groups that differentiate the expected profitability of each contract between onerous,
unlikely to become onerous and those that have a higher risk of becoming onerous over time. This leads to the possibility of
one, two or three distinct cohort groups per year per portfolio. Subsequent measurement of insurance contracts is therefore
applied to the cohort groups.

IFRS 17 includes three permitted measurement models. The measurement approach refers to the model used for valuing the
liabilities and recognising profits in insurance revenue over time and should be appropriate for the contract being measured.
The allocation of groups of contracts to each measurement approach is dictated by the IFRS 17 standard, although there is an
element of judgement in certain cases, as well as a permitted simplification if prescribed eligibility criteria are met. All
measurement models include two components, being a liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and a liability for incurred claims
(LIC). The LRC relates to the measurement of the liability where the insured event has not occurred (i.e. the company’s
obligation for insured events related to the unexpired portion of the coverage period). The LIC component relates to the
measurement of the liability, where the insured event has occurred (i.e. the company’s obligation to investigate and pay claims
for insured events that have already occurred and includes events that have occurred but have not been reported). The LRC
measured component is dependent on what measurement model is applied, whereas the measurement of the LIC component
is the same under all three measurement models.

A general measurement model (GMM) is applicable to longer contract duration insurance contracts that do not have significant
investment components (unless the criteria to use a simplified model is met) and is based on a fulfiment objective (risk-
adjusted present value of probability-weighted estimates of future cash flows, which includes insurance acquisition cash flows).
GMM is prescribed by the standard for insurance and reinsurance contracts which are not substantially investment-related
service contracts i.e., predominantly risk type contracts and annuities.

It requires the use of current estimates, which are those informed by actual trends and investment markets, adjusted for the
time value of money. A risk adjustment (RA) is established as an explicit, current adjustment to compensate the group for
bearing non-financial risk, that is a deferral of margin to cover the risk of variation to the estimated cash flows. The risk
adjustment is released over the contract duration in line with the reduction of the estimated risk.

IFRS 17 establishes a contractual service margin (CSM) at the initial measurement of the liability (LRC). The CSM represents
the unearned profit on the contract which is expected to be earned in the future and results in no profit at initial recognition. The
CSM is only applicable to the LRC as the group still has an obligation for service, and not to the LIC. The CSM is released over
the life of the contract in line with the level of service provided in each period. The interest rate used to discount cash flows and
determine the initial CSM is locked in at the rate at inception for that contract, for all future CSM movements. Although there is
no profit recognised at inception, the standard does require the group to recognise losses on any onerous groups of contracts
upfront.

95



The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. New IFRS standards and amendments (continued)

2.1 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 (continued)

a. Those expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of company (continued)
Standard issued, not yet effective: IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) (continued)

Apart from the CSM, all other probability-weighted estimates of cash flows contained in the measurement of insurance assets
or liabilities are measured at current values.

For contracts that have a component of significant insurance risk but are substantially investment-related contracts with direct
participation in a share of underlying items, the GMM is modified to measure such contracts using the variable fee
measurement approach (VFA). This approach effectively amortises, over the remaining life of the contract, the impact to the
future estimated revenue (e.g., asset-based investment management fees) that have arisen from changes in investment values
at the reporting date. A key difference to the GMM approach is that the CSM is not locked in at the original discount rate.

The premium Allocation Approach (PAA) is a simplified model in which the profit for the period is determined as the revenue
less expenses for the period

The company has elected to apply the simplified premium allocation approach (PAA), which is available for contracts that have
a coverage period of 12 months or less, or if it is reasonably expected that the PAA would produce a measurement of the LRC

that would not materially differ from the one produced applying the GMM. Contracts measured under the PAA approach do not
have a CSM

Key revenue recognition changes between IFRS 17 and IFRS 4 as applied by Heritage

Whereas IFRS 4 permitted local actuarial practice to measure insurance contracts, IFRS 17 prescribes the use of one of three
measurement models for insurance (including reinsurance contracts), as described above.

A key change is the creation of the CSM and the establishment of the non-financial risk adjustment (collectively representing a
deferral of estimated profit) in respect of measured contracts. The CSM and RA, which is established on initial contract
recognition and the associated related guidance of future measurement results in a different pattern of revenue recognition for
many portfolios over the contract coverage period, compared to existing accounting policies.

Under current accounting policies, margins are established and deferred over future service periods, but:

° these are not locked in at discount rates applicable on date of contract inception for GMM contracts (and therefore
were continually remeasured to reflect current interest rate environments).

. the use of designated coverage units to release the margin over the remaining contract period under IFRS 17 differs
in many cases to the current (mainly systematic time-based) approach to releasing the deferred margins.

o allowed for day one profit on initial recognition, if the expected service revenue was higher than required to meet the
service obligations, within a group adopted risk adjusted return threshold.

° recognised changes to future best estimate assumptions in the profit or loss in full, as and when effected, and are
not absorbed by the remaining reserved margins.

. portfolios of similar type contracts are not restricted by a twelve-month cohort of contracts, allowing for more cross
subsidisation within the groups of contracts.

The application of the CSM as guided under IFRS 17 is likely to result in lower volatility in insurance earnings between
reporting periods over time. This is mainly a consequence of the requirement to, where applicable, absorb any changes to
estimates of future contractual fuifiment cash flows into the CSM. This then systematically impacts future margin releases
rather than the current treatment which impacts the profit or loss in the year of change.

IFRS 17 introduces a significant change to the income statement presentation by removing a cash flow presentation (gross
premiums and claims). IFRS 17 introduces the concept of insurance revenue recognition that is intended to represent the price
actually charged for the insurance contract services rendered and should not include any investment flows that are to be repaid

(adjusted for applicable investment returns) in the future. Actual contracted cash flows are naturally not impacted by either
iIFRS 4 or IFRS 17.

96



The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. New IFRS standards and amendments (continued)

2.1 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 (continued)

a. Those expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of company (continued)
Standard issued, not yet effective: IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) (continued)

IFRS 17 more comprehensively defines what is profit or loss derived from insurance services and the net finance income or
expense (resulting from the funding surplus or requirements associated with the insurance business activities). The insurance
finance income or expense includes, inter alia, the effect of the time value of money on the best estimate cash flow
assumptions.

Contracts measured under PAA (including reinsurance)
The company has elected to measure contracts that have a short coverage period under the PAA measurement model.

The PAA measurement approach, is not expected to materially impact profit emergence on applicable policy portfolios going
forward, when compared to the current basis.

Transition approaches

The standard requires retrospective application of IFRS 17 prior to the transition date, which is 1 January 2022, unless it is
impracticable to do so. If it is impracticable, an entity can choose between either a modified retrospective or a fair value
approach to measure the initial IFRS 17 balances on the transition date (1 January 2022, in the case of Heritage insurance).
For the short contract boundary nature contracts measured under the PAA approach (12 months or less), these will all be
measured using full retrospective application.

The company has used a combination of two transition approaches (namely, full retrospective and fair value) depending on the
extent of the historical data (including assumptions, methodologies and the availability of risk adjustment data) that is available
per the IFRS 17 defined groups. The approach has been applied for majority of groups of insurance contracts recognised from
1 January 2016 onwards. Based on the impracticability assessment, in particular the:
° lack of accessibility and reliability of the key sources of data; and
. reliance of the calculations on the risk margin used in capital regulatory reporting (SAM), which was still being
refined at that date; and
. was not calculated or audited at earlier dates management have concluded that it is not practicable {o perform the
full retrospective calculations for contracts initially recognised prior to 1 January 2016.

IFRS 17 requires disclosure of the movement analysis of all contracts measured on the transition date applying the fair vatue
approach, until all those contracts are derecognised under IFRS 17. The first time this will be provided is in the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Accounting policy elections and key judgements applied to the preparation of the transition statement of financial
position

In order to derive the impact of the adoption of IFRS 17 on transition, being 1 January 2022, certain accounting policy elections
and key judgements have been applied, as follows:
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2. New IFRS standards and amendments (continued)

2.1 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 (continued)

a. Those expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of company (continued)

Standard issued, not yet effective: IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) (continued)

PAA approach

The company has elected, as permitted by the standard, to apply the simpiified model, for insurance contracts and reinsurance
contracts held where the coverage period is less than 12 months, On inception of groups of contracts where the coverage
period is over one year, and the groups meets the eligibility criteria (in that the measurement result of the PAA and general
model are not materially different), the company has elected to apply the PAA approach

For contracts measured under PAA, the company has elected

o To defer the recognition of the acquisition costs over the coverage period.

. To not adjust the carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage to reflect the time vaiue of money and the
effect of financial risk for those contracts where the coverage period is less than one year, or where there is no
significant financing component for contracts longer than one year.

i Where claims incurred are expected to be paid within a year of the date that the claim is incurred, to not adjust future
cash flows for the time value of money.

Key Judgements related to the transition statement of financial position were as follows
Judgement as to which expenses meet the definition of directly attributable under IFRS 17 and are included in the
measurement of fulfilment cash flows. The interpretation may vary for some expense items between insurers, as well
as potentially the method to attribute the qualifying expense cash flows to the various portfolios.
i Defining criteria to determine whether a contract is unlikely to become onerous over the contract term.
. The technique for calculating the risk adjustment and associated confidence levels.
. Coverage units utilised for release of the CSM.

Financial Instruments

The group applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments for years commencing 1 January 2018. There is no expected change to
previously applied classification and designation of financial instruments that are linked to policyholder benefits as a result of
IFRS 17. Management's intention is to document the full IFRS 17 accounting policies, including accounting policy elections and
key judgements that will have been applied in the application of the standard, in the 2023 annual financial statements.

Transition adjustment to equity on 1 January 2022

The cumulative net adjustment to the group’s equity as at 1 January 2022 arising from the adoption of IFRS 17 is
approximately a reduction of KShs 63 million. This reduction in net asset value is the outcome of the more conservative
measurement methodologies required under IFRS 17 guidance, compared to the previous accounting policies adopted under
IFRS 4. The actual impact on adopting IFRS 17 on 1 January 2022 may change because of, amongst others: systems and
controls not having been run for extended periods, which wil! occur in 2023; and accounting policies, assumptions, judgements
and estimation techniques used are subject to change until the group finalises its first financial statements that include the date
of initial application.

The impact of restating the 2022 financial results, presentation of the detailed transition statement of financial position and
inclusion of the IFRS 17 compliant disclosures will be included in the annual financial statements for the year ending 31
December 2023.

Tax implications

The Authorities in Kenya and Tanzania have not issued tax legislation relating to impact and consequential tax implications of
adopting IFRS 17. On transition date, there is expected deferred tax impact on the NAV impact arising from differences in
carrying insurance reserves under IFRS 4 and IFRS 17 of approximately KShs 27 milllion. Heritage Insurance shall actively
seek to comply with the any legisiation that may be affected in due course.
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2. New IFRS standards and amendments (continued)

2.1 New and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2022 (continued)

b. Those not expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements of company

The following standards which have been issued and yet effective are not expected to have significant impact on the company
financial statements for year 2022,

Standard Effective date

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture(amendments)

The amendments address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in
IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised
when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain| The effective date for these
or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business,even ifl amendments have been
these assets are housed in a subsidiary, deferred indefinitely.

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (Amendment to IAS 1) 1 January 2024

IFRS 16 Leases

The amendments add to requirements explaining how acompany accounts for a sale and
leaseback after the date of the transaction. IFRS 16 had not previously specified how tomeasure
the transaction when reporting after that date. Theamendments add to the sale and leaseback
requirements inlIFRS 16, thereby supporting the consistent application of thestandard. These
amendments will not change the accountingfor leases other than those arising in a sale and lease
back transaction. 1 January 2024
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3 Basis of consolidation

The Group and Company consolidate the annual financial statements of the group and its subsidiaries.

Type [Measurement
Interest in Subsidiaries are defined as entities that are controlled by the group. In order for control to exist,
subsidiaries the must have:

. power over the investee;

. exposure or rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and

. the ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount of the group’s returns. The
group must possess all three elements to conclude that it controls an investee. Refer to
key judgements for assessment of control.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group (effective
date of acquisition) and are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases (effective date of
disposal). Gains and losses on disposal of subsidiaries are included in profit or loss. The
accounting policies for subsidiaries are consistent, in all material respects, with the policies
adopted by the group. Intergroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Separate financial
statements

Interests in subsidiary companies in the company financial statements comprise shares, which are
measured at cost less any required impairment. Acquisition costs are recorded as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred, except for the costs to issue debt or equity securities, which
are part of the consideration transferred. The carrying amounts of these investments are reviewed
annually for impairment. Intergroup balances with subsidiaries, under the IFRS 9 business model
assessment for 2018, are measured at amortised cost. These are subject to the expected credit
loss impairment model.

Business
combinations

The group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries.

The cost of an acquisition is measured as the sum of the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.

The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is adjusted to
reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration amendments.

Transaction costs are recognised within profit or loss as and when they are incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the
extent of any non-controlling interest.

The excess of the consideration transferred, being the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, is recorded as goodwill.

The group elects to measure non-controliing interests on the acquisition date at either fair value or
at the noncontrolling interest’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s identifiable net assets on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis.

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the
difference is recognised directly in the statement of profit or loss.
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3. Basis of consolidation (continued)

Transactions with non-| The group applies a policy of treating transactions, including partial disposals with non-controlling
controlling interests interests that do not result in the gain or loss of control, as transactions with equity owners of the
group. For purchases of additional interests from non-controlling interests, the excess of the
purchase consideration over the group’s proportionate share of the subsidiary’s additional net
asset value acquired is accounted for directly in equity. Profits or losses on the partial disposal of
the group'’s interest in a subsidiary to non-controlling interests are also accounted for directly in
equity.

Subsidiaries are defined as entities that are controlled by the group. In order for control to exist, the group must have power
over the investee, exposure or rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee, and the ability to use power over
the investee to affect the amount of the group’s returns. The group must possess all three elements to conclude that it controls
an investee. Refer to key judgements for assessment of control (pages 20 to 21).

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group (effective date of acquisition) and are
no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases (effective date of disposal). Gains and losses on disposal of
subsidiaries are included in The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited or loss. The accounting policies for subsidiaries
are consistent, in all material respects, with the policies adopted by the group. Intergroup transactions, balances and
unrealised gains and losses are eliminated on consolidation.

4 Foreign currencies

The Group and Company's presentation currency is Kenya Shillings (KShs). All amounts are shown in KShs’000 unless
otherwise indicated. The functional currency of the Company's operations is the currency of the primary economic environment
where each operation physically has its main activities.

4.1 Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that differ from the functional currency at the
statement of financial position date are translated into the functional currency at the ruling rate at that date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate
at the date of transaction, and those measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange gains or losses are recognised as part of fair value adjustments on
financial instruments in profit or loss.

4.2 Company foreign operations

Assets and liabilities of group foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the presentation currency are
translated from their respective functional currency into the group’s presentation currency at closing rates ruling at statement of
financial position date. The income and expenditure and equity movements are translated into the group’s presentation
currency at rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date of the various transactions.

All resulting translation differences arising from the consolidation and translation of foreign operations are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as a foreign currency translation reserve.

When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences in the foreign
currency translation reserve relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from the reserve to profit or loss when the gain or
loss on disposal is recognised.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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5 Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and the transaction costs are
immediately recognised in profit or loss All other financial instruments are measured initially at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs and fees. Financial instruments are recognised (derecognised) on the date the group commits to
purchase (sell) the instruments (trade date accounting).

5.1 Financial assets

Financial assets include financial investments, assets held for trading and for hedging, repurchase agreements, scrip and
collateral assets, components of receivables that are not measured under IFRS 4, cash and cash equivalents and
intercompany balances.

Financial assets

Financial assets are classified based on the business model and nature of cash flows associated with the instrument,

Nature

Amortised cost A debt instrument that meets both of the following conditions (other than those designated at fair
value through profit or loss):
. Held within a business model whose objective is to hold the debt instrument (financial
asset) in order to collect contractual cash flows
. The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. This
assessment includes determining the objective of holding the asset and whether the
contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

Fair value through The group have no equity instruments that have been elected to be measured at fair value through
OClI other comprehensive income.

A debt instrument that meets both the following conditions (other than those designated at fair
value through profit or loss):
. held within a business model in which the debt instrument (financial asset) is managed to
both collect contractual cash flows and sell financial assets; and
. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

This assessment include determining the objective of holding the asset and whether the
contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

Designated at fair Financial assets are designated to be measured at fair value to eliminate or significantly through
value through profit or | profit or loss reduce an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
loss

Fair value through Financial assets that are not classified into one of the above mentioned financial asset categories;
profit or loss (default) | and/ or where the business model is that performance is assessed on a fair value basis.
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5. Financial instruments (continued)
5.1 Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial measurement, financial assets are classified, according to the business model assessment, in their
respective categories and measured at either amortised cost or fair value as follows:

Amortised cost Amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest recognised in interest income, less
(loans receivable) any expected credit impairment losses which are recognised as part of credit impairment charges.

Directly attributable transaction costs and fees received are capitalised and amortised through
interest income as part of the effective interest rate. Interest income is shown as a separate line on
the face of the income statement (combined with interest income on financial assets held at fair
value through OCI).

Fair value through Debt instrument: Fair vaiue, with gains and losses recognised directly in the fair value through OCI
OCl reserve. When a debt financial asset is disposed of, the cumulative fair value adjustments,
previously recognised in OCI, are reclassified to fair value adjustments on financial instruments.

Expected credit impairment losses are recognised as part of impairment charges. However, the
loss allowance shall be recognised in other comprehensive income and shall not reduce the
carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

Interest income on debt financial assets is recognised in interest income in terms of the effective
interest method. Interest income from these assets is shown as a separate line on the face of the
statement of profit or loss (combined with interest from financial assets heid at amortised cost).

Designated at fair Fair value gains and losses (including interest and dividends) on financial assets are recognised in
value through profit | the income statement as part of fair value gains or losses on financial instruments.
or loss

Fair value through Fair value gains and losses on the financial asset are recognised in the income statement as part
profit or loss of fair value gains or losses on financial instruments.
(default)

Impairment

Expected credit losses (ECL) are recognised on debt financial assets classified as at either amortised cost or fair value through
OCl

The measurement basis of the ECL of a financial asset includes assessing whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk (SICR) at the reporting date which includes forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. A significant change in
credit risk (SICR) is when there is a material change in the probability of default, since origination. The measurement basis of
the ECL, which is set out in the table that foliows, is measured as the unbiased and probability-weighted amount that 1s
determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the time value of money and forward-looking information.
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5. Financial instruments (continued)
5.1 Financial assets (continued)

Impairment (continued)

Stage 1 A 12-month ECL is calculated for financial assets which are neither credit-impaired on
origination nor for which there has been a SICR.

Stage 2 Lifetime ECL allowance is calculated for financial assets that are assessed to have
displayed a SICR since origination and are not considered low credit risk.

Stage 3 (credit impaired assets)| A lifetime ECL is calculated for financial assets that are assessed to be credit impaired.
The following criteria are used in determining whether the financial asset is impaired:

. Default: A financial asset is considered to be in default when there is objective
evidence of impairment. Exposures which are overdue for more than 90 days
are also considered to be in default.

. Significant financial difficulty of borrower and/or modification

o Probability of bankruptcy or financial reorganisation

° Disappearance of an active market due to financial difficulties.

ECLs are recognised as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the asset. Therefore financial assets subject to ECLs
are disclosed on a net basis in the statement of financial position. The gross ECL disclosures are disclosed in the note.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Financial assets which are written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities.

i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
. balances with banks;
. highly liquid short-term funds on deposit; and
. cash on hand.

Instruments included in this category are those with an initial term of three months or less from the acquisition date. it does not
include money market securities held for investment. Cash and cash equivalents are classified according to the business
model assessment, at amortised cost. Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash equivalents, the amortised cost
approximates fair value

ii) Prepayments and other receivables

Other receivables includes bid bonds, deposits and prepayments and are measured at amortised cost. The balances at
amortised cost are subject to ECL impairment testing. The group has elected to apply the simplified approach for trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component, contract assets and lease receivables. This means that the
entity assesses lifetime losses on day one and does not have to do the three-stage testing as per the general ECL calcuiation.
Prepayments are not financial instruments as defined.

Reclassification

Reclassifications of financial assets under IFRS 9 are permitted when, and only when, the group changes its business mode!
for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified.

Derecoghnition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or on

trade date when they have been transferred and the group has also transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.
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5. Financial instruments (continued)

6.2 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities include financial liabilities under investment contracts and other payables.
Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL). A financial
liability is classified as FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial
recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense,
are recognised in profit or loss, Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

i) Other payables
Other payables relate to expense accruals. The Group and Company has measured other payables at amortised cost.
ii) Inter-company loans

Based on an assessment of the business model and contractual cash flows under IFRS 9, in the group financial statements,
inter-group loans (being financial instruments) are classified at amortised cost.

Reclassification
A financial liability may not be reclassified.
Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

5.3 Fair value

Fair value is applied as defined in IFRS 13. It is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

For financial instruments, where the fair value of the financial instrument differs from the transaction price, the difference is
commonly referred to as day one profit or loss. Day one profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately where the fair
value of the financial instrument is either evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the
same instrument or is determined using valuation models with only observable market data as inputs. Day one profit or loss is
deferred where the fair value of the financial instrument is not able to be evidenced by comparison with other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or determined using valuation models that utilise non-observable market
data as inputs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, fair value is measured based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations for assets
and liabilities that are traded in active markets and where those quoted prices represent fair value at the measurement date. If
the market for an asset or liability is not active or the instrument is unlisted, the fair value is determined using other applicable
valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, discounted cash flow analyses, net asset
values, pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.

IFRS 13 requires disciosure of fair value measurements by level according to the following fair value hierarchies:

. Level 1 — Values are determined using readily and regularly available quoted prices in an active market for identical
assets or liabilities. These prices would primarily originate from the Nairobi Securities Exchange or an international
stock or bond exchange.

J Level 2 — Values are determined using valuation techniques or models, based on assumptions supported by
observable market prices or rates either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)
prevailing at the financial position date. The valuation techniques or models are periodically reviewed, and the
outputs validated.
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5. Financial instruments (continued)

5.3 Fair value (continued)

d Level 3 — Values are estimated indirectly using valuation techniques or models for which one or more of the
significant inputs are reasonable assumptions (that is unobservable inputs), based on market conditions.

Realised and unrealised gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of these financial assets are recognised in profit
or loss within net fair value gains on financial assets at fair value in the period in which they arise. The fair value of financial
assets with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets is determined by reference to regulated
exchange quoted ruling market prices at the close of business on the last trading day on or before the statement of financial
position date. If quoted market prices are not available, reference is also made to readily and regularly available broker or
dealer price quotations. For units in mutual funds and shares in open-ended investment companies, fair value is determined by
reference to published repurchase prices.

If a market for a financial asset is not active, the group establishes fair value by using various valuation techniques detailed in
the fair value hierarchy note to the annual financial statements. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to the current market value of other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and
option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Where the fair value of financial instruments is determined using discounted cash flow techniques, estimated future cash flows
are based on management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a market-related rate for a similar instrument. Certain
financial instruments are valued using pricing models that consider, among other factors, contractual and market prices,
correlation, time value of money, credit risk, yield curve volatility factors and prepayment rates of the underlying positions. The
use of different pricing models and assumptions could produce materially different estimates of fair values.

Fair value adjustments for unquoted instruments are included in investment gains and losses and are determined as
follows:

Instrument Valuation technique Method of valuation

Fixed and variable rate Discounted cash flow (DCF) Cash flows are projected by using either the
preference shares, bonds and model applicable fixed dividend/coupon, or by
inflation-linked bonds extrapolating the future variable dividend/

coupon using an applicable market implied
curve. These dividends/ coupons are then
valued using a discount curve which allows for
the credit risk of the particular issuer, where the
credit spread is derived from instruments which
display similar credit risk characteristics.

Unlisted equities and debt Fair valued using appropriate
(including unlisted variable rate | valuation techniques such as
preference shares) DCF analysis or recent arm’s

length market transactions in
respect of the equity instrument.

Fixed deposits and negotiable Fair valued by unbundling the The floating rate deposit is valued at face value

certificates of deposit deposit into a floating rate and adjusted where necessary for the probability
deposit and an interest rate of default of the issuer. The interest rate swap is
swap. valued using the appropriate market implied

curve. The sum of these two components is
used as the value of the deposit.

106



The Heritage Insurance Company Kenya Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6 Insurance contracts
In terms of IFRS 4, insurance contracts are measured under existing local practice at the date of adoption of IFRS 4.
6.1 Insurance contract classification

The group issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both.

Insurance A contract under which one party (the insurer) accepts significant insurance risk from another party
contract (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event
(the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder or, in the case of life annuities, the lifespan of
the policyholder is greater than that assumed. Such contracts may also transfer financial risk. The
group defines significant insurance risk as the possibility of having to pay benefits on the occurrence
of an insured event that are significantly more than the benefits payable if the insured event did not
occeur.

Where the value of policyholder contracts is negative or positive in aggregate, this is shown as long-
term policyholder liabilities — insurance contracts and long-term policyholder assets — insurance
contracts.

Insurance contracts where the group accepts significant insurance risk from the policyholder are
classified depending on the duration of or the type of insurance risk, as follows:

° long-term insurance; and

. Level 1 short-term insurance.

Insurance contracts where another insurer (or reinsurer) accepts significant insurance risks from the
group are reinsurance contracts.

Insurance contracts are classified into two main categories, depending on the duration of risk and as per the provisions of the
Insurance Act, which are:

Long-term Long-term insurance business includes insurance business of all or any of the following classes,
insurance namely, life assurance business, superannuation business, industrial life assurance business and
business business incidental to any such class of business.

Life assurance business means the business of, or in relation to, the issuing of or the undertaking of
a liability to pay money on death (not being death by accident or in specified sickness only) or on the
happening of any contingency dependent on the termination or continuance of human life (either
with or without provision for a benefit under two continuous disability insurance contracts) and
include a contract which is subject to the payment of premiums for term dependent on the
termination or continuance of human life and any contract securing the grant of an annuity for a term
dependent upon human life.

Superannuation business means life assurance business, being business of, or in relation to, the
issuing of or the undertaking of liability under superannuation, group life and permanent health
insurance policy

Short-term It is insurance business of any class or classes that is not long-term insurance business. Classes of
insurance short-term (also known as general insurance) include engineering insurance, fire insurance -
business domestic risks, fire insurance - industrial and commercial risks, liability insurance, marine insurance,

motor insurance - private vehicles, motor insurance - commercial vehicles, personal accident
insurance, medical insurance, theft insurance, workmen’s compensation and employer’s liability
insurance and miscellaneous insurance (i.e. class of business not included under those listed
above). Motor insurance business means the business of affecting and carrying out contracts of
insurance against loss of or damage to or arising out of or in connection with the use of motor
vehicles, inclusive of third-party risks but exclusive of transit risks.
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6 Insurance contracts (continued)

6.1 Insurance contract classification (continued)

Personal accident insurance business means the business of affecting and carrying out contracts of
insurance against risks of the persons insured sustaining injury as the result of an accident or of an
accident of a specified class or dying as the result of an accident or of an accident of a specified
class or becoming incapacitated in consequence of disease or of disease of a specified class. It also
includes business of effecting and carrying out contracts of insurance against risk of persons
insured incurring medical expenses

Fire insurance business means the business of affecting and carrying out contracts of insurance,
otherwise than incidental to some other class of insurance business against loss or damage to
property due to fire, explosion, storm and other occurrences customarily included among the risks
insured against in the fire insurance business, damage to property due to fire, explosion, storm and
other occurrences customarily included among the risks insured against in the fire insurance
business

6.1.1 Short-term insurance

Provision for The provision for unearned premiums represents the portion of the current year's premiums that
unearned relates to risk periods extending into the following year. The unearned premiums are calculated
premiums on using the 365ths method, except for those insurance contracts where allowance is made for uneven
short-term exposure.

contracts

Claims The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the

group’s most critical accounting estimate. There are several sources of uncertainty that need to be
considered in the estimate of the liability that the group will ultimately pay for such claims. Estimates
are made at the end of the reporting period for both the expected ultimate cost of claims reported
and for the expected ultimate costs of ¢laims incurred but not reported ('IBNR”). Liabilities for unpaid
reported claims are estimated using the input for assessments of individual cases reported to the
group. At the end of each reporting period, prior year claim estimates are reassessed for adequacy
and changes are made to the provision. Both of these provisions are discounted to present day
which is in line with current accounting standards that indicate that discounting presents a more
market consistent view of financial obligations.

The provision for IBNR is an estimate of claims which are expected to be reported subsequent to the
date of statement of financial position, for which the insured event has occurred prior to this date.
The primary technique adopted by management in estimating this cost is that of using the past
claims reporting and settlement trends to predict future claims for which the group will be liable. A
range of actuarial methods such as the Basic Chain-Ladder, Bornhuetter-Ferguson Method and
Expected Loss Ratio Method are used to determine these provisions. Underlying these methods are
a number of explicit or implicit assumptions relating to the expected settlement amount and
settlement pattern of claims. Given the uncertainty associated with setting these assumptions, it is
standard actuarial practice to also calculate a risk margin that is added to the best estimate IBNR
reserves to allow for this uncertainty and ensure that adequate provisions are held to meet
obligations as they arise. This risk margin requires the application of actuarial judgement in
determining an appropriate level of sufficiency that considers materiality and the potential
shortcomings and nature of the valuation process, as well as the volume, relevance and accuracy of
the historical data available. At present, the risk margin has been determined using a stochastic
reserving process parameterised such that the reserve is expected to be sufficient to meet 75% of
all expected outcomes in the presence of adverse deviation.

Deferred Commissions that vary and are related to securing new contracts and renewing existing contracts
acquisition are deferred over the period in which the related premiums are earned, and recognised as an asset.
costs (DAC) All other costs are recognised as expenses when incurred.
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6 Insurance contracts (continued)
6.1 Insurance contract classification (continued)

6.1.1 Short-term insurance (continued)

Liability Provision is made for underwriting losses that may arise from unexpired risks when it is anticipated
adequacy test that unearned premiums will be insufficient to cover future claims, as well as claims-handling fees
and related administrative costs

Provision for Provision is made on a prudent basis for the estimated final cost of all claims that had not been
reported claims | settled on the accounting date, less amounts already paid. Claims and loss adjustment expenses
and claims are charged to income as incurred based on the estimated liability for compensation owed to

incurred but not | contract holders or third parties damaged by the contract holders.
reported (IBNR)

The group’s own assessors or contracted external assessors individually assess claims. The claims
provisions inciude an estimated portion of the direct expenses of the claims and assessment
charges

Provision is also made for claims arising from insured events that occurred before the close of the
accounting period, but which had not been reported to the group at that date (IBNR claims). This
provision is calculated using the chain ladder run-off triangie technique. These provisions for claims
are discounted for the time value of money due to the expected short duration to seftlement.

6.2 Reinsurance contracts held

The benefits to which the group is entitied under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurance assets. These
assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers, as well as longer term receivables that are dependent on the
expected claims and benefits arising under the related reinsured insurance contracts.

Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsures are measured consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsured
insurance contracts and in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily
premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognised as an expense when due.

6.3 Receivables and payables related fo insurance contracts

Receivables and payables are recognised when due. These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers and insurance
contract holders. Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts are subsequently measured under IFRS 4, whilst
those related to investments contacts are under IFRS 9, The group gathers the objective evidence that a receivable is impaired
using the same process adopted for loans and receivables.

6.4 Salvage and subrogation reimbursements

Some insurance contracts permit the group to sell (usually damaged) property acquired in settling a claim (for example,
salvage). The group may also have the right to pursue third parties for payment of some or all costs (for example, subrogation).
Estimates of salvage recoveries are included as an allowance in the measurement of the insurance liability for claims, and
salvage property is recognised in other assets when the liability is settled. The allowance is the amount that can reasonably be
recovered from the disposal of the property. Subrogation reimbursements are also considered as an allowance in the
measurement of the insurance liability for claims and are recognised in other assets when the liability is settled. The allowance
is the assessment of the amount that can be recovered from the action against the liable third party.
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7 Non Financial Assets

7 Non Financial Assets (continued)

7.1 Leases

The core principal of IFRS 16 Leases is that the lessees and lessor should recognise all rights and obligations arising from
lease arrangements on the statement of financial position. IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases for lessees as either
operating or finance leases and introduces a single lessee accounting model, where a right-of-use (ROU) asset together with a
lease liability for the future payments is recognised for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying
asset is of low value.

IFRS 16 Lessee accounting policies

Type and description Statement of financial position Statement of comprehensive income
Single lessee accounting Lease liabilities: Interest expense on lease liabilities:
model

Initially measured at the present value of the A lease finance cost, determined with

All leases are accounted for by| contractual payments due to the lessor over the | reference to the interest rate implicit in the
recognising a right-of use assel| lease term that are not paid at commencement | lease or the group’s incremental borrowing

and a lease liability except for: | date, with the discount rate determined by rate, is recognised within interest expense
J leases of low reference to the rate implicit in the lease unless | over the lease period.
value assets; and (as is typically the case for the group) this is not
. leases with a duration off readily determinable, in which case an entity
twelve months or less. specific incremental borrowing rate on

commencement of the lease is used. Variable
lease payments are only included in the
measurement of the lease liability if they depend
on an index or rate. in such cases, the initial
measurement of the lease liability assumes the
variable element will remain unchanged
throughout the lease term. Other variable lease
payments are expensed in the period to which
they relate.

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the
lease liability also includes:

. Amounts expected to be payable under any
residual value guarantee;

o The exercise price of any purchase option
granied in favour of the group, should it be
reasonably certain that this option will be
exercised;

o Any penalties payable for terminating the
lease, should the term of the lease be estimated
on the basis of this termination option being
exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, lease
liabilities increase as a result of interest charged
at a constant rate on the balance outstanding
and are reduced for lease payments made.
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7. Non Financial Assets (continued)
7.1 Leases (continued)

IFRS 16 Lessee accounting policies (continued)

Right-of-use assets: Depreciation on right-of-use
assets:
Initially measured at the amount of the lease
liability, reduced for any lease incentives Subsequent to initial measurement,
received, and increased for: the right-of-use assets are
° lease payments made at or before| depreciated on a straight-line basis
commencement of the lease; over the remaining term of the
. initial direct costs incurred; and lease or over the remaining
o the amount of any provision recognised| economic life of the asset should
where the group is this term be shorter than the lease
contractually required to dismantle,|term uniess ownership of the
remove or restore the leased asset. underlying asset transfers to the

group at the end of the lease term,
The group applies the cost model subsequent to | whereby the right-of-use assets are
the initial measurement of the right-of-use depreciated on a straight- line basis
assets. over the remaining economic life of
the asset. This depreciation is
recognised as part of general
marketing and administration
expenses.

Termination of leases: Termination of leases:

When the group or lessor terminates or cancels | On derecognition of the right-of-use
a lease, the right-of-use asset and lease liability | asset and lease liability, any

are derecognised. difference is recognised as a
derecognition gain or loss together
with termination or cancelation
costs in profit or loss.

All leases that meet the criteria as| Accruals for unpaid iease charges, together with | Payments made under these
ither a lease of a low value assel] a straight-line lease asset or liability, being the leases, net of any incentives
Er a short-term lease are| difference between actual payments and the received from the lessor, are
ccounted for on a straight-line| straight-line lease expense are recognised. recognised in operating expenses
basis over the lease term. on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. When these
leases are terminated before the
lease period has expired, any
payment required to be made to
the lessor by way of a penalty is
recognised as operating expenses
in the period in which termination
takes place.

Reassessment and modification|Reassessment of lease terms and lease modifications that are not accounted for as a
of leases separate lease: When the group reassesses the terms of any lease (i.e. it re-assesses
the probability of exercising an extension or termination option) or modifies the terms of
a lease without increasing the scope of the lease or where the increased scope is not
commensurate with the stand-alone price, it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease
liability to reflect the payments to be made over the revised term, which are discounted
at the applicable rate at the date of reassessment or modification. The carrying amount
of lease liability is similarly revised when the variable element of future lease payments
dependent on a rate or index is revised.
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7. Non Financial Assets (continued)
7.1 Leases (continued)

IFRS 16 Lessee accounting policies (continued)

For reassessments to the lease terms, an equivalent adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of- use asset, with the revised carrying amount being
depreciated over the revised lease term. However, if the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset is reduced to zero any further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, is recognised in profit or loss.

For lease modifications that are not accounted for as a separate lease, an equivalent
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, with the revised
carrying amount being depreciated over the revised lease term. However, for lease
modifications that decrease the scope of the lease the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset is decreased to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease, with any
resulting difference being recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease.

Lease modifications that are accounted for as a separate lease:

When the group modifies the terms of a lease resulting in an increase in scope and
the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with a stand-
alone price for the increase in scope, the group accounts for these modification as a
separate new lease. This accounting treatment equally applies to leases which the
group elected the short-term lease exemption and the lease term is subsequently
modified

7.2 Intangible assets
Intangible assets relate to computer software.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (3 - 5 years). Costs associated with developing or
maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred

Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group and
Company, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible
assets. Direct costs include the software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives (not exceeding
three years). Intangible assets comprise capitalised software costs. Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (three to five years) on a straight line basis, Costs associated with
developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly
associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably
generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the
software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Computer software development
costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives.
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7. Non Financial Assets (continued)
7.3 Equipment

The group's equipment provides it with the necessary infrastructure to operate effectively. Equipment principally comprises
computer equipment and fixtures and fittings. The cost of these assets is recognised in the income statement over time as a
depreciation charge. Where purchased software is an integral part of the related hardware, it is accounted for as equipment,
however where that software is not integral to the related hardware, it is accounted for as an intangible asset. Depreciation
periods are detailed in note 1 of the group annual financial statements.

7.4 Impairment of other non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are
subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately when incurred for the amount by which the asset's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units).

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

8 Equity
Equity Equity shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash of other assets to the holder.
hares Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as deduction, net ol

the acquisition of a business reduce the proceeds from the equity issue.

tax from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments as consideration for
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9. Other significant accounting policies

9.1 Employee benefits

Type of benefit Description

Leave pay liability The group recognises a liability for the amount of accumulated leave if the group has a present or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and
the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Incentive scheme Incentive scheme bonuses are short-term bonuses which are recognised as an expense as
incurred when the group has a present or constructive obligation and the amount can be reliably
measured.

Pension The group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme for its employees. A defined

obligations contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group companies pay fixed contributions into a

(defined separate entity. The group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the

contribution plans) | fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods.

The assets of all schemes are held in separate trustee administered funds, which are funded by
contributions from both the group and employees. The group and all its employees also contribute
to the appropriate National Social Security Fund, which is also a defined contribution scheme. The
group’s contributions to the defined contribution schemes are charged to profit or loss in the year to
which they relate.

9.2 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised either when the performance obligation has been satisfied (‘point in time’) or as control of the service is
transferred to the customer (‘over time’). This requires an assessment of the group’s performance obligations and of when
control is transferred to the customer. Where revenue is recognised over time, this is in general due to the group performing
and the customer simultaneously receiving and consuming the benefits over the life of the contract as services are rendered.
For each performance obligation over time, the group applies a revenue recognition method that faithfully depicts the group’s
performance in transferring control of the service to the customer. Due to the nature of the group’s business, the majority of its
revenue from contacts with customers is considered to be recognised ‘over time’. If performance obligations in a contract do
not meet the over time criteria, the group recognises revenue at a point in time. Revenue from administrative agency services
is recognised over time as the services are provided. The amounts to be collected from customers on 31 December are
recognised as trade receivables. Revenue related to transactions is recognised at the point in time when the transaction takes
place

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in contracts with customers, excluding amounts collected on behalf
of third parties and, including an assessment of any variable consideration dependent on the achievement of agreed key
performance indicators. Such amounts are only included based on the expected value or most likely outcome method, and only
to the extent that it is highly probable that no significant revenue reversal will occur. In assessing whether a significant reversal
will occur, the group considers both the likelihood and the magnitude of the potential revenue reversai.

As a result of the contracts which the group enters into with its customers, a number of different assets are recognised on the
group’s statement of financial position. Further details are included in note 5 of the group annual financial statements. Payment
terms and conditions included in customer contracts are typically due in full within 30 days
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9.  Other significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue type

Description

Recognition and measurement

Insurance
premium income
(recognised under
IFRS 4)

Short-term (including health) insurance
premiums

For short-term insurance business, premium
income is recognised on assumption of risks,
and includes estimates of premiums due but not
yet received, less an allowance for cancellations
and less unearned premium.

Unearned premiums represent the proportion of
the premiums written in periods up to the
accounting date that relates to the unexpired
terms of policies in force at the financial
reporting date and is computed using the 365ths
method. Premiums gross of any taxes or duties
levied on premiums.

Accounting for contract modification and
derecognition. An insurance contract is
derecognised when it is:

. extinguished (i.e. when the obligation
specified in the insurance contract expires or is
discharged or cancelled); or

o the contract is modified and certain
additional criteria are met.

Investment
income (for
financial instruments)

Dividends — recognised when the right to receive
payment is established, dividends received are
included in the fair value adjustments for
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

Interest income and expenses for all interest-
bearing financial instruments: For financial
instruments measured at fair value through profit
or loss — recognised within fair value
adjustments under IFRS 9 in profit or loss.

For financial assets held at amortised cost or
classified at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as interest income on
financial assets at amortised cost and financial
assets classified at fair value through other
comprehensive income; using the effective
interest method.
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9.  Other significant accounting policies (continued)

9.2 Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers arises from transactions not associated with financial instruments, insurance
contracts or investment properties.

Reinsurance Commission earned from reinsurers on The Company recognises revenue as and when
commission placement of short-term reinsurance contracts. | it satisfies a performance obligation by
transferring control of a product or service to a
customer. The amount of revenue recognised is
the amount the Company expects to receive in
accordance with the terms of the contract.
Commission Is assessed on the basis of the
actual service provided as a percentage of the
total services to be provided.

9.3 Deferred revenue

Upfront fees received on short-term insurance business and long-term investment contracts are recognised as a prepayment.
These amounts are non-refundable and released to income as the services are rendered over the expected duration of the
contract on a straight-line basis. Refer to note of the group annual financial statements for the details of amounts recognised in
profit or loss.

9.4 Taxation
Income taxation on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred taxation.
9.4.1 Current taxation

Current taxation is the expected taxation payable, using taxation rates enacted at the reporting date, including any prior year
under or overprovisions.

The group is subject to taxation in a number of jurisdictions. There may be transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination has an element of uncertainty during the ordinary course of business. The group recognises liabilities based
on objective estimates of the quantum of taxes that may be due. Where the final tax determination is different from amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

9.4.2 Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full using the liability method. Provision is made for deferred taxation attributable to temporary
differences in the accounting and taxation treatment of items in the financial statements. A deferred taxation liability is
recognised for all temporary differences, at enacted or substantially enacted rates of taxation at the statement of financial
position date, except for differences:
4 Relating to goodwil;
. Arising from initial recognition of assets or liabilities which affect neither accounting nor taxable profits or losses; and
J Relating to investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements (excluding mutual funds) where the group controls
the timing of the reversal of temporary differences and it is probable that these differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

In respect of temporary differences arising on fair value adjustments on investment properties, deferred taxation is provided at
the use rate if the property is considered to be a long-term strategic investment or at the capital gains effective rate if recovery
is anticipated to be mainly through disposal.

A deferred taxation asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused taxation losses, unused taxation credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which they can be
utilised
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9.  Other significant accounting policies (continued)

9.4.2 Deferred taxation (continued)

Deferred taxation assets are assessed for probable recoverability based on applicable estimated future business performance
and related taxable projected income.

The major categories of assets and liabilities giving rise to a deferred taxation balance are investment properties revaluation
surpluses, policyholder valuation basis, life fund special transfers, deferred acquisition costs, deferred revenue, unrealised
gains on investments, intangible assets and provisions

9.5 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount, as a
result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are discounted using a pre-tax

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to
the liability.

9.6 Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when:
. there is a current legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
. there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the group or the counterparty.
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